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NEW ISSUE: FULL BOOK-ENTRY See·"RATINGS" herein 

Subject to compliance with certain covenants, in the opinion of Chapman and Cutler LLP, and Emile Banks &Associates, UC. Co-Bond Counsel, 
under present law, interest on the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) is excludible from gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax 
purposes, and is not included as an item of tax preference in computing the federal alternative minimum tax for individuals and corporations, .but 
such interest is taken into account, however, in computing an adjustment used in detennining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain 
corporations. The interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Wzsconsin income or franchise taxes. See "TAX EXEMPTION" and "ForT!IS . 
of Legal Opinions" herein for a more complete discussion. The Bonds will not be designated as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" under Section 
265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of I986, as amended · 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT · 

$26,935,000 
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

GENERAL OBLIGATION CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS, SERIES 2013A 

Interest Accrual Date: Date ofDeiivery Delivery: On or about August 14,2013 

The $26,935,000 General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2013A (the "Bonds"), are being issued by Milwaukee 
County, Wisconsin (the "County") pursuant to Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The Bonds are being issued to provide 
fmancing for certain capital projects as described in "DESCRIPTION OF BONDS- Authorization and Purpose" herein. 

The Bonds will be general obligations of the County for which its full faith and credit and unlimited taxing powers are pledged. 
The Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds without coupons and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & 
Co., as noiD:ffiee of The Depository Trust Company (''DTC"). DTC or a successor depository will act as securities depository 
of the Bonds (the ''Depository"). Individual purchases may be made in book-entry form only, in the prj.ncipal amount of 
$5,000 and integral multiples thereof. . Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Bonds 
purchased. See "BOOK-ENTRY~ONLY SYSTEM'' herein. 

' Principal, payable on each September I as set forth below, and interest on tlie Bonds, payable semiannually on each March I 
and September 1, commencing on March 1, 2014, will be paid to the Depository, which will in turn remit such principal and 
interest to its participants for subsequent disbursement to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See ''BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY 
SYSTEM'' herein. 

MaturitY Principal 

(September 1) Amount Rate Yield CUSIP 

2014 $ 1,840,000 2.00% 0.50% 602245Z¥7 

2015 2,790,000 2.00% 0.60% 602245ZN5 

2016 2,790,000 2.00% 0.90% 602245ZPO 

2017 2,790,000 2.00% 1.25% 602245ZQ8 

2018 2,790,000 . 3.00% 1.60% 602245ZR6 
' 2019 2,790,000 3.00% 1.90% 602245ZS4 

2020 2,790,000 3.00% 2.30% 602245ZT2 

2021 2,790,000 3.00% 2.65% 60224SZU9 

2022 -2,790,000 3.00% 2.90% 602245ZV7 

2023 2,775,000 3.00% 3.10% 602245ZW5 

The County Treasurer will act as Paying Agent and Registrar for the Bonds. The Bonds are subject to optional redemption 
prior to maturity as described herein. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS - Optional Redemption" herein. 

The date of this Official Statement is July 24, 2013. 

THIS COVER PAGE IS NOT INTENDED TO BE A SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF, OR THE SECURITY FOR, THE BONDS. 
INVESTORS ARE ADVISED TO READ THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO 
THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION. . 
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INTRODUCTION TO OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The following information is furnished solely to provide limited introducfory information regarding the County's 
$26,9 35,000 General Obligation. Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2013A (the "Bonds'), and does not purport to 
be comprehensive. All such information is qualified in its entirety by reference to the more detailed descriptions 
appearing in this Official Statement, including the appendices her~to. · 

Issuer: 

Dated: 

Delivery: 

Security: 

Purpose and Authority: 

Optional Redemption: 

Principal Payments: 

Interest Payments: 

Tax Exemption: 

Not Bank Qualified: 

Professional Consultants: 

Paying Agent/Registrar: 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

'Date of Delivery. 

Delivery of the Bonds is expected on or about August 14,2013. 

The Bonds are general obligations of the County for which the County pledges its 
full faith and credit and power to levy direct general ad valorem taxes, which taxes 
may, under current law, be levied without limit as to rate or amount. A direct 
irrepealable tax has been levied upon all taxable property in the County. (See 
"DESCRIPTION OF TH;E BONDS -Security Provisions" herein.) 

Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to provide financing for certain capital projects 
as described herein, and to pay the cost of issuing the Bonds, pursuant to the laws 
of the State ·of Wisconsin including Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes and 
resolutions adopted by the County Board. 

The Bonds maturing on September 1, 2022 and thereafter are subject to prior 
redemption at the option of the County. (See "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 
-Optional Redemption" herein.) · 

Annually, September 1, 2014 through 2023. 

On each March 1 and September 1, commencing on March 1, 2014. 

In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel as more fully described herein, interest on the 
Bonds is excludible from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not 
an item of tax preference in computing the federal alternative minimum tax for 
individuals and corporations, but such interest is taken into account in computing 
an adjustment used in determining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain 

· corporations. See "TAX EXEMPTION" herein. Interest on the Bonds is not 
exempt from Wisconsin income or franchise taxes. 

The Bonds will not be designated as "qualified tax-exempt obligations." 

Co-Financial Advisors: 

Co-Bond Counsel: 

Public Financial Management, Inc. 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

and 
Peralta Garcia Solutions, LLC 
Chicago, lllinois 

Chapman and Cutler LLP. 
Chicago, lllinois 

and 
Emile Banks & Associates, LLC 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Milwaukee County Treasurer's Office. 



Record Date: 

Legal Matters: 

Conditions Affecting 
Issuance of Bonds: 

Book-Entry-Only: 

No Litigation: 

Limitations on Offering or 
Reofferiog Securities: 

The 15th day of the month preceding each payment date. 

Legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds are subject to 
the opinions of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Chicago, illinois, and Emile Banks & 
Associates, LLC, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Co-Bond Counsel, as to validity and 
federal tax exemption. The opinions will be substantially in the form set forth in 
Appendix B attache~ hereto. Neither Co-Bond Counsel bas participated in the 
preparation of Official Statement, except for information under the beadings 
"DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS" and "TAX EXEMPTION". 

The Bonds are offered subject to receipt of the unqualified approving legal 
opinions of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Chicago, lllinois, and Emile Banks & 
Associates, LLC, Milwaukee, Wisconsin: Co-Bond Counsel to the County. · 

The Bonds will be issued as book-entry-only securities through The Depository 
Trust Company. 

There is currently no litigation pending or, to the best of certain County officials' 
knowledge, threatened, which questions the validity of the Bonds or of any 
proceedings of the County taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof 

No dealer, broker, sales representative or other person has been authorized by the 
County or the Co-Financial Advisors to give any information or to make any 
representations other than those contained in the Official Statement and, if given 
or made, such information and representations must not be relied upon as having 
been authorized by the County or the Co-Financial Advisors. The Official 
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy, nor 
shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person, in any jurisdiction in which it 
is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. 

Questions regarding the Bonds or the Official Statement can be directed to Pamela Bryant, Capital Finance 
Manager, Milwaukee County Comptroller's Office, 901 North Ninth Street, Room 301, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
53233, (414/278-4396). 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 

Authorizations and Purpose 

The Milwaukee County Board of Supervisors (the "County Board") adopted a resolution (the "Resolution") on 
February 7, 2013, authorizing the issuance of general obligation corporate purpose bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$36,100,000 for public purposes. 

The Resolution authorized $4,976,617 for the construction of highways and highway improvements; and . 
$31,123,383 for the acquisition, construction, improvement, extension and equipping of general capital projects in 
the County. The Bonds will fund a portion of above referenced projects. 

Sources and Uses 

Security Provisions 

Estimated Sources: . 
Par Amount of the Bonds 
Net Original Issue Premium 

Total Sources of Funds 

Estimated Uses: 
Project Fund 
Debt Service Fund for the Bonds 
Costs of Issuance (Estimated) 

Total Uses of Funds · 

$ 26,935,000 
838,285 

$27,773,285 

$ 26,624,452 
697,798 
451,035 

$ 27,773,285 

The Bonds are general obligations of the County for which the County pledges its full faith and credit and power to 
levy direct general ad valorem taxes, which taxes may, under current law, be levied without limit as to rate or 
amount. A direct annual irrepealable tax has been levied upon all taxable property in the County sufficient to pay 
the principal of and interest on the Bonds. 

Optional Redemption 

The Bonds maturing on September 1, 2022 and thereafter are subject to prior redemption at the option of the County 
on September 1, 2021 and any date thereafter at a price of par plus accrued interest. 

Notice of Redemption 

At least thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for any such redemption, notice of such redemption shall be given to 
the Registered Owners of the Bonds or portions thereof being called for redemption by depositing such notice in the 
United States mail, first-class, postage prepaid, addressed to each such Registered Owner at its address shown on the 
registration books of the Paying Agent/Registrar, or by other customary means. So long as DTC is the Depository 
for the Bonds, such notice shall be given only to DTC. The failure to send, mail or receive any notice of redemption 
shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the proceedings for the redemption of any Bond.. By the date fixed 
for -any such redemption, due provision shall be made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the 
prepayment price for the Bonds or the portions thereof which are· to be so redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date 
fixed for redemption. If a portion of any Bond shall be redeemed, a substitute Bond having the same maturity date, 
bearing interest at the same rate, and in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unprepaid portion thereof, will be 
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issued to the Registered Owner upon the surrender of the Bond being redeemed, all as provided for in the 
Resolution. Such notice of redemption may be conditional, as provided in the Resolution. 

Registration, Transfer and Exchange 

The County has initially designated the County's Treasurer to serve as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds. The 
County may, at any time, at its option replace the County's Treasurer as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds with 
a bank, trust c?mpany or national banking association designated by the County to serve as Paying Agent/Registrar. 

The Bonds will be initially registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. DTC or a successor 
securities depository will act as the Depository for the Bonds. Individual purchases may be made in b<?ok-entry­
only foqn, in the principal amount of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. Purchasers will not receive certificates 
representing their interest in the Bonds purchased. See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein. 

BOOK-ENTRY -ONLY SYSTEM 

The information contained in the following paragraphs of this subsection "Book-Entry-Only System" has been 
extracted from a document prepared by DTC entitled "SAMPLE OFFERING DOCUMENT LANGUAGE 
DESCRIBING DTC AND BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE. " The County makes no representation as to the 
completeness or the accuracy of such information or as to the absence of material adverse changes in such 
information subsequent to the date hereof 

DTC, New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully­
registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as may 
'l:ie requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered certificate will be issued for each 
matwity o~ the Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, and will be deposited with DTC. · 

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking 
Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve 
System, a "clea,ring corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing 
agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17 A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds 
and provides· asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal 
debt issues, and money market instruments (from over I 00 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") 
deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 
securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges 
between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. 
Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. ~ecurities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Tru~t & 
Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation 
and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTC is owned by the users of 
.its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a 
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has 
Standard & Poor's Ratings Services' rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and 
www .dtc.org. 

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a 
credit for the Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond ("Beneficial 
Owner") is in tum to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not 
receive written confrrmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive 
written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the 
Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of 
ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect 
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Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing 
their ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is 
discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of 
DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may ·be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee 
do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 
Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such·Bonds are credited, 
which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for 
keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by 
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to theQl of ·notices of 
significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and amendments to the Bond 
documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may ~ish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds 
for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial 
Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Paying Agent/Registrar and request that copies of 
notices be provided directly to them. 

Prepayment notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all the Bonds within an issue are being prepaid, DTC's 
practice is to. determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participan~ in such issue to be prepaid. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds unless 
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an 
Omnibus Proxy to the County as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s 
consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Bonds are credited on the record date 
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct 
Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the County or the 
Paying Agent/Registrar, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. 
Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be .govemed by standing instructions and customary practices, 
as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and 
will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar, or the County, subject to 

· any statutory <?r regulatory. requirements as may be .in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, 
distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
repre_sentative of DTC) is the responsibility of the County or the Paying Agent/Registrar; disbursement of such 
payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC; and disbursement of such payments to the 
Beneficial Owrters will ·be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the BondS at any time by glVlng 
reasonable notice to the County or the Paying Agent/Registrar. Under such circumstances, in the event that a 
successor depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered .. 

The County may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry trcinsfers through DTC (or a successor 
securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates :will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that 
· the County believes to be reliable, but neither the County nor the Underwriter takes responsibility for the accuracy. 
~~ . 
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RATINGS 

Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poor's, and Fitch Ratings, respectively, have assigned the ratings of"Aa2 I 
AA I AA+" to the Bonds. A rating reflects only the view of the rating agency, from whom an explanation of the . 
significance of such rating may be obtai.Ded. The County is not obligated to maintain the current ratings on the 
Bonds, and there is no assurance that ratings will continue for any given period of time or that they will not be 
revised downward or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the rating agency, circumstances so warrant. Any 
such downward revision or withdrawal of a rating could have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. 
The County and the Co-Financial Advisors undertake no responsibility to oppose any revision or withdrawal of such 
ratings. 

UNDERWRITING 

Bids for the Bonds were received at a competitive public sale on July 24, 2013. 

Robert W. Ba.ird & Co., Inc. bas agreed, subject to the conditions of closing set forth in the Official Tenns of 
Offering for the Bonds, to purchase the Bonds at a purchase price of $27,473,700.00 (consisting of the par amount 
of the Bonds, plus a net original issue premium of$838,285.45, less an underwriter's discount of$299,585.45), plus 
accrued interest. 

The Bonds will be offered at the respective initial public offering prices which produce the yields shown on the 
cover page of this Official Statement After the Bonds are released for sale to the public, the initial public offering 
prices and other selling terms may from time to time be varied by the underwriter. 

CO-FINANCIAL ADVISORS 

The County bas retained Public Financial Management, Inc., Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and Peralta Garcia Solutions, 
LLC, Chicago, Illinois, as Co-Financial Advisors (the "Co-Financial Advisors") with respect to the issuance of the 
Bonds. The Co-Financial Advisors have relied upon governmental officials and other sources to provide assistance 
to the County. The Co-Financial Advisors have reviewed this Official Statement but have not be~n engaged, nor 
have they undertaken, to independently verify the accuracy of such information. The Co-Financial Advisors are not 
public accounting firms and have not been engaged by the County to compile, review, examine or audit any 
information in this Official Statement in accordance with accounting standards. The Co-Financial Advisors will not 
participate in the underwriting of the Bonds. 

Requests for information concerning the County may be addressed to Public Financial Management, Inc., 115 South 
84th Street, Suite 315, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53214, (414/771-2700). 

LITIGATION 

As certified by certain authorized officials of the County, there is no litigation of any nature, either pending or, to the 
best of such officials' knowledge, threatened, which would affect the issuance and delivery of the Bonds or the levy 
and collection of taxes to pay the principal and interest thereon, and neither the corporate existence nor the 
boundaries of the County nor the title of its present or former officers to their respective offices is being contested. 

There are lawsuits pending before the Federal District Court, the Seventh Circuit Court," the federal court of appeals 
and state courts of Wisconsin involving the County, as a body corporate, or naming officers of the County as 
defendants. Based upon past experience, the Milwaukee County Corporation Counsel does not believe that such 
litigation will be determined so as to result individually or in the aggregate in a final judgment against the County, 
which would materially affect the County's financial position; however, as with all litigation, it is difficult to predict 
exposure to liability until a case is prepared for trial. · 
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CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS 

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds are subject to the approving legal 
opinions of Chapman and Cutler LLP, Chicago, Illinois, and Emile Banks & Associates, LLC, Milwaukee, 
Wisconsin, Co-Bond Counsel (the "Co-Bond Counsel"), who have been retained by, and act as, Co-Bond Counsel to 
the County. Co-Bond Counsel have not been retained or consulted on disclosure matters, and have not undertaken 
to review or verify the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of this Official Statement, except for guidance. 
concerning "DESCRlPTION OF THE BONDS" and "TAX MATTERS", or other offering material relating to the 
Bonds, and assume no responsibility for the statements or information contained in or incorporated by reference in 
this Official Statement. 

TAX EXEMPTION 

Federal tax 111-w contains a number of requirements and restrictions which apply to the Bonds, including investment 
restrictions, periodic payments of arbitrage profits to the United States of America, requirements regarding the 
proper use of bond proceeds and the facilities financed therewith, and certain other matters. The County has 
covenanted to · comply with all requirements that must be satisfied in order for the interest on the Bonds to be 
excludible from gross income of the owners thereof for federaJ income tax purposes. Failure to comply with certain 
of such covenants could cause the interest on the Bonds to become includible in gross income for federal income tax . 
purposes ~etroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. 

Subject to the compliance by the County with the above-referenced covenants, under present law, in the opinion of 
Co-Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is excludible from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal 
income tax purposes, and is not included as an item of tax preference in computing the federal alternative minimum 
tax for individuals and corporations, but the interest on the Bonds is taken into account, however, in computing an 
adjustment in determining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain corporations as described below. 

In rendering their opinions, Co-Bond Counsel will rely upon certifications of the County with respect to certain 
material facts within the knowledge of the County. · The opinions of 9o-Bond Counsel represent their. respective 
legal judgment based upon their respective reviews of the law and the facts that they each deem relevant to render 
such opinions, and ate not a guarantee of result. 

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), includes provisions for an alternative minimum tax 
("AMT') for corporations· in addition to the corporate regular tax in certain cases. The AMT for a corporation, if 
any, depends upon the alternative Ininimum taxable income of the corporation ("AMTI"), which is the taxable 
income of the corporation with certain adjustments. One of the adjustment items using AMTI of a corporation (with 
certain exceptions) is an amount equal to 75% of the excess of the "adjusted current earnings" of the corporation 
over an amount equal to its AMTI (before such adjustment item and the altematiye tax net operating loss deduction). 
"Adjusted current earnings" would generally include certain tax-exempt interest, including interest on the Bonds. 

Ownership of the Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, 
without limitation, corporations subject to the branch profits tax, financial institutions, certain insurance companies, 
certain S corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits and taxpayers who 
may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations. 

· Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the applicability of any such collateral 
consequences. 

The issue price (the "Issue ·Price") for each maturity of the Bonds is the price at which a substantial amount of such 
maturity of the Bonds is first sold to the public. The Issue Price of a maturity of the Bonds may be different from 
the price set forth, or the price corresponding to the yield set forth, on the cover page of this Official Statement. 

If the Issue Price of a maturity of the Bonds is less than the principal amount payable at maturity, the difference 
between the Issue Price of each such maturity, if any, of the Bonds (the "OlD Bonds") and the principal amount 
payable at maturity is original issue discount. 
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For an investor who purchases an OlD Bond in the initial public offering at the lssue Price for such maturity, and 
who holds such OlD Bond to its stated maturity, subject to the condition that the County complies with the 
covenants discussed above, (a) the full amount of original issue discount with respect to such OlD Bond constitutes 
interest which is excludible from the gross income of the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes; (b) such 
owner will not realize taxable capital gain or market discount upon payment of such OlD Bond at its stated maturity; 
(c) such original issue discount is not included as an item of tax preference in computing the alternative minimum 
tax for individuals and corporations under the Code; and (d) the accretion of original issue discount in each year may 
result in an alternative minimum tax liability for corporations or certain other collateral federal income tax 
consequences in each year even though a corresponding cash payment may not be received until a later year. 
Owners of OlD Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of 
original issue discount on such OlD Bonds. 

Owners of Bonds who dispose of Bonds prior to the stated maturity (whether by sale, redemption or otherwise), 
purchase Bonds in the initial public offering, but at a price different from the Issue Price, or purchase Bonds 
subsequent to the initial public offering should consult their own tax advisors. 

If a Bond is purchased at any time for a price that is less than the stated redemption price of such Bond at maturity 
or, in the case of an OlD Bond, its Issue Price plus accreted original issue discount (the "Revised Issue Price"), the 
purchaser will be treated as having purchased a Bond with market discount subject to the market discount rules of 
the Code (unless a statutory de minimis rule applies). Accrued market discount is treated as taxable ordinary 
income, and is recognized when a Bond is disposed of (to the extent such accrued discount does not exceed gain 
realized) or, at the election of the pur<:haser, as it accrues. Such treatment would apply to any purchaser who 
purchases an OlD Bond for a price that is less than its Revised Issue Price. The applicability of the market discount 
rules may adversely affect the liquidity or secondary market price of such Bond. Purchasers should consult their 
own ~ advisors regarding the potential implications of market discount with respect to the Bonds. . 

An investor may purchase a Bond at a price in excess of its stated principal amount. Such excess is characterized 
for federal income tax purposes as "bond premium," and must be amortized by an investor on a constant yield basis 
over the remairiiri.g term of the Bond in a manner that takes into account potential call dates and call prices. An 
investor cannot deduct amortized bond premium relating to a tax-exempt obligation. The amortized bond premium 
is treated as a reduction in the tax-exempt interest received. As bond premium is amortized, it reduces the basis of 
the investor in the Bond. Investors who purchase a Bond at a premium should consult their own tax advisors 
regarding the amortization of bond premium and its effect on the basis of the Bond for purposes of computing gain 
or loss in connection with the sale, exchange, redemption or early retirement of the Bond. 

There are or may be pending in the Congress of the United States of America legislative proposals, illcluding some 
that carry retroactive effective dates, that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal tax matters referred to above 
or adversely affect the market" value of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any such proposal 
might be enacted or whether, if enacted, it would apply to obligations issued prior to enactment. Prospective 
purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal tax 
legislation. Co-Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any pending or proposed federal tax legislation. 

The Internal Revenue Service (the "Service") has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations to 
determine whether, in the view of the Service, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is includible in the gross 
income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. It cannot be predicted whether or not the Service will 
commence an audit of the Bonds. If an audit is commenced, under current procedures the Service may treat the 
County as a taxpayer, and the owners of the Bonds may have no right to participate in such procedure. The 
commencement of an audit could adversely affect the market value and liquidity of the· Bonds until the audit is 
concluded, regardless of the ultimate outcome. 

Payments of interest on, and proceeds of the sale, redemption or maturity of, tax-exempt obligations, including the _ 
Bonds, are in certain cases required to be reported to the Service. Additionally, backup withholding may apply to 
any such payments to any owner of a Bond who fails to provide an accurate Form W-9 Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification, or a substantially identical form, or to any owner of a Bond who is notified 
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by ·the Service of a failure to report any interest or dividends required to be shown on federal income tax returns. 
The reporting and backup withholding requirements do not affect the excludability of such interest from gross 
income for federal tax pwposes. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

In order to assist the Underwriter in complying with SEC Rule 15c2:.12 (the "Rule") promulgated by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as authorized by the 
Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds, the County will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the 
"Continuing Disclosure Certificate") for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds to provide certain financial 
information and operating data relating to the County to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access system ("EMMA"), and to provide notices to EMMA of the occurrence of 
certain events enumerated in the Rule. The terms and conditions of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, as well as 
the information to be contained in the annual report or the notices of material events, are set forth in the Continuing 
Disclosure Certificate to be executed and delivered by the County at the time the Bonds are delivered. The 
Continuing Disclosure C~rtificate will be in substantially the form attached hereto as Appendix C. · 

During the past five years, the County has failed to file its annual financial information as required in accordance 
with the Ru1e. Specifically,. under previously executed continuing disclosure certificates, the County was obligated 
to file annual reports containing fmancial information and operating data no later than 270 days after the end of each 
fiscal year, as well as notices of certain events. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010, not all of 
the required information was filed within the 270-day period and no such notice of any such failure to file on time 
was posted. Financial and Operating information was subsequently filed by the County on December 15, 2009 
(2008 information), December 4, 2012 (2009 information), December 12, 2011 (20 10 information), and January 4, 
2013 (Five-Year Capital Improvement Program Data for 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, which data has not been 
required to be disclosed on an annual basis after 2008). 

A failure by the County to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Certificate will not constitute an event of default 
on the Bonds or under the Resolution (although owners of the Bonds will have the right to obtain specific 
performance under the Continuing Disclosure Certificate). Nevertheless, such a failure must be reported in 
accordance with the Ru1e. 

In recognition of the importance of complying with its obligations under its continuing disclosure certificates, the 
County implemented procedures in early 2013 to help insure future compliance. The County has strengthened its 
internal controls by placing debt issuance and the associated disclosure requirements under the direct supervision of 
the Office of the Comptroller. 

CERTIFICATION 

As of the date of the settlement of the Bonds, the Underwriter will be furnished with a certificate signed. by the 
Comptroller or his designee. The certificate wiU state that, as of the date of the Official Statement, the Official 
Statement did not and does not, as of the date of the certificate, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit 
to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under 

· which they were made, not misleading. 
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COUNTY GOVERNMENT 

General 

The County is located in southeastern Wi$consin on the Lake Michigan shoreline. The County covers an area of 
approximately 242 square miles and consists of ten cities and nine villages. The City of Milwaukee, which is the 
County seat, contains approximately 63.0 percent of the County's population and 48 percent of its taxable property 
value. The County serves as the population, economic and financial center of the state. 

' 

The County was first incorporated in 1835 by the Michigan Territorial Government. In 1837, territory was removed 
by the Wisconsin Territorial Legislature. Nin~ years later, territory was removed again, and the County attained its 
present size. 

Government and Administration 

The County is governed by a County Executive and an 18-member County Board of Supervisors. The County 
Executive· and the County Board are elected on a nonpartisan basis to four-year terms. Each supervisor is elected 
from a district with an average population of approximately 52,000. In addition, six constitutional and two statutory 
officers are elected on a partisan basis to serve four-year terms as shown below. 

Countv Officials 
(Year sworn into office follows name) 

· County Executive: 
County Clerk: 
Register of Deeds: 
Treasurer: 
ClerkofCircuit Court: 
Sheriff: 
District Attorney: 
County Comptroller: 

Board of Supervisors 

Chris Abele (2011) 
Joseph J. Cza771ezki (2009) 
John LaFave (2003) 
Dan Diliberti (2005) 
John Barrett (1999) 
David A. Clarke, Jr. (2002) 
John T. Chisholm (2007) 
Scott Manske (2012) 

Marina Dimitrijevic - Chairwoman (2004) 
Peggy West- 1st Vice Chairperson (2004) 

Steve Taylor- 2nd Vice Chairperson (2012) 

Deanna Alexander (2012) 
Mark A. Borkowski (1992) 
David Bowen (2012) 
Gerry P. Broderick (2002) 
David Cullen (2012) 
Jason Haas (2011) 
Willie Johnson, Jr. (2000) 
Patricia Jursik (2007) 

Wiscomilz 2013 Act 14 

Theodore A. Lipscomb (2008) 
Michael Mayo, Sr. (1994) 
Khalif Rainey (2013) 
James J. Schmitt (1998) 
Russell W. Stamper li (20 12) 
Anthony Staskunas (20 13) 
John F. Weishan, Jr. (2000) 

On June 2, 2013, Wisconsin Act 14 ("Act 14") relating to the County became effective. Act 14, among other things, 
changes the compensation structure of a member (a "Supervisor") of the County Board of Supervisors of the County 
(the "Board"), changes the length of the term of a Supervisor from four years to two years, affects the right of an 
annuitant under the Milwaukee County Employee's Retirement System if rehired by the County, limits the authority 
of the County to enter into certain intergovernment agreements, revises the approval process for public contracts, 
removes and clarifies some authority of the Board, increases and clarifies the authority of the County Executive of 
the County, and requires a referendum regarding the compensation of the Supervisors. 
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County Executive's Office 

The County was the first county in the state of Wisconsin to establish an executive branch. The following five 
cabinet officers are appointed by the County Executive to assist in carrying out these executive functions: 

• Director - Department of Administrative Ser-Vices 
• Director- Department of Health and Human Services 
• Director- Department of Administrative Services - Human Resources 
• Director - Department of Parks, Recreation and Culture 
• Director- Department ofTransportation and Public Works 

In addition, the County Executive appoints and manages heads of the following departments: 

• Zoological Gardens • Labor Relations 

• Department on Aging • Child Support 
• Veterans Service Office • Corporation Counsel 

• Medical Examiner • Office for Pers?ns with Disabilities 

Functions of the County Executive's office include: coordination and direction of administrative and management 
functions of the County government not otherwise vested by law in boards, commissions or other elected officers; 
appointment of department heads, except where statute provides otherwise, and members of boards and 
commissions, subject to confirmation by the County· Board; preparation and submission of an annual County budget 
to the County Board; submission annually, and otherwise if necessary, of a message to the County Board setting 
forth the condition of the County and recommending changes and improvements in County programs and services; 
and review for approval or veto of all resolutions and ordinances enacted by .the County Board. 

Legislative 

The County Board determines County policy and directs the activities of County government by the adoption of 
ordinances and resolutions, under authority vested in it by the Wisconsin Statutes. At its annual meeting in 
November of each year, the County Board adopts the next calendar year's budget. It meets on a monthly basis to 
transact official business, and its committees meet regularly during the monthly cycles to hold hearings, gather 
information and take testimony preparatory to making recommendations to the full County Board. 

The Chairperson of the County Board is elected by the members of the County Board following their election every 
four years and is responsible for presiding at County Board meetings; ruling on procedural matters; representing the 
County Board at official functions; and making appointments to County Board committees, special subcommittees, 
boards and commissions. · 

The standing committees of the County Board meet periodically and make recommendations to the County Board, 
which formally approves, modifies or disapproves those recommendations. Standing committees include: 

• Finance, Personnel and Audit • Transportation, Public W orlcs and Transit 
• Health and Human Needs • Economic and Community Development 
• Intergovernmental Relations • Judicia£¥, Safety and General Services 
• Parks, Energy and Environment • Committee of the Whole 

Financial Management . 

Budgeting. The County has an executive budget process for the preparation of the annual operating and capital 
budgets. The Fiscal Affairs Division of the Department of Administrative Services provides the technical ~sistance 
required by the County Executive to review budget requests submitted by County departments ~~ agencies. The 
Fiscal Affairs Division compiles these requests, along with principal and interest requirements, capital 
~provements, contingency requirements and the required tax levy. It reviews areas where changes may be 
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considered and transmits its fmdillgs to the County Executive. The County Executive holds public hearings with 
respect to the requests, meets with departments and submits a recommended budget to the County Board on or 
before October 1st of each year. Subsequent to the receipt of the budget from the County Executive, the County 
Board's Committee on Finance, Personnel and Audit reviews the County Executive's budget at public meetings. On 
the Monday following its regularly scheduled meeting on the first Thursday in November, the County Board acts on 
the amendments and recommendations submitted by the Committee on Finance, Personnel 'and Audit, as well as 
amendments submitted by individual supervisors. The County Board adopts a final budget, subject to any vetoes by 
the County Executive, and levies taxes based upon equalized property values. 

Section 59.60(3m) of the Wisconsin Statutes specifies that all County accounting .and budgeting procedures shall 
comply with generally accepted accounting principles. A summary of the County's budgets for 2012 and 2013 is 
presented on page 4 7 of this Official Statement. 

Accounting Policies and Budgetary Control. The Comptroller's Office monitors the accounting policies and 
procedures followed by County departments. The County's accounting records for governmental and agency funds 
are maintained on a. modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when 
measurable and available; expenditures are recorded when the goods or services are received and the liabilities are 
mcurred. The County's accounting records for proprietary funds and the pension trust funds of the County are 
maintained on an accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when the services are 
performed; expenditures are recorded when the goods or services are received and the lia~ilities are incurred. For a 
further discussion of accounting policies in the County, see the "The County's Annual Financial Statements" 
contained in Appendix A. ' 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the County for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
("CAFR") for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. The Certificate of Achievement recognizes conformance 
with the highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports. In order to be a~arded a 
Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR, 
with contents conforming to program standards. The CAFR must satisfy both generally accepted accounting 
principles and applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. 
The County has received a Certificate of Achievement for 32 consecutive years (December 31, 1979 through 
December 31, 2011 ). 

Budgetary control is maintained by a formal appropriation and encumbrance/expenditure system. Encumbrances are 
made against appropriations upon the release of a purchase order to a vendor. Expenses are incurred upon the 
receipt of goods or services, and the matching to invoices and purchase orders. This expenditure matching will 
reduce open encumbrances, related to the purchase order being paid. The expenditures and remaining open 
encumbrances will reduce the available appropriation. If new encumbrances ·or expenses would reduce the net 
appropriation balance below the authorized limits, than purchases are halted until additional appropriation authority 
is granted. As authorized by State Statute, open encumbered purchase orders are carried forward at the end of the 
year by means of encumbrance reserves. These reserves are restored to departmental appropriation accounts in the 
following year, thus allowing departments to complete the purchase transaction, using prior year funded 
appropriations. ·Purchases for the new year would be enq.unbered against new budgeted appropriations. 
Expenditures are then recorded when the services or materials are received, which will release the encumbrance. A 
summary of the operating results for the general fund and all proprietary funds for the years 2007-2011 is presented 
on pages 45 and 46 of this Official Statement. The excerpts from the County's 2011 financial statements are 
included as Appendix A. The County realized a surplus of $5,538,786 for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 
2011. The CAFR for the year ended December 31, 2012 was not available at the time of publication of this Official 
Statement; however, it is projected that the County will end the year with a $23 million surplus of which $5 million 
will be applied to the 2014 Budget, in accordance with State Statute. As is required by State Statute, the County 
must apply any surplus or deficit (inclusive of revenues and expenditures and application of fund balance) from the 
year to the subsequent budget year. 

Future Fiscal Outlook. In 2009, a workgroup made up of administrative, departmental and County Board staff, 
along with external experts, developed a consensus-based five-year forecasti?g model to b~tter understand the 
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structural deficit facing the County. That initial forecast projected a 2009 deficit of $145.5 million growing to 
$152.8 million by 2014, assuming no structural changes. The underlying causes of the deficit are: relatively flat, or 
declining revenues while expenditures, particularly employee health care benefits and pensions, continue to 
increase. More detail on the make-up of the structural deficit and actions the County has taken are discussed below. . 

The-forecast has since been updated based on the 2013 Adopted Budget and spows significant improvement despite 
the impact of the recession. A comparison between the two forecasts is shown below. 

Forecast Year 
2014 
.2015 

2016 
2017 
2018 

2009 Model 
(Millions) 

$ (152.8) 
(i59.0} 
(179.0) 
(200.6) 

2013 Model 
(Millions) . 

$ (15) 
(26) 
(44) 
(63) 
(77) 

A portion of the improvement is due to refined assumptions; however, the County has identified changes in 
personnel and related salaries, and benefits, and continuing reductions in long-term liabilities due to adopted 
legislatiye changes. 

The forecast assumes property tax increases based on a ten-year historical . average. The state has adopted a 
maximum dollar increase, instead of rate cap limit, for 2012-2013. ·The State dollar limit reflects an increase in net 
new construction consistent with the 2012 increase of 0.67 percent plus the increase of 0.088 percent related to 
terminated tax incremental districts. In addition, the County may increase its tax levy dollar amount by any increase 
·in debt service costs. 

The Couno/ has taken the following measures to address the structural deficit. 

Since 2006, the County has taken actions to reduce its· long-term structural deficit through wage and benefit 
modifications. The actions taken by the County have included the movement to a self-insured health plan, wage 
freezes, changes to healthcare plan design including implementation of a single PPO plan and increased deductibles 
and co-payments, changes in coordination with Medicare, reduced pension benefits, and enactment of an employee 
pension contribution. Changes in these areas have significantly reduced the future costs of these benefits in tum 
reducing the County's structural deficit. This reduction is evidenced by the reduction in the forecasted structural 
deficit for the year 2014. In 2009, the structural deficit for 2014 was estimated to be $152.8 million. In 2013, the · 
structural deficit for 2014 is projected to be $15.3 million. 

Major changes to healthcare and pension benefits have largely been possible due to 201 1 Wisconsin Acts 10 and 32 
(Acts 10 and 32). Prior to Acts l O and 32, the County was required to negotiate any wage or benefit change with 
represented employees. Due to modifications to collective bargaining in Acts 10 and 32, the County is now only 
permitted to bargain over base wages (limited to the rate of inflation) with aU non-public safety unions. The County 
is still required to bargain over most wage and benefit issues 'with the Milwaukee County Firefighters Association 
and the Milwaukee Deputy Sheriffs' Association with the exception ofhealthcare plan design (deductibles, copays, 
etc.) which is no longer' subject to collective bargaining. Acts .10 and 32 also require that employees, except 
members of public safety unions, contribute one-half of the actuarial determined Annual Required Contribution 
("ARC") . . Similar employee pension contributions have been or are b~ing negotiated with public safety worker 
unions. 

The County has successfully implemented a new healthcare plan design that shares more costs with its employees 
and retirees due to Acts 10 and 32. In addition, the County has largely been able to implement all of these changes 
for its public safety workers, with the exception of the contribution to health plan premiums, which is still 
considered a negotiable item for public safety unions. Major changes include a shift from multiple plan designs to a 
single PPO plan design. Employees and retirees are required to pay annual deductibles, copays and coinsurance. In 
addition, the County has implemented a Medicare carve-out coverage plan and an Employer Group Waiver Plan 
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("EGWP") for prescription drug coverage for retirees and eliminated the Medicare Part B premium reimbursement 
for all employees not yet retired. 

. 
The County has also been able to reduce its pension liability, in part due to changes that resulted from Acts 10 and 
32. Almost all employees are required to contribute one-half of the ARC to the Employees Retirement System 
("ERS"). The member contribution requirement is determined annually by the County's actuary and is collected 
through an employee payroll deduction. Although this issue remains a negotiable item for public safety unions, the 
Milwaukee Deputy Sheriffs' Association agreed in its 2012 contract to contribute one-half of its ARC. The 
Milwaukee County Firefighters Association, covering less than 20 County employees, has not yet agreed to a 
pension contribution. Other changes to t!_le pension benefits include an increase in the normal retirement age from 
age 60 to age 64, a reduction in the pension multiplier from 2.0 percent to 1.6 percent for most employees and a 
modification to the back~op pension benefit. · 

As a result of Acts 10 and 32, and the subsequent changes to healthcare and pension provisions for Milwaukee 
County employees, legal challenges have been brought against both the State and the County. The lower cow:ts 
have both issued opinions as. to the legality of Acts 10 and 32, and the parties have appealed the decisions to Federal 
Appeals Court and to State Appeals Court. The Federal Appeals Court has ruled in favor of the State, while the 
State Appeals Court has asked the Wisconsin Supreme Court to accept the case. 

Legal challenges have been brought against the County regarding the healthcare plan design changes imposed on 
retirees, the elimination of the Medicare Part B premium reimbursement for future retirees, the reduction in the 
pension multip~ier from 2.0 percent to 1.6 percent for most employees and the modification of the backdtop pension 
benefit. . With the exception of the case related to the backdrop benefit, the cases on these matters have made it 
through the lower 'courtS, which have ruled in favor of the claimants on Medicare Part B reimbursement and the 
peqsion multiplier and in favor of the County on retiree healthcare 'plan design. All.ofthese rulings are currently on 
appeal. If the County loses the appeals, there will be a financial impact; however, these impacts have not yet been 
determined. The case related to the backdrop benefit was just recently filed and no decision has been rendered. 

While fiscal challenges remain, the County bas a track record of achieving balanced budgets and developing 
strategic options fonchiieving long-term sustainability. The County monitors its five-year forecast and provides an 
annual update to the County Board each spring. In addition, the County may update the forecast throughout the year 
depending on events that may impact the long-term sustainability, such as the State's 2013-2015 Biennial Budget. 

Milwaukee County Actuaria_l Report - Excluding Milwaukee County Transit System 

The County administers single-employer defined benefit healtbcare and life insurance plans for retired employees. 
The plans provide health and life insurance contributions for eligible retirees and eligible spouses through the 
County's self-insured health insurance plan and the County's group life insurance plan. The County stopped 
providing post-retirement health care and life insurance for most employees who began work with the County after . 
January 1, 1994. Employees who started prior to this date and worked 15 years with the County were eligible for 
post-retirement health care. 

The County lias received its third actuarial report of Other Post Employment Benefits ("OPEB") under i 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement #45 - "Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for I 
Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions" ("GASB #45"). The County has chosen to continue on a "pay as j 
you go basis" for its OPEB liabilities. However, un'der the GASB #45 rules, the County is required to acc.(lle the I: 
cost of the ARC for proprietary funds, and footnote the· cost associated with governmental funds. The County I 
required an actuarial report for its employees; and a separate actuarial report was prepared for the Milwaukee 
County Transit System (the "MCTS"), which is separately managed by Milwaukee Transport Services, .Inc., a non­
stock, not-for-profit Wisconsin corporation. ' I ' 

I 

An actuarial valuation report was prepared as of January 1, 2010 for the County. The County's total actuarial ! ' 
accrued liability for OPEB for all funds, excluding the MCTS, is estimated at $1.46 billion, based on a 6 percent 1· 

discount rate. · ! : 
; I 
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The ARC for the County as of January 1, 2010 was $118.8 million. Normal cost is $12.4 million and amortization 
of the unfunded liability was $106.4 milliori. The amortization of the unfunded liability assumes a 30~year 
amortization using a level dollar amount. The net ARC cost for 2010 and 2011 waS $40.7 million and $44.6 million, 
respectively, which excluded the retiree health costs that are separately budgeted by the County. The County has no 
plans to establish a post~retirement trust for health care or make contributions to a trust, but only plans to accrue the 
costs associated with proprietary fund departments. The net OPEB Obligation as of December 31, 20 I 0 and 2011 
was $211.2 million and $255.8 million, respectively. 

While the County has made progress in recent years by securing employee concessions in the area of employee 
health care and the rollback of the 2001 pension enhancements, employee compensation and fringe benefits 
continues to be a cost pressure in the 2013 budget and beyond. Resolving the County's projected structural 
imbalance will require it to review its current expenditure commitments, revenue streams and the cost pressures 
outlined above. The County will then need to decide whether it will reduce expenditUre commitments to 
accommodate the projected costs of health benefits, pension contributions and OPEB or seek and establish new 
revenue sources. This will require the County to reevaluate its core functions, and the funding assumptions used to 
support them. 

Milwaukee County Transit System 

The Milwaukee County Transit System ("MCTS") is separate~y managed by Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc., 
with separate union agreements for its employees. MCTS has post~retirement health· ihsuran~e available for 
employees hired before July 16, 2007, based on the number of years of service. MCTS negotiated a new labor 
contract with its employees effective April1, 2011. · 

Under the new agreement, new employees are not eligible for post~retirement health insurance. 

An actuarial valuation report was prepared a~ of December 31, 2011, which included expense and ARC 
development for the years beginning January I, 2011 and January 1, 2012. The MCTS actuarial accrued liability for 
OPEB at December 31, 2011 is estimated at $245.9 million, based on a 7.5 percent discount rate. 

The ARC for MCTS as of January_ I, 2012 was $17.7 million. The ARC includes normal cost of $4.1 million and 
amortization of the unfunded liability of $13.6 million. The amortization of the unfunded liability assumes a 30-
year amortization using a level percentage of payroll. The MCTS has established a trust for the net OPEB 
obligation, which had an actuarial value of assets as ofDec.ember 31,2011 of$34.6 million, and as of December 31, 
2012 is projected to be $43.4 million. 

Auditing. The Milwaukee County Department of Audit was originally an extension of the legislative branch of 
Milwaukee County and provided the County Board with .a constant overview and independent review of County 
operations. In 2011, State statute was chaD.ged, and effective April 2012, the Milwaukee County Department of 
Audit now reports to a separately elected Milwaukee County Comptroller. The State statute requires that the Audit 
Services Division of the Office of the Comptroller will follow Government Auditing Standards. The division is 
responsible not only for overseeing the external audit of the financial statements but also for reviews of internal 
accounting and administrative controls, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, economy and efficiency of 
operations and effectiveness in.achieving program results. The division's audits are performed in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Government Audit Standards. In addition, the County retains the services of independent public 
accountants to perform audits of both the basic financial statements and of federal and state grants. The audits of the 
basic financial statements and of federal and state grants are conducted in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States;~ Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States; the provisions of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, arid Non-Profit 
Organizations; and the provisions of the State of Wisconsin State Single Audit Guidelines. The Milwaukee County 
Basic Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, including the report of the independent public 
accountants thereon, are presented in Appendix A. · 
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Capital Planning. The County is continuing the development of an inventory of all County capital assets and a 
system to monitor the condition of capital assets and establish appropriate replacement or reconstruction schedules 
for the County's infrastructure. This information will assist County departments in developing comprehensive long­
range planning. 

Debt Administration. In 1994, the County established new policies and revised existing policies that directly and 
indirectly affect its borrowing practices, including development of guidelines for maximum debt burdens and 
maximum maturity and modifications to the procedures for accepting competitive bi9-s. 

The County Board has also adopted policies limiting the amount of corporate purpose bonds issued by the County to 
finance capital projects. Under this policy, corporate purpose bond issuance is limited to an increase of no more 
than 3 percent over the principal amount of the preceding year's issue. Although this bonding cap policy only 
applies to corporate purpose bonds that finance the Capital Improvements Program, the Comptroller's Office 
includes the bond issues that result in a County debt obligation. 

The County Board authorized and borrowed significantly more than what would have been allowed under its 
bonding cap policy during 2009 and 2010 in order to accelerate projects previously scheduled to occur during the 
four-year period of 2009 through 2012. As a result, the County issued general obligation debt for four years of 
capital projects during a two-year period (2009 and 201 0) and did not issue general obligation debt for capital 
projects during the next two-year period (2011 and 2012). This allowed the County to maintain its bonding cap 
policy in aggregate during the four-year time period while accelerating the capital project plan to take advantage of 
certain provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act and provide a local economic stimulus. 

Investment Policy. The County may purchase investment securities as allowed by Section 66.0603(1m) of the 
Wisconsin Statutes and Milwaukee County ordinance at prevailing market rates. To the extent possible, the County 
attempts to ~atch its investments with anticipated cash-flow requirements. In the absence of individual security 
maturity limitations specified in the Wisconsin Statutes, the County does not directly invest in securities maturing 
more than ten years from the date of purchase. 

(Fhe remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally) 
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The following percentage ranges of portfolio investments apply to the investment categories currently allowed by 
Wisconsin Statute: 

Investment Vehicle 
Time and other Money Market deposits of banks, savings banks, trust companies, 
savings and loans, credit unions, regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

U.S. Treasury, GNMA, Federal Home Loan Mortgage, and any other 
agency/instrumentality securities that are explicitly guaranteed by the federal 

overnment. 
Securities issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), and 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. (Freddie Mac). 

Other agency/instrumentality securities (including securities issue by the. Federal Home 
Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit Banks, Small Business Administration, and others. J 

Municipal securities - including general obligation bonds, essential service bonds rated 
AA or lllgher, or securities of any county, city, drainage district, vocational, technical 
and adult education district [1 ], village, town or school district of the State of Wisconsin. 

Local Government Pooled Investment Fund of the State of Wisconsin Investment Board 

Repurchase agreements with public depository institutions (only) and where specific and 
appropriate collateral is provided 

Corporate securities.rated AAA or AA, including commercial paper 

Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, 
investing in stat~.Itorily allowed securities 

All other security types, when and if authorized in the future by amendment to 
Wisconsin statute 

(1] Statutorily redesignated in 1993 as technical college districts. 

Services Provided by the County 

Maximum 
Percentage 
of Portfolio 
0-60% Total 

0-100% Total 

0-30% per agency 
0-60% Total 

0-15% per agency 
0-30% Total 

0-10% per issuer 
0-10% Essential Rev. 
0-25% Total 

0-50% Total 

0-50% Total 

0-5% per issuer 
0-15% Total 

0-2:,5% Total 

0-25% Total 

Health and Human Services. This functional area consists of the Department of Health and Human Services, the 
Behavioral Health Division, the Department of Aging and the Department of Family Care. In combination, 
operating revenues support 85 percent of expenses in these departments. 

The Department of Health and Human Services (the "DHHS") provides a wide range of life-sustaining, life-saving · 
and life-enhancing services to children and adults through age 59. Programs serve specific populations such as 
delinquent youth; persons who are developmentally, physically or mentally ill; and the homeless. Many DHHS 
services are mandated by State Statute and/or provided through a contract between the state and the County. 

The DHHS consists o( five service areas including the divisions of Delinquency and Court Services, Disabilities 
Services, Housing, Management Services· and Behavioral Health. 

The Delinquency and Court Services Division provides custodial intake services, administers a wide continuum of 
juvenile justice programs and provides support staff for the operation of the Children's Court. The di~ision operates 
a 120-bed secure juvenile detention · centei: facility, "primarily housing juveniles pending a court bearing or tliose 
deemed out of compliance with supervision conditions. Juvenile justice programs and services provided to alleged 
and adjudicated delinquent youth include pre-dispositional secure and non-secure out-of-home placements and 
monitoring, court diversion supervision and services, post-dispositional placements and services and probation 
supervision and programs that are designed as alternatives to placement in state correctional facilities. 
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advanced life support and pediatric advanced life support courses. Medical direction and control for the EMS 
program is provided through a professional services contract with the Medical College of Wisconsin. 

The Department of Family Care ("DFC") was· originally created in 2000 as the Milwaukee County Department on 
Aging - Care Management Organization to operate a Family Care Program for people age 60 and older. Undei: 
l\tfilwaukee County's existing contract with the State Department of Health Services ("DHS"), DFC must operate 
separately from both the Aging Resource Center and the Disability Resource Center. Since it is the responsibility of 
the resource center to objectively inform persons in need · of long-term care about the options available to them if 
choosing a managed care organization that can best address their needs, DHS considers the organizational separation 
of the two functions an essential element in the administration of the Family Care Benefit, resulting in the creation 
of the Department of Family Care. 

The Department administers the Family Care benefit for both the aging (over age 60)"and disabled populations (ages 
18-59) who are determined to be eligible by a resource center. DFC is responsible for creating a comprehensive 
plan . of care for each client; ~ontracting with a wide range of service providers; and monitoring the quality of 
services that clients receive. DFC delivers member-centered, community-based, outcome-focused, managed long­
term care services and member-centered care planning for all Family Care members. In return for coordinating and 
managing these services, the DFC receives a capitated rate payment per member per month from .the state. 

Parks, Recreation and Culture. This functional area includes the Department. of Parks, Recreation and Culture, 
the Milwaukee County Zoo, the Milwaukee Public Museum and other cultural institutions that receive County 
support. As a group, operating revenues support 51.9 percent of expenses relating to Parks, Recreation and Culture. 

The Department of Parks, Recreation and Culture operates the Milwaukee County Park System, which comprises 
15,000 acres of parkland, including 153 parks and parkways. The Parks Department provides a variety of sports and 
recreation opportunities to County residents and visitors. The Parks Department maintains golf courses, indoor and 
outdoor aqUatic facilities, an indoor ice arena and a sports complex that hosts tournaments, competitions, leagues 
and tradeshows. The 1 00-mile Oak Leaf Recreational Trail, along with 84 miles of parkways, provide off-road 
paved paths for walking and biking. In addition, dozens of parks have baseball or softball fields, basketball courts, 
sand volleyball, tennis courts, disc golf, rugby fields, cricket courts and other facilities that can be rented or used 
recreationally. The Parks Department also offers both supervised sports activities as well as leisure recreation in 
exercise and game room gatherings in its community centers. The centers also host community groups that offer 
adult educational programs and programs oriented to disadvantaged youth. · 

The Parks Department maintains over 14 miles of lakefront property and operates five public beaches along Lake 
Michigan. The Park System operates the McKinley Marina, which is a public, 706-slip facility located near the 
downtown area on Lake Michigan, a public marina at South Shore Park, which is leased to a private operator, and 
three additional launch sites along Lake Michigan. 

The Parks Department also maintains several horticultural facilities. The Mitchell Park Horticultural Conservatory, 
popularly called the "Domes", is a unique structure of three beehive-shaped glass domes, each 85 feet high and 140 
feet wide. The Wehr Nature Center fosters environmental awareness and a conservation ethic in the County's 
citizens through programming for school children and events for families. The Boerner Botanical Gardens, a 
nationally renowned botanical center, offers specialty gardens including a Rose Garden. The gardens host a free 
concert ~eries that runs from July to September with an average attendance of over 2,000 people per concert. 

The Zoological Department operates the Milwaukee County Zoo (the "Zoo"), which is situated on 200 acres with 
approximately 465,124 square feet of facilities. Exhibits at the Zoo include the Family Farm, a working farm and 
dairy complex; the Peck Welcome Center; the Sea Lion and Polar Bear eXhibit; the Aviar)r;. tlie Australian Building; 
the Apes of Africa exhibit; the Education Facility; the Lake Evinrude Deck; the Primate Building; the 
Aquarium/Reptile Building; -and the Special Exhibits Building. Other Zoo facilities include a chair lift, a railroad, a 
carousel and the Gathering Place. Zoo attendance in 2012 was 1,332,395visitors. 

The Milwaukee Public Museum ("MPM") has been operated through a public-private partnership since 1992. The 
private, not-for-profit organization l'vfPM Inc. operates the museum, and the County owns the buildings and artifacts. 
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The board of directors of l\.1PM Inc. includes representatives appointed by the County Board and the County 
Executive. · 

MPM hosts international exhibitions annually, and had attendance of 605,100 in 2011. The MPM also operates an 
IMAX theater and the Daniel M. Soref Planetarium to provide additional educational programming. Through its 
distant learning program, the museum provides remote educational programs to students throughout the region, the 
County, and around the world. 

Financial difficulties resulted in a financial restructuring of the MPM i.D 2005. At that time, the County guaranteed a 
$6 million working capital loan on behalfMPM. In February 2008, the note and line of credit were fully paid off by 
contributions received by MPM, . which effectively eliminated this guarantee. In May 2007, major MPM 

. stakeholders consented to a comprehensive agreement that intended to restore the MPM to long-term fmancial 
viability. At that time, the County committed to fixing the level of operational funding to $3.5 million per year for 
ten years (2008 - 20 17) and funding a minimiun of $4 million over five years (2008 - 20 12) for capital improvement 
projects at MPM. The County's capital improvement funding obligation was completed in 2012. 

In January 2013, MPM briefed County policy makers in regard to potential cash flow issues resultant from the 
required pension payment due in September of2013. The pension payment is specific to former County employees 
(who worked for the Museum when it was a department of the County) that accepted positions with IvfPM when the 
County ente~ed into a lease and management agreement for Museum operations in March of 1992. Additionally, 
policy makers were briefed on discussions occurring between MPM and County staff to address short-term cash 
flow issues and the long-term sustainability of rvn>M. In June 2013, it is anticipated that the County will be 
considering a formal agreement with rvn>M tharwould address the pension and short-term cash flow issues as .well 
as provide alternatives to promote the long-term sustainability of MPM. 

The Marcus Center for the Performing Arts is a cultural center that hosts the Milwaukee Symphony Orchestra, 
Milwaukee Ballet Company, Florentine Opera, Milwaukee Youth Symphony, First Stage Milwaukee and other 
special arts groups and entertainment events. The County's annual operating contribution to the Marcus Center for 
2012 is $1.09 million. 

Transportation. The Department of Transportation and Public Works administers two· County airports; the 
transit/paratransit system; transportation planning and engineering services; highway maintenance; and fleet 
management. Operating revenues account for 92.1 percent of the department's expenses. 

The Airport Division operates the General Mitchell International Airport ("GMIA") and the Lawrence J. 
Timmerman Airport. Operating expenses of both airports are entirely supported by user fees. 

GMIA is a modem air transportation center of2,386 acres located six miles south of the City of Milwaukee's central 
business district. Seven airlines provide approximately 125 daily departures from GMIA. Approximately 32 cities 
are served non-stop, and connections are available to cities throughout the ·world. A total of 7,515,070 passengers 
used GMIA in 2012. 

The first Federal Aviation Administration (the "FAA") FAR Part 150 Noise (Abatement) Study for GMIA was 
approved in 1993· by the FAA. GMIA implemented many of 1993 FAR Part 150 Noise Study recommendations 
including a Residential Noise Mitigation Program, which benefited approximately 1,435 single family homes and 
duplexes and 64 multi-family complexes. In March 2008, GMIA submitted a FAR Part 150 Noise Study Update to 
the FAA which the FAA approved in June 2009. 

The noise study update included a request for FAA funding to reduce noise impacts to an additional 560 dwellings 
through continuation of the sound insulation element originally identified in the 1993 GMIA FAR Part 150 Noise 
(Abatement) Study: 

The Lawrence J. Timmerman Airport is located in the northwest quadrant of the County. This 420-acre general 
aviation facility serves business and privately owned aircraft. For a discussion of debt related to the airports, see 
"DEBT STRUCTURE- Airport Revenue Debt" and "DEBT STRUCTURE- Other County Obligations." 
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The Milwaukee County Transit System has an active bus fleet of 391 buses serving 54 routes. Bus fares are 
collected on approximately 37.4 million passenger trips annually (an amount that does not include passengers 
entering a bus using a transfer ticket). A bus replacement program will provide 90 new buses by the end of 2014. 
Budgeted fare revenue and federal and state aid account for approximately 89 percent of operating costs. MCTS 
also has a paratransit program for persons with disabilities. 

The Highway Maintenance Division maintains 57 centerliile miles of freeways, 100 centerline miles of state trunk 
highways and approximately 87 centerline miles of county trunk highways. Expenses for general and winter 
maintenance of state trunk highways within the County are fully offset by state reimbursement revenues. 

The Transportation Services Division provides transportation planning and engineering services and cost~effectively 
plans, desi~ and implements projects necessary to maintain and enhance the safety and efficiency of the County's 
highways, bridges and traffic control facilities. Transportation functions include highway engineering, construction 
management, bridge engineering and traffic engineering. 

Courts and Judiciary. Ute Courts and Judiciary function includes the Department of Combined Court Related 
Operations, Alternatives to Incarceration, and the Department of Child Support Enforcement State and other non­
tax revenues· support approximately 44.9 percent of the County's cost of the Courts and Judiciary function. 

The Department of Combined Court Related Operations operates the Milwaukee County Circuit Courts, which 
constitutes the First Judicial Administrative District of the state system. The district currently has 47 judges and 
22.5 full-time equivalent court commissioners. The Department of Combined Court Related Operations includes the 
Chief Judge and is made up of three divisions. 

The Family Court Commissioner Division ·conducts hearings for family matters of separation, divorce, domestic · 
abuse and harassment cases; conducts paternity hearings and monitors the job search task for those individuals liable 
for child support; and provideS mediation services and custody studies for the Family Courts as mandated by Section 
767.11 ofthe Wisconsin Statutes. 

The Register in Probate maintains all records and files of probate proceedings and assists the courts in adjudicating 
matters involving probate, trusts, guardianships of persons and estates, conservatorship, protective placements, 
involuntary commitments, temporary restraining orders and injunctions in individuals at risk cases. 

The County-funded State Court Services consists of three sections: the Chief Judge, Alternatives to Incarceration, 
and the Clerk of Circuit Court. The Clerk of Circuit Court includes the following divisions: Administration, 
Criminal, Civil, and Children's. The Chief Judge is responsible for the oversight of administration of judicial 
activities in the 47 circuit courts within the First Judicial Administrative District. Alternatives to Incarceration 
provides programs designed to reduce pretrial failure to appear and re-arrest rates, enhance public safety, reduce 
overcrowding at the Criminal Justice Facility and House of Correction and enhance the processing and adjudication 
of criminal cases. The Clerk of Circuit· Court maintains the records, books and files of the Circuit Courts, Civil, 
Family, Criminal and Children's Division; prepares the daily court calendar; and processes all cases. Eligible jurors 
are also summoned by the Clerk of Circuit Court. 

The Alternatives ·to Incarceration Unit provides treatment and diversion services for individuals booked into the 
Cominunity Correctional Facility-Central ("CCFC") on a pre-trial basis. This non-departmental organizational unit 
is managed by the Chief Judge of the Milwaukee County Circuit Courts. This organizational unit includes funding 
for the universal screening program, which screens a majority of the approximately 40,000 individuals booked into 

· the CCFC annually, for the purpose of providing information on defendants to judges and attorneys; and to 
determine suitability for pre-trial services and diversion programs. Funding for services such as Alcohol and Other 
Drug Abuse ("AODA") screening and treatment, Operating While Intoxicated monitoring, drug screening, job skills, 
fatherboo~ and other programming. This organization also includes funding for the Day Reporting Center, at which 
individuals sentenced to the County Correctional Facility South ("CCFS") can obtain job traiilln.g and AODA 
services. 
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The Department of Child Support Enforcement implements and administers the Child Support Enforcement Act 
pursuant to Title IV-D of the Federal Social Security Act and Sections 49.22 and 59.53(5) of the Wisconsin Statutes, 
under contract with the. Wisco~sin Department of Workforce Development. The department has four divisions: 
Case Management (Establishment and Enforcement), Financial, Legal and Operations. The oepartment monitors 
approximately 125,000 cases annually for establishment and enforcement of child support obligation, maintains 
Milwaukee County family court orders on Kids Information Data System, the statewide support computer system 
and represents the department's interests in family court hearings in the County. 

The Public Safety function includes the Office of the Sheriff, the District Attorney and the Medical Examiner. For 
2013, budgeted operating revenues support approximately 16.2 percent of the costs of these departments. 

Th.e Office of the Sheriff acts as an arm of the criminal justice system, which consists of carrying out criminal 
investigations, effecting arrests and warrants, detaining prisoners, providing court security, serving process papers, 
transporting prisoners and patients and extraditing criminals. The Office of the Sheriff is organized into the 
following divisions: Administration Bureau, Police Services Bureau and Detention Services Bureau including the 
County Correctional Facility South formerly known as the House of Correction. 

The Administration Bureau performs management and support functions for the Sheriff, communications, training 
and public information. Included in these duties are leadership, personnel management, and preparation of the 
annual budget, fiscal monitoring, accounting and payroll functions. Also included in this bureau is the Internal 
Affairs Division, which investigates all incidents involving Sheriff's Office personnel. Included in this Bureau is 
the Emergency Management Division which administers a county-wide emergency plan to mitigate all hazards, 
maintains communications and enhances public awareness campaigns to assure the community has knowledge of 
typical hazards and outlines preventive measures which can be taken. 

The Police Services Bureau is reSJ)onsible for patrolling the County airports, County grounds, County parks and 
expressways. In addition, the Police Services Bureau includes the Civil Process Unit, Criminal Investigation 
Division, the Drug Enforcement Unit, the High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area, the Special Weapons and Tactics 
team, the bomb disposal unit and the dive team. In addition, the Police Services Bureau serves state-mandated civil 
writs such as temporary restraining orders, commitments to mental health, body attachments, writs of 
restitution/assistance, executions and evictions. 

. . 
The Detention Services Bureau includes the CCFC, the CCFS, Medical and Psychiatric Services units, Court 
Services, Support Administration, and Central Records. The CCFC is a secure detention facility with a total bed 
space of 960 detainees and is primarily a pre-trial holding facility, although a small number of sentenced offenders 
awaiting transfers or hearings are also housed at the jail. The Sheriff has the authority to transfer inmates between 
the CCFC and the CCFS in order to maximize the use of available beds. 

In 2009, management of the CCFS was transferred to the Office of the Sheriff. The CCFS operates the Adult 
Correctional Center, which maintains custody of all sentenced prisoners in the County committed by authorized 

·courts for periods not exceeding one year and from other jurisdictions as authorized by County ordinance; provides 
rehabilitation, education, work, recreation and training; provides medical, dental and other necessary services in 
conjunction with the Detention Bureau; processes and considers ·applications for parole; and releases prisoners upon 
expiration of sentence, parole, or upon orders of the courts or other recognized authorities. The 2013 budget 
required that the management of the CCFS be transitioned from the Office of the Sheriff to the Executive Branch of 
County government, under an appointed Superilltendent, effective April 1, 2013. In December of 2012, Sheriff 
Clarke filed a lawsuit against Milwaukee County related to the management of the CCFS. Branch 9 of the Circuit 
Court of Milwaukee County issued an order on May 1, 2013 dismissing the lawsuit. Subsequently, the 
Superintendent, Mike Hafemann, took control of the facility on May 7, 2013 and Sheriff Clarke filed an appeal of 
the court decision. · 

The Detention Bureau also operates a progr~ of home detention using electronic surveillance equipment and other 
systems of control and supervises inmates who have community access under court order to work, attend school, 
provide childcare or to receive medical attention. 
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The Milwaukee County District Attorney's Office, pursuant to Section 978.05 of the Wisconsin Statutes, has 
juriscliction for criminal and juvenile cases in the circuit courts of Milwaukee County. General Crimes Division 
staff are responsible for general felony and misdemeanor c9urts; Violent Crimes Division staff are responsible for 
all specialized felony courts; Juvenile Division staff are responsible for the Children's Court of Milwaukee County; 
and the Commuruty Prosecution Unit supervises commuruty prosecutors in six Milwaukee police district stations 
and the Domestic Violence Unit, which prosecutes all domestic violence cases in three specialized courts. District 
attorneys and assistant district attorneys present evidence, argue motions, negotiate cases and conduct jury and court 
triili. . 

The District Attorney's Office investigates police shootings of civilians and deaths in police custody, public 
corruption, major multi-jurisdictional crimes, industrial deaths and injuries, as well as providing post-charging 
investigation on major crimes, and maintains office security. The District Attorney's Office also operates the 
Witness Security Program, which seeks to insure that witnesses who are threatened or intimidated are able to safely 
appear and testify in court and the Diversion and Treatment Alternatives to Criminal Charges Program, and 
administers federal and state grant funded programs, including the Victim/Witness Program, the Victims of Crime 
Act, the Byrne Justice Assistance Grant Prosecution of Drug Crimes, Violence Against Woman Acts, and the High 
Intensity Drug Trafficking Area grant, among others. 

The Medical Examiner's Office investigates all deaths in which there are unexplained, unusual or suspiCIOUS 
circumstances, for example, homicides, suicides, accidental deaths and all deaths in which there is no physician in 
attendance. Staff of the Meclical Examiner's Office perform autopsies, histological studies and toxicological 
analyses; testify in court in regard to all investigative findings; issue death certificates, cremation permits and 
disinterment permits; take possession of, store and arrange for the final disposition of bodies when investigation is 
required or bodies are unclaimed; locate relatives of deceased persons; safeguard and legally dispose of money and 
property of deceased persons; and render scientific aid to various law enforcement agencies in the examination of 
evidence. 

General Governmental Services. The General Governmental Services group includes the County Treasurer, the 
County Clerk, the Register of Deeds and an Election Commission. As a group, budgeted operating revenues support 
105.9 percent of the costs of these departments. 

The County Treasurer traditionally produces revenues in excess of expenditures because interest on delinquent 
property taxes is included in this operating budget. The interest and penalties for 2012 are projected to be 
approximately $3.6 million; the 2013 budget includes a modest decrease in the number of properties on which taxes 
are delinquent and a corresponding decrease in collections. 

The Register of Deeds collects revenues in two areas: general recording fees and real estate transfer fees. Both of 
these revenues are driven by real estate sales. As home sales have decreased, estimates of both general recording 
fees and real estate transfer fees have declined. 

Administration. The Administrative function includes the Department of Administrative Services, Human 
Resources, Corporation Counsel and boards and commissions such as the Personnel Review Board, Civil Service 
Commission and Ethics Board.· As a group, operating revenues support 16.0 percent of expense for administrative 
functions. · 

The Department of Administrative Services is responsible for a variety of governmental functions. The various 
divisions ·provide services for other departments including information management, risk management, human 
resources, labor relations, administration and financial oversight, procurement and employee benefits. · 

· The Department of Labor Relations has general responsibility for the negotiation and administration of all collective 
bargaining agreements, . the establishment of labor relations training programs for supervisory staff, and the 
implementation on behalf of the County of all procedures ordered by the Wisconsin Employment Relations 
Commission, the U.S. Department of Labor or the Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development. In addition, 
this division annually reviews the wages, hours and conditions of employment for all employees, and submits 
recommendations to the County Executive and the County Board. 
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The County has 4,694 funded full-time equivalent employee positions budgeted in 2013. This count represents the 
nl,).mber of actual positions funded in the Adopted Budget. Departments may also budget salary dollars for special 
premiums, salary adjustments, shift differentials, overtime or vacancy and turnover, which modify the overall 
funded count. By including the aforementioned salary dollars, the funded full-time equivalent is 4,760 employees. 
The number of individuals actually employed by the County fluctuates on a seasonal basis. When Wisconsin.Act 10 
was enacted in July 20 I 1, certified non-public safety bargaining units were required to go through a re-certification 
process. Four ( 4) County Non-public safety bargaining units went through this process, and were re-certified. 
Milwaukee District Council 48, AFSCME, AFL-CIO did not go through the re-certification process, and was de­
certified on January 30, 2012. The total membership of AFSCME at the time of decertification was approximately 
2,800. The Federation of Nurses and Health Professionals ("FNHP"), Local 5001, AFT, AFL-CIO, had a labor 
agreement that expired on December 31, 2012. The Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission ("WERC") 
advised at the point that the FNHP would remain a certified bargaining unit. As.of May 6, 2013, approximately 16 
percent of all individuals employed by the County were ·organized and represented by labor organizations as 
descnbed below. 

Union 
Milwaukee Deputy Sheriffs Association 
Feder~tion ofNurses and Health Professionals, Local5001, AFT, AFL-CIO 
Milwaukee Building and Construction Trades Council, AFL-CIO 
Association of Milwaukee County Attorneys 
Technicians, Engineers and Architects of Milwaukee County 
Milwaukee County Firefighters Association 
District No. 10 International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers 
Total Represented Employees 

Approximate 
Number of 
Employees 

Represented 
284 
283 

80 
50 
33 
18 
3 

751 

Contract 
Expiration 

Date 
12/31/2012 
12/3112012 
12/31/2011 
12/31/2011 
12/31/2011 
12/31/2011 
12/31/2012 

i 

I 
The Employees' Re~rement Syst~m of the County of Milwaukee. The Employees' Retirement System of the l 
County of Milwaukee (the "ERS") was established in 1938 and is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan. 1 

Employees who were enrolled in the ERS prior to 1971 receive contributions to their member accounts by the l 
County, which is presently less than $15,000 a year. For all other members, the ERS was substantially 
noncontributory until 2011. In that year, employees were required under State Statute to begin contributing half of I 
the actuaria!ly determined annual required contribution to the ERS. Public safety employees were specifically ; 
exempted from this requirement, but in 2012, the Milwaukee Deputy Sheriffs' Association agreed to pay one-half of 'I 

the ARC. The Milwaukee County Firefighters Association still has not agreed to a contribution. . 
I • f 

County Contribution I 

The ERS financing objecti~e is to fully· fund all curre~t costs based on the normal contribution rate determined ! 
under the Aggregate Entry Age Normal Cost Method and to liquidate the unfunded accrued liability based on.the ~ 
amortization schedules as required by the retirement code. The outstanding balance of the unfunded actuarial j 
accrued liability (UAAL) and any changes to the UAAL arising from plan changes, assumption changes, and 1 
actuarial gains/losses are amortized as a level percentage of payroll over a 30-year period. The County's actuary I 
recently conducted its quinquennial experience review for the calendar years 2007 . through 2011. Based on that 
review, the County's rate of return assumption will remain unchanged at 8.0 percent. However, the County's · 
mort<llity assumption needed to be updated, which will impact the valuation and increase future annual contribution I 
requirements. The actuary also recommended a 10 year smoothing of investment gains and losses; instead of the I 
current policy of 5 years which will be implemented as part of the next actuarial valuation. 

The County's actuary determines the ARC and the County makes contributions to . the ERS based upon the I: 
actuarially determined ARC, with adjustments made at the discretion of the County Board of Supervisors and the · 

22 



County Executive. The ARC is based on the normal cost (the actuarial liability for benefits earned by active 
employees for the current year) plus interest plus a thirty year amortization of the unfunded liability. ·Because the 
County issued pension obligation notes in 2009, State Statute directs that the County must, at a minimum, contribute 
the normal cost. The County typically budgets contributions to the ERS to fully fund the ARC. In each actuarial 
valuation report, the actuary provides a ·"Projected" ARC for the upcoming budget year. The appropriation is 
generally set using this projection. In the subsequent actuarial valuation report, the actuary will provide the 
"Actual" contribution requirement. Differences between the ARC and the amount actually contributed have varied 
over the past five years. In 2008, the actual contribution was 65.7 percent of the ARC. In 2009, the County issued 
pension obligation notes and contributed $400 million to pay down the unfunded liability. In 2010 and 2011, the 
County contributed more than was required and in 2012, contributed 96.5 percent. Based on all the events of the 
system, the ERS currently has a funded ratio of89.2 percent. . 

Eligibility for Normal Retirement 

The typical retfrement benefit is a monthly pension payment for the life of the participant beginning at normal 
retirement age. For Deputy Sheriffs' Union participants with less than 15 years of service, the normal retirement 
age is 57 or age 55 with 15 years of service. For all other participants the normal retirement age is either 60 or 64, 
depending on the ERS enrollment date, although some labor agreements require a minimum of five years of 
creditable service at age 60. Certain active participants are also eligible to retire when ·their age added to their years 
of service equals 75 ·("Rule of 7S"). County ordinances and labor agreements require an employee to be a 
participant prior to a stated date in order to qualify for the Rule of75. 

The most recent actuarial valuation indicates that as of Januar)' 1, 2012 there were 3,972 active participants and 
9,088 inactive participants. The inactive participants include 1,341 deferred benefit retirees and 7,747 retired 
participants or beneficiaries of retired participants receiving benefits. 

· Amount of Normal Retirement Benefit 

The amount of an eligible retiree's annual pension is calculated by multiplying the years of eligible service times an 
annual multiplier times an.•annual salary that is typically based on an average of a certain number of final 
employment years as defined by ordinance and labor agreements. These multiplier percentages are determined by 
ordinance, collective bargaining agreement, and the ERS enrollment date. At this time the multiplier percentage can 
be 1.5%, 1.6%, 2.0% or 2.5%. As of 2012, the majority of employees will have L6% as their multiplier for all 
future years of service, pending the outcome of the litigation referenced above. Members of the Deputy Sheriffs' 
Union and non-represented deputy sheriffs have maintained a 2.0% or 2.5% multiplier, depending on their 
enrollment date. The multiplier percentage for all years of service prior to 2012 is dependent on the employee's 
ERS enrollment date, and the pension changes made effective in 2001. Employees who were subject to the 1.5% 
multiplier for service years prior to 2012 were provided an additional 0.5%, or an effective rate of2.0%. Employees 
who were subject to the 2.0% multiplier for service years prior to 2012 were provided a bonus that gave them an 
effective rate of2.5%. · 

Retired empioyees receive a simple COLA of 2 percent of original benefit increase per year. There are also 
accidental or ordinary disability, deferred, early retirement and survivo~s' pensions. The maximum benefit payable 
to a participant, excluding any post-retirement increases, cannot exceed 80 percent of the participant's final average 
monthly salary. 
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History of Changes Since 2001 to Pension Benefits 

Since 2001, a series of pension enhancements as well as rollbacks have occurred. Eligible participants receive 
benefits as determined by their hire date and by ~eir respective labor agreements. The following bullet points 
identify the significant changes that impacted the ERS. 

• In 2001, the vesting requirement was set to five years. Most participants are immediately vested at age 60. 
No changes have been made to these provisions. · 

• A bonus of 7.5 percent per year, up to a maximum of 25 percent, was added to the fmal average salary for 
non-represented sheriffs participants who joined the system before January 1, 1982, or July I, 1995 for a 
non-represented deputy sheriff. 

• A change to the service credit allowed all service credit earned after January 1, 2001 to be credited with an 
additional 0.5 percent multiplier for those. non-represented deputy sheriffs whose membership in the ERS 
began after December 31 , 1981, or June 30, 1995 for a non-represented deputy sheriff. For general 
employe~s, the benefit became 2% of final average salary per year of service, wl?lch benefit was not to 
exceed 80%. The average salary for participants who joined the system prior to January 1, 1982 (see prior 
bullet point), was to be multiplied by 125%. 

• Again in 2001, for all non-represented deputy sheriffs, a backdrop benefit option was added that provided a 
lump sum cash payment for the total of monthly benefits, adjusted for cost-of-living increases and 
compounded interest, that the member would be entitled to from a prior (backdrop) date to the date the· 
member terminates employment. The backdrop date may not be prior to the earliest date a member was 
eligible to retire. Since that date, new hires are no longer eligible for the backdrop benefit. Members not 
eligible for backdrop benefits are elected officials, members of the Deputy Sheriffs' Union, and non­
represented employees hired after March 15, 2002. All other unions adopted a similar rule to make new 
employees ineligible for this benefit at dates ranging from November 4, 2005 to June 19, 2007. 

• In 2010, the normal retirement age for non-represented employees hired after January 1 was increased to 
age 64. This was also included in new labor contracts with three bargaining units: the Association of ' 
Milwaukee County Attorneys, District No. 10 International Association of Machinists and Aerospace 
Workers, and Technicians, Engineers and Architects of Milwaukee County. This change was applied to the 
remaining bargaining units in 2012, except the Deputy Sheriffs' Union and the Firefighters Union. 

• In 2010, the multiplier was reduced from 2.0% to 1.6% for all non-represented employees. This multiplier 
· was also included in new labor contracts with the following bargaining units: Association of Milwaukee 

County Attorneys, District No. 10 International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, and the 
Technicians, Engineers and Architects of Milwaukee County. It is intended to be applied to all bargaining . 
units except the Deputy Sheriffs's Union and the Firefighters Union. In 2011, the pension multiplier 
reduction was applied to the largest union, Milwaukee District Council 48 AFSCME, AFL-CIO and 
affiliated locals ("AFSCME DC-48"), with the reduction being applied to the Milwaukee BuHding and · 
ConstrUction Trades Council AFL-CIO, and Federation of Nurses and Health Professionals, Local5101, 
AFT, AFL-CIO (the ·~urses Union") bargaining units in 2012. 

• For 2011, an employee contribution of 4% was included for all non-represented employees. As a result of · 
a change in State Statute, the County implanted a pension contribution equal to half of the annual required 
contribution, or 4.7% for non-public safety, and 6.59% for public safety. The new 4.7% rate was applied to ·· 
non-represented employees and the county's largest union, AFSCME DC-48, in August 201 L The 
remaining represented bargaining units, except the Firefighters Union, saw the contribution increase in ' 
January 2012. The Deputy Sheriffs' Union and Nurses Union implemented the change through 
negotiation. 

• For 2012 and 2013, the pension contribution rates were 4.7 and 4.4 percent respectively for non-public 
safety employees. 
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Some of the enhancements described above resulted in County employees retiring at an accelerated schedule. The 
increase in retirements in recent years is a result of continuing changes in active benefits and the discussion of 
continuing changes in pension benefits. The table below shows annual retirements since 2002. 

Year Number of Retirements 
2002 350 
2003 290 
2004 750 
2005 186 
2006 219 
2007 296 
2008 243 
2009 318 
2010 344 
201 1 557 
2012 166 

The accelerated retirements which followed the pension changes effective in 2001 have increased backdrop 
payments. As of November 15, 2010, the County bas paid out a total of $153.3 million in lump-sum payments for 
the backdrop to 1,230 individuals upon retirement. 

ln an effort to address the growing unfunded prior service liability, stabilize annual contribution levels and to 
achieve budgetary savings, the 2007 budget created a Pension Obligation Bond Work Group ("POB Work Group") 
consisting of staff from the Dep~ent of Administrative Services, Corporation Counsel, Department of Audit, a 
County Board Fiscal and Budget analyst, an actuary, outside bond counsel and financial advisors. The POB Work 
Group was charged with developing the proposal for the issuance of pension obligation bonds for review and 
approval by the Committee on Finance, Personnel and Audit, the. County Boru:d and the County Executive. 

In March of 2009 the County issued $400 million in pension notes (the Series 2009A Notes and the Series 2009B 
Notes) to fund a portion of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The plan of finance for the $400 million in 
pension notes was for an overall level debt service structure. In conjunction with the pension financing the County 
also created a pension-related Stabilization Fund. 

Including the contribution from the 2009 pension note proceeds, the most recent valuation of the ERS dated January 
I, 2013 indicates an 86.8 percent funded status. This funded ratio is based on an actuarial value of assets of 
$1,767,843,000 and an actuarial accrued liability of $2,035,571,000. The County expects to increase the 
contribution rate over the next five years. 

ln addition, the County received a settlement of as a result of a lawsuit with Mercer, Inc. over the pension changes in 
200 I. Per County Board policy, the net settlement proceeds of $29 million, which have been reduced by attorney 
fees and other administrative costs, will be amortized over a 5-year period. 

The following table indicates projected and actual actuarial required contribution and County contribution to the 
ERS for the years 2002 - 2012. · 

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally) 
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Actuarial Required Contribution vs. Actual Pension Contribution 

Annual Annual 
Required Required 

Contribution Contribution County 
Projected Actual Contribution 

Year ($millions}* ($ millions)* (S millions)* 
2002 ($0.50) $8.50 $2.60 

The County contribution included $15.0 million for the 2003 

2003 $20.50 $25.20 $34.00 contribution and an additional, unbudgeted $19.0 m.illion to cover 
contribution variances for 2001, 2002 and 2003. The additional $19.0 
million was funded by a State Land Trust Loan. 

2004 $40.10 $33.20 $34.90 
2005 $37.80 $37.60 $35.40 

2006 $45.90 $46.90 
Per County ordinance, the variance of $19.5 million berween the 

$27.40 actuarial contribution and actual contribution will be amortized over 
the next five years of p<:_nsion contributions. 
The small .change in the actuarial contribution for 2007 was due to a 

2007 $59.00 $52.40 $49.30 lowering of the payroll growth assumptions from 5.5 percent to 3.5 
percent, and a change in the disability assumption to reflect a higher 
percentage for accidental retirements versus ordinary retirements. 
This contribution anticipated the issuarice of pension notes to fund the . 
County's unfunded actuarial accrued liability. The budget includes 

2008 $49.70 $53.10 $39.40 $21.9 million for normal costs and $12.9 million to be used for 
amortization of the unfunded liability. The County's contribution 
also includes a contribution of $4.5 million for the creation and 
funding of a Pension Stabilization Fund. 
This contribution includes amortization of the unfunded actuarial 

2009 $25.86 $31.02 
liability of $8,959,996, normal cost of $2 I ,395,539, a contribution 

$457.02 from the sale of pension notes of $397,000,000, a contribution to the 
OBRA retirement plan of $660,925, and the contribution from the I 

settlement of an outstanding lawsuit of$29,000,000 
The contribution includes the amortization of the unfunded actuarial 

2010 $32.07 $30.25 $33.77 
accrued liability of $8,792,478, normal costs of $20,736,844, over 
contribution of $3,439,824 and a contribution for the OBRA ' 
retirement plan of $786,000. Employee contributions were only 
$75,584. 
The contribution includes the amortization of the unfunded actuarial 

2011 $ 31.60 $ 3Q.43 $ 33.61 
accrued liability of $10,141,127, normal costs of $19,480,089, over 
contribution of $1,968,000 and. a contnoution for the OBRA 
retirement plan of $2,022,000. Total employee contributions were .. 
$3,313,000 for2011. r; 
The contribution includes the amortization of the unfunded actuarial 

2012 $28.29 $29.29 $28.29 
accrued liability of $13,917,521, normal costs of $14,488,711, under j 
coptribution of (S988,000) and a contribution for the OBR...<\ 
retirement plan of $880,000. Total employee contributions were 
$9,000,000 for 2012. : 
The contribution includes the amortization of the unfunded actuarial .: 

2013 $30.9 $29.78 
accrued liability of $12,841,296, normal costs" of $16,577,149, over !' 

$30.9 contribution of $1 ,121,555 and a contribution for the OBRA ' 
retirement plan of $360,000. Total employee contributions are -project to be $8,000,000 2013. : 

! ~ 

* The County prepares its budget using the actuary's projected annual required contribution. The actual annual 1• 

required contribution· is not available until the actuarial valuation is completed during the current fiscal year. ·~ 
Therefore, the contribution amowtt the County budgets for and the final contribution amount the actuary (r. 
determines tpay vary. i ·; 

'j t 
**The 2012 County contribution is estimated to be the budget amount of $28.29 million. The actual amowtt will ~ 
be contributed by July 2013. :1·· 
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COMMUNITY CHARACTERISTICS 

Population, Income, and Employment Trends 

The January 1, 2012, population estimate for the County by the State of Wisconsin Department of Administration is 
948,322. The five most recent United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census decennial estimates 
for the County are presented in table below. 

Population Statistics 

Year Population 
20 10 947,735 
2000 940,164 
1990 959,275 
1980 964,988 
1970 1,054,249 

The Bureau of Economic Analysis provides estimates of per capita income data. Available data for the County, 
state and United States over the past five years are presented in the following table. 

Per Ca pita Personal Income 

Milwaukee State of 
Year County Wisconsin United Sta tes 
2012 Unavailable $40,537 $42,693 
2011 $38,881 39,575 4 1,560 
2010 37,950 38,010 39,791 
2009 37,057 36,859 38,637 
2008 37,738 38,172 40,947 

The Department of Workforce Development provides develops monthly estimates of the labor force, employment, 
unemployment, and unemployment rates for the County and the State of Wisconsin. The below table provides the 
average annual estimates over the past five years. 

Labor Force Statistics for Milwaukee C~unty (Not Seasonally Adjusted) 

Year 
2012 
2011 
2010 

200~ 
2008 

Labor Force 
460,067 
461,815 
461,074 
470,135 
469,061 

E mployment 
421,325 
420,200 
415,414 
424,919 
442,779 

Unemployment 
38,742 
4 1,615 
45,660 
45,216 
26,282 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development 
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U nemplovment Rate 
Milwaukee County State of Wisconsin 

8.4% 6.9% 
9.0% 
9.9% 
9.6% 
5.6% 

7.5% 
8.5% 
8.7% 
4.8% 

.. 



Location and Transportation System .i 
i 

The County's location on Lake Michigan, near the nation's geographic center and in· close proximity to the Chicago 
1
1 

metropolitan area, provides many logistical advantages. The County has a well-developed arterial street and 
highway system, including four interstate highways, three major U.S. highways and 17 state highways. 

Freight service is provided to other metropolitan areas by numerous trucking establishments and two major 
railroads, the1Union Pacific and Canadian Pacific. Passenger rail service is available from Amtrak, and national and 
inter-city bus lines also serve the County. Milwaukee is also a major Great Lakes port. Approximately 900,000 
tons of salt, 500,000 tons of cement and cement products, 600,000 tons of coal, and 50,000 tons of specialty 
products come through the port on an annual basis. The port also serves as the third largest exporter of grain in the 
Great Lakes. 

Passenger air service is available through GMIA. Approximately 32 cities are served non-stop or direct, and 
connections are available to cities throughout the world. A total of7,515,070 passengers used GMIA in 2012. For 
more information on GMIA, see "COUNTY GOVERNMENT- Services Provided by the County" herein. 

Education 

The County is home to a number of colleges and universities, including: Alverno College, Cardinal Stritch 
University, Marquette University, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee Area Technical College, Milwaukee 
School of.Engineering, Mount Mary College, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee and Wisconsin Lutheran College. 

Business Outlook Survey 

According to the Milwaukee Metropolitan Association of Commerce Business Outlook Survey, First Quarter, 2013, 
61 percent of area businesses surveyed expected sales increases in 2013, but business optimism has been trending 
downward since its post-recession high in the second quarter 2012. For the first quarter 2013, as compared to first 
quarter 2012, 49 percent of businesses surveyed projected sales increases, while 44 percent projected profit gains. 
Employment gains were expected to be modest with 39 percent of companies surveyed predicting employment 
increases for firSt quarter 2013, as compared to first quarter 2012. The survey contains responses from 141 
Milwaukee area fmns, employing more than 64,300 people. 

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.) 
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Larger Area Private-Sector E mployers 

Approximate 

Com(!an~ Business Descri(!tion Em(!loyment 

Aurora Health Care Inc. Health Care System 31,000 
Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare Health Care System 8,699 
Roundy's Supermarkets Inc. Retail Supermarkets 8,700 
Froedert & Community Health Health Care System 8,900 
The Medical College of Wisconsin Private Medical School 5,492 
Northwestern Mutual Insurance, Investment Products 5,000 
ProHealth Care Inc Health Care System 4,716 
Columbia St. Mary's Health System Health Care System 4,429 
Children's Hospital Health Care System 3,726 
Rockwell Automation Inc Industrial Automation Products 4,273 
BMO Harris Bank Bank Holding Company 4,070 
Wisconsin Energy Corp Electric & Natural Gas Utility 4,005 
Johnson Controls Inc Control Systems, Batteries & Auto Interiors 3,658 
US BankNA Banking Services 3,540 
Wells Fargo Banking & Financial Services 3,500 
Goodwill Industries Training Programs, Retail, & Food Service 3,215 
Harley-Davidson Inc Motorcycles & Accessories 2,771 
Marquette University University 2,767 
Bon-Ton Department Stores Department Stores 2,500 
Extendicare Health Services Skilled Nursing Homes 2,500 
Potawatomi Bingo Casino Casino 2,480 
Briggs & Stratton Corp Small Gasoline Engines 2,300 
Chase Global Financial Services 1,789 
Rexnord Corp Power Transmission Equipment 1,600 
Cargill Meat Solutions Meat Processor 1,600 
The Marcus Corp Theaters and Hotel Properties 1,585 
Journal Communications Inc Diversified Media Company 1,403 
MillerCoors LLC Beer Brewery 1,400 
Caterpillar Inc., (Joy Global Inc) Manufactures & Distributes· Mining Equip 1,341 
Patrick Cudahy Inc. Manufacturer of Processed Meats 1,340 
Assurant Health Health Insurance 1,264 
Robert W Baird Asset Management and Capital Markets 1,234 
Brady Corp Manufacturer ofldentification Materials 1,060 

Source: The Business Journal of Greater Milwaukee, Book of Lists 

:; 
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Major Industrial Taxpayers in the County 

Name of Company 
General Electric 
Harley -Davidson 
MillerCoors 
Caterpillar 
Sigma Aldrich Corp. 
Journal Communications 
Rockwell Automation 
Briggs & Stratton Corp. 
Rex.nord Industries 

· Brady Worldwide Inc. 
Palennos Properties LLC 
P & H Mining Equipment 
Quad/Graphics Inc. 
VTLC Development LLC 
P.P.G. Industries Inc. 
Patrick Cudahy 
All Glass Aquarium 
Dentice, Joseph & Ellen 
Hondo Incorporated 
Bostik Inc. 
Badger Meter, Inc. 
Krones Inc . 
Bapista's Bakery Inc. 
Iogeteam Inc. 
Ball Corporation 
Alliance Development 

Type of Business or Services 
Manufacturer, medical equipment 
Manufacturer, motorcycles 
Manufacturer, beer and alumi..Uum cans 
Manufacturer, mining equipment 
Manufacturer, specialty chemicals 
Publishing, printing and broadcasting 
Manufacturer, electrical/electronic products 
Manufacturer, small engines 
Manufacturer, power transmissions 
Manufacturer, safety and identification 
Distributor, frozen pizza 
Manufacturer, mining equipment 
Printing 
Real estate development 
Manufacturer, coatings and resins 
Manufacturer, processes meats 
Manufacturer, aquariums 
Real estate development 
Manufacturer, beverage containers 
Manufacturer, adhesives and sealants 
Manufacturer, usix).g flow measurement 
Manufacturer machines for packaging 
Manufacturer/Marketer, consumer foods 
Manufacturer, electrical equipment 
Provider of metal packaging 
Distributor 

Total2012 Milwaukee County Equalized Value (TID Included) 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Revenue 
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2012 Full 
Market Value 

$ 92,386,500 
90,376,900 
51,421,600 
50,777,500 
37,328,900 
.32,818,000 

31,761,700 
28,159,300 
21,872,800 
20,739,500 
17,757,200 
17,472,200 
16,855,500 
16,285,500 
14,525,200 

14031100 
13,316,000 
12,447,600 
10,551,200 
9,783,100 
9,400,300 
9,360,700 
9,335,700 
8,744,000 
7,475,400 
7,386,900 

$ 652,370,300 

$ 57,782,302,300 

% of County's 
20i2 Full 

Market Value 
0.16% 
0.16% 
0.09% 
0.09% 
0.06% 
0.06% 
0.05% 
0.05% 
0.04% 
0.04% 
0.03% 
0.03% 
0.03% 
0.03% 
0.03% 
0.02% 
0.02% 
0.02% 
0.02% 

. 0.02% 
0.02%. 

0.02% 
0.02% 
0.02% 
0.01% 
0.01% 
1.13% 
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Major Non-Industrial Taxpayers in the County 

Name of Company 
Bayshore Town Center LLC 
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Co 

US Bank Corp 
Mayfair Mall LLC 
Bre Southridge Mall LLC 
Mandel Group 
Metropolitan Associates 
Columbia St. Mary's 
Marcus Corp/Milw City Genter/Pfister 
Centerpoint Properties 
NNN 41 1 East Wisconsin LLC 
Wal-Mart/Sam's Club 
Towne Realty 
100 E·Wisconsin Ave Joint Venture 
Aurora Health 
BMO Harris Bank N.A. 
Riverbend Place 
Flanders Westborough 
Wheaton Franciscan Services 
LSOP LLC 
Inland Wester Midtown 
Gormon&Co. 
875 East Wisconsin- Vanguard Advisors 
Dayton-Hudson 
Park Lafayette Apts 

TyPe of Business 
Real Estate 
Insurance 
Banking 
Shopping Mall 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Health Care 
Hotels, Theaters 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Retailer 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Health Care 
Banking 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Health Care 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Real Estate 
Retailer 
Real Estate 

Total2012 Milwaukee County Equalized Value (TID Included) 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Revenue 

31 

2012 Full 
Market Value 

$ 313,599,377 
311,899,656 
263,198,674 
256,809,740 
155,498,182 
126,773,908 
122,244,615 
112,183,248 
110,449,491 
97,150,010 
93,719,721 
91,579,873 
86,651,099 
80,807,026 
72,344,009 
66,389,028 
61,502,911 
58,777,074 
58,737,064 
58,410,904 
56,438,442 

. 56,201,193 

56,052,604 
52,748,942 
52,535,607 

$ 2,872,702,398 

$ 57,782,302,300 

---iia~ES~------------. -. ---

% of County's 
2012 Full 

Market Value 
0.54% 
0.54% 
0.46% 
0.44% 
0.27% 
0.22% 
0.21% 
0.19% 
0.19% 
0.17% 
0.16% 
0.16% 
0.15% 
0.14% 
0.13% 
0.11% 
0.11% 
0.10% 
0.10% 
0.10% 
0.10% 
0.10% 
0.10% 
0.09% 
0.09% 
4.97% 



Major Construction Projects Planned and in Process in the County 

Construction Projects Located in the City of Milwaukee 
Estimated 

Project Name Munici~ali~ Project T;t:~e Project Costs 

Northwestern Mutual City of Milwaukee Commercial $ 400,000,000 
Marriott Hotel City of Milwaukee Commercial 27,831 ,000 
MSOE Soccer Stadium City of Milwaukee University 20,000,000 
North End Phase II City of Milwaukee Multi-Family Residential 17,875,000 
Junior House Lofts City of Milwaukee Multi-Family Residential 5,550,000 
Concordia Data Center City of Milwaukee University 5,010,000 

TOTAL $ 476,266,000 

Construction Projects Located in Other Municipalities 
' 

Estimated 
Project Name Munici~ali~ Project Type Project Costs 
Mayfair Collection City of Wauwatosa Commercial $40,000,000 
Mandel Village of Whitefish Bay Residential 28,000,000 
ABB City of Wauwatosa Commercial 15,500,000 
Wheaton-Franciscan- Med Office City of Franklin Commercial 13,000,000 -

Hotel Redevelopment City of West Allis Commercial 8,000,000 
Yellow Freight Site 
Redevelopment City of West Allis Office 7,500,000 
Sacred Heart a Monastery Lake City ofFranklin Residential 6,450,000 
UWM Accelerator City of Wauwatosa University/Commercial 6,000,000 i 

Deerwood Crossing Phase II Village of Brown Deer Residential 5,600,000 
Six Points Neighborhood 
Gomplex City of West Allis .. Residential 5,500,000 
Enclave @ Annex City of Wauwatosa Residential 5,000,000 
Meijer City ofWauwatosa Commercial N/A 
CVTI City of Wauwatosa Hospital N/A 

TOTAL $ 140,550,000 .• 

GRAND TOTAL $ 616,816,000 

Notes: 
. 

[I] Excludes projeets financed by counties, cities or villages. 

[2] All projects included in the table are either approved for construction or currently under construction. 

[3) At time of this publication the City of Oak Creek and Village of West Milwaukee had not responded to our information request. ' . 
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DEBT STRUCTURE 

Payment Record 

The County has never defaulted in the payment of the principal or interest on its debt obligations, nor has the County 
issued any refunding securities for the purpose of preventing default in principal or interest on its debt obligations. 

Bonds and Notes Authorized But Not Issued 

The County has authorized (but not issued) general obligation promissory notes in the principal amount of 
$14,215,000 pursuant to a Credit Assistance Agreement with Midwest Airlines, Inc. and Skyway Airlines, Inc. See 
"DEBT STRUCTURE - Other County Obligations" herein. 

General Obligation Debt by Issue 

The County's existing general obligatio~ debt by issue as of the issuance of the Bonds is as follows: 

General Obligation Debt by Issue 
Date of Amount Final Interest Rates Principal 

Note Issue Name of Obligation Issued Maturi9: Outstanding Outstanding 
1 07/0112003 Ref. Bonds, Series 2003A $ 100,025,000 08/01/2017 3.30%- 3.90% $ 69,345,000 

02/01/2004 Bonds, Series 2004A 26,950,000 08/01/2013 3.625% 1,855,000 
11/01/2005 ~onds, Series 2005A 24,610,000 12/01/2014 4.00% 3,350,009 

2 11/0112005 Ref. Bonds, Series 2005B 63,025,000 10/01/2015 5.00% - 5.25% 21,050,000 
04/01/2006 Bonds, Series 2006A 31,595,000 10/01/2021 5.00% 2:p55,ooo 
06/01/2007 Bonds, Series 2007 A 32,625,000 12/01/2022 4.00% - 4.25% 26,620,000 
05/0112008 Bonds, Series 2008A 30,860,000 12/01/2023 3.50%- 4.25% 27,955,000 
04/02/2009 Taxable Pension Notes, Series 2009A 265,000,000 12/01/2028 4.14%- 6.84% 141,721,165 
08/0112009 Taxable Bonds, Series 2009C (BABs) 24,775,000 10/0l/2024 4.20%- 5.40% 24,775,000 

3 08/01/2009 Notes, Series 2009D 17,250,000 10/01/2016 2.00%- 2.625% 6,125,000 
11/15/2009 Taxable Bonds, Series 2009E (BABs) 30,365,000 . 08/01/2024 2.25%- 5.25% 30,365,000 
11/15/2009 Notes, Series 2009F 15,610,000 08/01/2019 2.00% - 3.50% 10,045,000 
05/01/2010 Taxable Bonds, Series 2010A (BABs) 22,725,000 10/01/2025 3.125%-5.10% 22,725,000 
05/01/2010 Notes, Series 2010B 12,325,000 10/0f/2018 2.00%- 3.00% 9,625,000 
12/2112010 Taxable Bonds, Series 2010C (BABs) 38,165,000 10/01/2026 1.55%- 5.50% 38,165,000 
12/2112010 Notes, Series 2010D 9,770,000 10/0112020 0.50% - 4.00% 8,825,000 

4 03/15/2011 Ref. Bonds, Series 2011A 35,095,000 10/01/2018 5.00% 3Q,455,000 
s 12/20/2012 Ref. Bonds, Series 2012 23,105,000 12/01/2020 4.00% 23,105,000 
6 02/12/2013 Taxable Pension Notes, Series 2013 138,730,000 1210112030 0.493%- 3.862% 138,730,000 
7 06127/2013 Taxab[e Ref. Bonds, Series 2013B 99,300,000 12/0112023 0.577%-3.539% 99,300,000 

Subtotal - Existing Debt $756,891,165 

08114/2013 Bonds,_ Series 2013A $ 26,935,000 09/0112023 2.00%- 3.00% $ 26,935,000 

TOTAL $783,826,165 

Notes regarding outstanding refunding debt are presented on the following page. 
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1. On July 1, 2003, the County issued $100,025,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds; Series 2003A, to 
restructure the County's debt service payment schedule and allow the County to meet other budgetary 
demands. The refunding bonds are included in the total general obligation debt, and the refunded bonds are 
excluded. The outstanding bonds are equal to the par amount of the bonds. The first principal payment on 
the bonds is due August 1, 2010. 

2. On November 17, 2005, the County issued $63,025,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 
2005B, to refund certain maturities totaling $63,865,000 of the County's outstanding General Obligation 
Building Bonds, Series 1997 A, General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 1997 A, General 
Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 1998A, General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 
1999A, and General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2000A. The refunding bonds are 
included in the total general obligation debt, and the refunded bonds are excluded. 

3. On August 12, 2009, the County issued $17,250,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 20090. 
A portion of the issue was utilized to refund certain maturities totaling $9,205,000 of the County's 
outstanding General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 1999A, and $740,000 of the County's outstanding 
General Obligation Museum Refundin"'g Bonds, Series 1999A. The refunding bonds are included in the 
total general obligation debt, and the refunded bonds are excluded. · 

4. On March 30, 2011, the County issued $35,095,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2011A. 
A portion of the issue was utilized to refund certain maturities totaling $12,500,000 of the County's 
outstanding General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2001A, $15,150,000 of the County's 
outstanding General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2002A, and $10,425,000 of the County's .. 
outstanding General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2003A. The .refunding bonds are 
included in the total general obligation debt, and the refunded bonds are excluded. 

5. On December 20, 2012, the County issued $23,105,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012. 
A portion of the issue was . utiliz~d to refund certain .maturities totaling $13,040,000 of the CoUnty's 
outstanding General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2004A, and $11,750,000 of the County's 
outstanding General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2005A. The refunding bonds are 
included in the total general obligation debt, and the refunded bonds are excluded. 

6. On February 12, 2013, the County issued $138,730,000 Taxable General Obligation Pension Promissory 
Notes, Series 201_3, to provide for the timely payment of principal of and interest on the County's 
outstanding $135,000,000 Taxable Pension Notes, Series 2009B on March 15, 2013. 

7: On June 27, 2013, the County issued $99,300,000 Taxable General Obligation Pension Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2013B. to provide for the purchase and retirement of a portion of the 2024 term maturity of the 
County's Taxable Gener;al Obligation Pension Promissory Notes, Series 2009A, dated April 2, 2009. The 
refunding bonds are included in the total general obligation debt, and the refunded notes are excluded. 

(fhe remainder of this page has peen left blank intentionally.) 
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General Obligation Annual Debt Service Schedule 

Existing Levy Supported Existing Airport Supported 

General Obligation Debt General Obligation Debt The Bonds TOTAL 

Year Princi[!al Interest Princi[!al Interest Princi[!al Interest Princi[!al Interest Debt Service 

2013 $60,998,041 $31,436,364 $1,099,579 $107,616 - - $62,097,620 $31,543,980 $93,641,600 
2014 73,012,479 28,502,146 1,103,156 71,330 $1,840,000 $739,287 75,955,635 29,312,763 105,268,398 

2015 • 56,496,828 26,172,156 301,836 33,823 2,790,000 669,150 59,588,664 26,875,129 86,463,793 

2016 54,718,371 24,399,062 298,706 22,957 2,790,000 613,350 57,807,077 25,035,369 82,842,446 

2017 53,536,369 22,625,444 297,588 11,606 2,790,000 557,550 56,623,957 23,194,600 79,818,557 

2018 45,926,001 20,764,076 - - 2,790,000 501,750 48,716,001 21,265,826 69,981,827 

2019 43,946,614 19,121,234 - - . 2,790,000 418,050 46,736,614 19,539,284 66,275,898 

2020 42,852,492 17,473,366 - - 2,790,000 334,350 45,642,492 17,807,716 63,450,208 

2021 42,293,327 15,747,397 - - 2,790,000 250,650 45,083,327 15,998,047 61,081,374 

2022 41,139,325 13,958,747 - - 2,790,000 166,950 43,929,325 14,125,697 58,055,022 

2023 39,806,076 12,183,317 - - 2,775,000 83,250 42,581,076 12,266,567 54,847,643 

2024 27,099,377 10,404,658 - - - - 27,099,377 10,404,658 37,504,035 

2025 30,825,000 9,037,043 . - - - - 30,825,000 9,037,043 39,862,043 

2026 30,300,000 7,266,862 - - - - 30,300,000 7,266,862 37,566,862 

2027 27,030,000 5,485,033 - - - - 27,030,000 5,485,033 32,515,033 

2028 28,580,000 3,864,251 - - - - 28,580,000 3,864,251 32,444,251 

2029 30,390,000 2,132,983 - - - - 30,390,000 2,132,983 32,522,983 

2030 24,840,000 959,321 - - - - 24,840,000 959,321 25,799,321 

·Total $753,790,299 $271,533,459 $3,100,866 $247,332 $26,935,000 $4,334,337 $783,826,165 $276,115,128 $1,059,941,293 
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Approximately 69.2 percent of County's general obligation debt (including the effects of the Bonds) will be r~tired , . 
within ten years. This rate of principal repayment includes general obligation debt issued by the County on behalf 
of the County airports. Approximately $3.1 million of the County's outstanding general obligation debt is for the 
airports. Pursuant to the lease agreements with the airlines, signatory airlines are obligated to pay all principal and 
accrued interest payments on debt issued on behalf of the airports. 

Airport Revenue Debt . 

The County owns ·and operates General Mitchell International Airport ("GMIA") and Lawrence J. Timmerman 
Airport (collectively the "Airport System"). The County has eleven separate series of outstanding general airport 
revenue bonds ("GARBS") as presented in the following table. 

Airport Re~enue Debt by Issue 

Date of Amount Final Interest Rates Principal 
Issue GARB Issue Issued Maturi~ Outstanding Outstanding 

01/01/2003 Airport Revenue, Series 2003A $ 7,125,000 12101/2022 4.625%- 5.50% $ 3,750,000 

03/31/2004 · Airport Revenue, Series 2004A 37,360,000 1210112029 4.50%- 5.00% 29,545,000 

1212212005 Airport Revenue, Series 2005A 29,010,000 12/01/2030 4.00%- 5.25% 28,240,000 

1212212005 Airport· Revenue Ref., Series 2005B 7,755,000 12101/2014 4.00% 1,970,000 

11/16/2006 Airport Revenue, Series 2006A . 25,665,000 12/01/2031 4.00% - 5.00% 22,300,000 

11116/2006 Airport Revenue Ref., Series 2006B 5,020,000 12/01f2015 5.00% 1,065,000 

11/15/2007 Airport Revenue, S~ries 2007 A 13,445,000 12/01/2032 4.125% - 5.00% 11,875,000 

12/10/2009 Airport Revenue, Series 2009A 12,690,000 12/01/2032 3.00%-5.125% 12,690,000 

12/10/2009 Airport Revenue Ref., Series 2009B 2,350,000 12/0l/2014 3.00%-4.00% 915,000 ' 

10/1412010 Airport Revenue, Series 201 OA 31,570,000 12/01/2034 3.00%- 5.00% 31,570,000 

10/14/2010 Airport Revenue Ref., Series 2010B 51,590,000 12101/2023 4.00%- 5.00% 43,600,000 

Total $187,520,000 

The revenues of the Airport System are derived from rentals, fees and charges paid by users of the Airport System, 
including airlines (the "Signatory Airlines") that have agreed in the Airline Leases to pay for their usage of GMIA 
based on a series of formulae designed to allow the County to recover its cost of providing facilities and services for 
the Airport System. The costs are apportioned among the Signatory Airlines based' on usage. The principal and 
interest on the County's airport revenue obligations are payable solely from, and are secured equally and ratably by 
a pledge of ~et revenues derived from the Airport System. 

Other County Obligations 

In addition to issuing general obligation and airport revenue debt as described above, . the County has undertaken 
other obligati~ns in the form of financial ~tees for other entities. These include the following: 

Midwest Airlines, I nc. Pursuant to a Credit Assistance Agreement dated as of October 1, 2003, between the County 
and Midwest Airlines, Inc., and Skyway Airlines, Inc., the County entered into a Standby Reimbursement . 
Agreement with U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank") to provide for the guarantee of the obligations of 
Midwest and Skyway with respect to the letters of credit issued by U.S. Bank to support the $8,300,000 City of 

.,_. Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Variable Rate Demand Industrial Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 (Midwest Express Airlines, 
Inc. Project) and the $7,000,000 City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Variable Rate Demand Industrial Development 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 (Skyway Airlines Project). The County has authorized (but not issued) promissory 
notes with a principal amount of$14,215,000 for the Reimbursement Agreement and Credit Assistance Agreement. 
The Standby R~imbursement Agreement with U.S. Bank has been extended through August 15, 2013. Upon the 
extension of the credit agreements, Midwest began paying down the principal outstanding on the debt. As of August 
2012, the principal outstanding on the debt is $13,215,000. In 2009 Republic Airways Holding, Inc. purchased· 
Midwest Airlines, Inc. · A proposal was made to transfer the credit assistance agreement from Midwest Airlines to 
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Frontier Airlines, a subsidiary of Republic Airways. This transfer has not occurred. The County's guarantee is 
supported by a mortgage on the two hangars, and a trust account with a value as of December 31, 2011 of 
$5,944,000. As principal payments are made on the debt, the County is required to return a prorated portion of the 
funds in the trust account back to ·the State of Wisconsin and Racine County, which provided the majority of the 
funds in the trust account. The County had returned $210,000 of the trust funds as of December 31, 2011. 

City of Wauwatosa Redevelopment Authority. In order to develop the Milwaukee County Research Park, the City 
of Wauwatosa created the Tax. Incremental District #2 ("TID #2") in 1994. In 1997, the Wauwatosa Redevelopment 
Authority issued $8,860,000 of redevelopment lease revenue bonds to fund infrastructure development costs in TID 
#2. The 1997 bonds were retired in 2007 with the proceeds of $6,200,000 redevelopment refunding lease revenue 
bonds. In 2012, the balance of the 2007 redevelopment refunding lease revenue bonds was retired. In August 2004, 
ilie County agreed to guarantee the payment of the principal and interest due on $24,500,000 of bonds issued by the 
City of Wauwatosa Redevelopment Authority to provide certain financial incentives totaling approximately 
$27,610,000 to a de:veloper in order to induce a corporation to move to a building constructed in the Milwaukee 
County Research Park. The County has agreed to guarantee the payment of the lease revenue bonds, if the tax 
increments generated by TID #2 are insufficient to pay the principal and interest due on the bonds. The outstanding 
amount of the 2004lease revenue bonds as of December 31,2012 was $14,425,000. 

Short-TermJ?.ebt 

The County has ·the authority to issue tax anticipation notes and revenue anticipation notes. The last time the County utilized 
either of these short-term financing options was 1994. The County has no outstanding short-term debt 

Future Financing 

The County has authoriZed the issuance of general airport revenue bonds and airport revenue refunding bonds in an 
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $63,500,000 for the construction of additions, extensions and 
improvements to the airport system along with the refunding of certain obligations of the County. 

It is anticipated that the bond issuances descnoed above will occur by fiscal year end. 

Legal Debt Limit 

The County has the power to incur indebtedness for County purposes specified by statute (Article 11, Section 3 of 
the WisconSin Constitution and Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes) in an aggregate amount, not exceeding 5 
percent of the equalized value of taxable property in the County, as last determined by the Wisconsin Department of 
Revenue. In general, such indebtedness may be in the form of bonds and promissory notes for various public 
purposes. 

The County's unused borrowing capacity after issuance of the Bonds will be ~as follows: 

2012 Equalized Value $ 
Legal Debt Limit (5% of Equalized Value) $ 

57,782,302,300 
2,889,115,115 

ExistingDebt $ 756,891,165 
Plus: The Notes 26,935,000 

---__..;~~~ 

Debt Outstanding $ 783,826,165 

Remaining borrowing capacity $ 2,105,288,950 
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General Obligation Indirect Del)t 1 

Outstanding Debt Percentage Amount Allocable 

Governmental Unit 12/31/2012 Within County To the County 

Villages: 

Village of Bayside $9,731,978 96.12% $9,354,377 

Village of Brown Deer 25,396,863 100.00% 25,396,863 

.Village of Fox Point 15,310,000 100.00% 15,310,000 

Village of Greendale 17,505,000 100.00% 17,505,000 

Village of Hales Comers 7,535,611 100.00% 7,535,611 

Village of River Hills 3,833,626 100.00% 3,833,626 

Village of Shorewood 43,514,497 100.00% 43,514,497 

Village of West Milwaukee 10,165,205 100.00% 10,165,205 

Village of Whitefish Bay 36,724,149 100.00% 36,724,149 

Villages Subtotal $ 169,716,929 $ 169;339,328 

Cities: 

City of Cudahy $21,590,000 100.00% s 21,590,000 

City ofFranklin 43,734,833 100.00% 43,734,833 

City of Glendale 15,387,690 100.00% 15,387,690 

City of Greenfield 35,646,066 100.00% 35,646,066 

City of Milwaukee 846,299,150 100.00% 846,299,150 

City of Oak Creek 23,410,000 100.00% 23,410,000 

City of South Milwaukee 1,663,500 100.00% 1,663,500 

City of St. Francis 100.00% 
City ofWauwatosa 60,205,000 100.00% 60,205,000 

City of West Allis 78,409,839 100.00% 78,409,839 

Cities Subtotal $ 1,126,346,078 $ 1,126,346,078 

School Districts: 

Brown Deer $ 22,967,332 100.00% s 22,967,332 

Cudahy 10,954,731 100.00% 10,954,731 

Fox Point -Bay side Schools 6,405,000 97.89% 6,269,855 
Franklin Public Schools 5,105,000 100.00% 5,105,000 

Glendale-River Hills 4,570,000 -100.00% 4,570,000 

Greendale 17,345,000 100.00% 17,345,000 

Greenfield 55,875,203 100.00% 55,875,203 
Maple Dale-Indian Hill 3,180,000 100.00% 3,180,000 
Milwaukee Area Technical College 118,560,000 82.02% 97,242,912 

Milwaukee Public 120,650,078 99.99% 120,638,013 
Nicolet High School 2,785,000 99.49% 2,770,827 

Oak Creek-Franklin 49,195,000 100.00% 49,195,000 
Shorewood 17,705,000 100.00% 17,705,000 

South Milwaukee 40,086,990 100.00% 40,086,990 
St. Francis 13,950,000 100.00% 13,950,000 
Wauwatosa 100.00% 
West Allis - West Milwaukee 29,234,983 93.57% 27,355,174 

Whitefish Bay 18,227,379 100.00% 18,227,379 

Whitnall 390,000 100.00% 390,000 

School District Subtotal $537, 186,696 $513,828,415 

Metropolitan Sewerage District $ 1,009,013,839 99.92% $ 1,008,206,628 

Total Overlapping Debt s 2,817,720,449 

1 
The proportion of indirect debt attributable to the. County was determined by calculating the ratio of equalized value of property located within . 

the County to outstanding debt. For the City of Milwaukee, property values located in Waukesha County are included in the allocation of City's 
outstanding debt. Milwaukee Public Schools does not have the ability to issue general obligation debt; the City of Milwaukee issues general 
obligation debt on its behalf. The amount shown is broken out for the City of Milwaukee that was issued for school purposes. 
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Direct and Indirect Debt 2 

.Milwaukee 
Metropolitan Cities, Villages, Total Direct and 

Dec. 31 Direct County Sewerage District Sch?ols, and Technical Indirect Debt 
Year Debt Debt College, Debt YearEnd 
2012 $745,865,000 $ 1,009,013,839 $ 1,833,249,703 $ 3,588,128,542 
2011 816,346,000 970,279,000 1,759,392,000 3,546,01 7,000 
2010 880,648,000 983,785,000 1,691,637,000 3,556,070,000 
2009 859,194,000 892,068,541 1,526,898,252 3,278,160,793 

2008 427,685,000 906,086,611 1,532,230,557 2,866,002,168 

Direct and Indirect Debt as Percent of Equalized Value and Per Capita 

Equalized Total Percent of Total Percent of 
Value Direct Equalized Per Direct and Equalized Per 

Year Value Indirect Debt Value 
2012 948,322 $57,782,302,300 $745,865,000 1.29% 787 $3,588,128,542 6.21% 3,784 
2011 948,369 61,099,028,600 816,346,000 1.34% 861 3,546,017,000 5.80% 3,739 
2010 947,735 63,403,510,200 880,648,000 1.39% 929 3,556,070,000 5.61% 3,752 
2009 93 1,830 66,836,154,500. 859,194,000 1.29% 922 3,278,160,793 4.90% 3,518 
2008 938,4~0 68,224,068,500 427,685,000 0.63% 456 2,866,002,168 4.20% 3,054 

. . . . 
2 

Direct County Debt reflects all general obligation debt of the County, including general obligation debt supported by Airport revenues. The 
County:s $135,000,000 Taxable Pension Note Anticipation Notes, Series 20098 were included in the Direct County Debt for years 2009, 2010, 
201 1,_ and 2012 as these obligations were issued in anticipation of the issuance of general obligation long-term debt, which was subsequently 
doncm 2013. 
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Tax Assessment 

The valuation of all real and personal property is the responsibility of the 19 city and village assessors within the 
County with the exception of real and personal manufacturing property. The valuation of manufacturing property is 
the responsibility of the Wisconsin Department of Revenue. 

Assessments are made as of January 1st of each year in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes. The 
law requires that all property subject to assessment be valued in accordance with procedures set forth in the 
Wisconsin Property Assessment Man~al. Assessments must be based on actual view or from the best information 
that the assessor can practicably obtain, and be at the full value, which could ordinarily be obtained at private sale. 

Wisconsin courts have determined that the constitutional requirement for uniformity of assessment is met even 
though the assessment in question may be less than full value, provided all property within the taxing district is 
assessed at the same approximate level. Beginning in 1986, all municipalities have been required to assess taxable 
property at a minimum of 90 percent of state equalized values at least once every five years. 

The assessment of a class of property may also be lowered to obtain uniformity. This procedure is also utilized by 
the Wisconsin Department of Revenue-to equate full value assessments of manufacturing property to the local level 
of all taxable non-manufacturing assessments. 

The State of Wisconsin equalizes local assessments to full values. This equalized valuation is the basis used in 
computing the five-percent state constitutional debt limitation. 

Equalized Valqes Last Five Years (in Millions ofDoUarsi 

2008 2009 2010 20II 2012 

Residential $44,934 $43,426 $40,953 $39,498 $36,873 

Conunercial 19,653 19,907 18,923 18,266 17,678 

Manufacturing 1,552 1,487 1,520 1,504 1,493 

Other 31 29 27 29 33 

Total Real Estate $66,170 $64,849 $61,423 $59,297 $56,077 

Personal Property 2,054 1,987 1,980 1,802 1,705 

Total Real Estate and Personal Property $68,224 $66,836 $63,403 $61,099 $57,782 

Adjustment for TID (Tax Incremental Districts) (2,952) {3, 157) (2,673) (2,547) (2,252) 

Net Real Estate and Personal Property $65,272 $63,679 $60,730 $58,552 $55,530 

Population 938,490 931,830 947 ;735 948,369 948,322 

Equalized Value Per Capita (in Dollars) $69,550 $71,726 $66,900 $64,425 $60,931 

Source: Wise~nsin Department ofRevenue, Statistical Report ofProperty Valuations. 
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Property Tax Levies and Collections Last Five Years (In Millions of Dollars)3• 
4 

Levy Uncollected Uncollected 
For Total Property Taxes Property Taxes 

Budget Property Turned Over as Percentage 
Year Tax Levy to the County of Total Levy 
2012 $ 1,071.8 not available not available 
2011 1,058.8 14.2 1.34% . 
2010 1,055.7 ' 14.2 1.34% 
2009 1,039.0 15.8 1.52% 
2008 1,008.4 15.4 1.52% 

Total taxes levied include municipal levies, assessments and charges. The individual municipalities collect these 
taxes until July 31st of the budget year. The portion of the total City of Milwaukee levy strictly for County purposes 
is app~oxim.ately 17 percent of total taxes for the 2012 budgel year. · 

Property Tax Levies and Collections Last Five Years - City of Milwaukee (in Thousands of Dollars )5 

Collected for Levv Year Collections Total Collections to Date 

Taxes 

Levied for Total 
the Fiscal Percent Purchased Adjuste!f 

Year Purchase Total Current Original Delinquents Levy in Percentage 

Budget (Original and Adjusted Tax Levy Original Subsequent of Adjusted 

Year Lev;r~ Adjust Le~ Collections Collected Le~Year Years Amount Lev;r 

201 1 $295,967 $35,814 $331,781 $284,489 96.12% $15,702 $300,191 90.48% 
2010 291,943 33,752 325,695 281,099 96.29 16,324 $15,859 313,282 96.19 

2009 276,186 . 34,594 310;780 265,691 96.20 18,027 22,998 306,716 98.69 
2008 286,180 36,740 322,920 277,119 96.83 23,949 20,635 321,703 99.62 
2007 2?5,319 29,853 295,172 257,347 97.00 18,577 18,284 294,208 99.67 

Source: City of Milwaukee Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, 2011. 

The City of Milwaukee and the County have entered into an intergovernmental cooperation agreement, whereby the 
city purchases all unpaid County taxes in February of the first collection year, but periodically remits taxes until the 
end of July that are considered on time through the installment payment plan. The city also collects delinquent taxes 
levied by the City of Milwaukee, the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District, the Milwaukee Area Technical 
College, the Milwaukee Public Schools, and the State ofWisconsin levied in the City of Milwaukee. 

3 
Tax lc~ amounts include taxes for each school district, city or village, sewerage district, technical college and the County for the 18 suburban 

:;nunicipalities. See "Property Tax Levies and Collections Last Five Years- City ofMilwaukee". . . · 

Total Tax Collections During the Year includes collections for the current fiscal year and delinquent collections from any year during the past 
~en years. 

Purchase and Adjust column is included because the City of Milwaukee purchases delinquent taxes from other units (the County, Milwaukee 
Metropolitan Sewerage District, Milwaukee Area Technical College, Milwaukee Public Schools, and the State of Wisconsin). . . 
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Property Ta.x Rates for County Levies 

In November of each year, the County Board adopts an annual budget for the ensuing calendar year. At that time 
levies on real and personal property are set. The information provided below reflects the budget year for which 
taxes are to be use<L not the year in which taxes are levied. For example, information listed below for 2013 
represents the 2012 property tax levy used to finance the County's 2013 budget. The County Board adopted the 
2013 budget on November 14, 2012. The levies summarized below include the state forestry tax and · other 
administrative levies used for regional planning and other non-general County purposes. 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

General County Puiposes $325.1 $ 328.6 $ 334.0 $339.4 $ 337.1 
Co\Ultywide Emergency Medical Services 3.0 
Colmty Sales Tax Credit (67.4) (65.4) (64.4) (64.0) (60.8) 

State Forestry Taxes/Other Administrative Levies 12.4 12.3 11.6 11.2 10.6 

Total N ei Colmty Taxes 270.1 275.5 281.2 286.6 289.9 

General County Puiposes 4.98 5.16 5.50 5.79 6.07 
Co\Ultywide Emergency Medical Services 0.05 
County Sales Tax Credit (1.03) (1.03) ( 1.06) (1.09) (1.1 0) 

Net General County Purposes 3.95 4.13 4.44 4.70 5.02 

State Forestry Taxes/Other Administrative Levies 0.18 0.19 0.18 0.18- 0.18 

Total Net Co\Ulty Taxes 4.13 4.32 4.62 4.88 5.20 

Levy Limits 

Section 66.0602 of the Wisconsin Statutes imposes a limit on property tax levies by cities, villages, towns and 
counties. No city, village, town or county is permitted to increase its tax levy by a percentage that exceeds its 
valuation factor (which is defined as a percentage equal to the greater of the percentage change in the political . 

· subdivision's January 151 equalized value due to new construction less improvements removed or zero percent). The 
base amount in any year to which the levy limit applies is the actual levy for the immediately preceding year. This 
levy limitation is an overall limit, applying to levies for operations as well as for other purposes. 

A political suodivision that did not levy its full allowable levy in the prior year can carry forward the difference 1 
between the allowable levy and the actual levy, up to a maximum of 1.5% of the prior year's actual levy. The use of· 
carry forward lt~vy adjustment needs to be approved by a majority vote of the political subdivision's governing body . 
(except in the case of towns) if the amount of carry forward levy adjustment is less than or equal to 0.5% and by a · 
super majority vote of the political subdivisi~n's governing body (three-quarters vote if the governing body is 
comprised offive or more members, two-thirds vote if the governing body is comprised offewer than five members) 
(except in the case of towns) if the amount of the carry forward levy adjustment is greater than 0.5% up to the . 
maximum increase of 1.5%. For towns, the use of the carry forward levy adjustment needs to be approved by a 
majority vote of the annual town meeting or special town meeting after the town board has adopted a resolution iJ?. 
favor of the adjustment by a majority vote if the amount of carry forward levy adjustment is less than or equal to ' 
0.5% or by two-thirds vote or more if the amount of carry forward levy adjustment is greater than· 0.5% up to the.' 
maximum of 1.5%. · 
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Special provisions are made with respect to property taxes levied to pay general obligation debt service. Those are 
described below. ln addition, the statute provides for certain other exclusions from and adjustments to the tax levy 
limit. Among the items excluded from the limit are amounts levied for any revenue shortfall for debt service on a 
revenue bond issued under Section 66.0621. Among the adjustments permitted is an adjustment applicable when a 
tax increment district terminates, which allows an amount equal to the prior year's allowable levy multiplied by 50% 
of the political subdivision's percentage growth due to the ~strict's termination. 

With respect to general obligation debt service, the following provisions are made: 

(a) lf a political subdivision's levy for the payment of general obligation debt service, including debt service 
on debt issued or reissued to fund or refund outstanding obligations of the political subdivision and interest 
on outstanding obligations of the political subdivision, on debt originally authorized before July 1, 2005, is 
less in the current year than in the previous year, the political subdivision is required to reduce its levy limit 
in the current year by the amount of the difference between the previous year's levy and the current year's 
levy unless the political subdivision does not uti.lize the "unused levy'' provision of the local levy limit 
statute. 

(b) For obligations authorized before July l , 2005, if the amount of debt service in the preceding year is less 
than the amount,...of debt service needed in the current year, the levy limit is increased by the difference 
betw~n the two amounts. 

(c) The ·levy limits do not apply to property taxes levied to pay debt service on general obligation debt 
authorized on or after July 1, 2005 . 

The Bonds were authorized after July I, 2005. 

Property Tax Collections 

Real estate and p"ersonal property taxes become due as of January 3 151 of each year. Taxpayers may pay their 
property taxes in installments. The number of installment payments varies for each individual municipality. 
Municipalities initially collect all property taxes including county and school taxes. On or before January 15111 and 
February . 15111

, the city or village treasurer settles with other taxing jurisdictions including the Co~ty for all 
collections through December and January respectively. ln municipalities that have authorized the payment of real 
property taxes in three or more installments, the city or village treasurer additionally settles with the other taxing 
jurisdictions including the County on the 15th day of each month following the month in which an installment 
payment is required. The County subsequently has a tax settlement with the municipalities in August of each year. 
The County exclusively purchases all uncollected real property taxes from the municipality, issues a tax certificate 
and assumes the collection responsibility. As a last resort, the County Treasurer can foreclose after approximately 
two years. A tax lien is the first lien against real estate and remains valid for eleven years. The County maintains a 
Reserve for Taxes Receivable equal to all non-current taxes remaining due. 

The tax collection procedure within the City of Milwaukee is substantially different than the procedure outlined 
above. The city has ten installments with the County portion being collected by the seventh payment. The city and 
the County entered into an intergovernmental cooperation agreement, whereby the city purchases all unpaid County 
taxes in February of the first collection year and retains the interest and penalty collected. lnterest on delinquent 
taxes is charged at a rate of one percent per month from the preceding February. In addition, a penalty of one-half 
of one percent is also charged each month. . 
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Other Major County Revenues . 

State Shared Revenues. The state distributes revenues collected from state taxes to municipal and county 
governments. These revenues can be used at the discretion of local governments to finance local services. Sections 
79.03 and 79.04 of the Wisconsin Statutes outline a formula to allocate these revenues to local government units. 
The allocation formula for counties was based on a number of variables including taxable property values, utility 
property values, population, property tax levies and certain user fees. The state has modified the state shared 
revenue formula so that the previous year's base, plus the utility payment, determines the budgeted amount. 

The utility payment component compensates local governments for costs they incur in providing services to public 
utilities. These costs cannot be directly recouped through property taxation since utilities are exempt from local 
taxation and instead are taxed by the state. 

The state changed the methodology for calculating the utility payment. Previously, the utility payments to cities and 
villages were computed at a rate of six mills ($6 per $1,000 of net book value), while payments to towns are 
computed at a rate of three mills. Payments to counties were computed at three mills if the property is located in a 
city or village or at six mills if the property is located in a town. Starting in 2009, municipalities and counties with 
power plants that became operational before January 1, 2004 receive a utility payment based on the higher of the net 
book value formula amount or the megawatt capacity formula amount. The estimated utility payment component 
for 2012 is $3,965,044. 

Shared revenue payments are made by the state with over 95% of the. amount being received by November. The 
2012 actual amount was approximately $31.1 million in net state shared revenues. The 2013 budget includes 
approximately $31.0 million in anticipated net state shared revenues. 

Beginning in 1999, in accordance with Section 48.561(3) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the Wisconsin Department of 
Administration reallocates $20,101,300 in state shared revenue to the state's Child Welfare Program to be used to 
defray state administrative costs for the program. 

County Sales and Use Tax. Beginning April 1, 1991, a 0.5 percent sales and use tax was enacted by Milwaukee 
County. The tax, which is authorized under Section 77.70 of the Wisconsin Statutes, is administered by the state and 
is imposed on goods and services, which are currently subject to a 5.0 percent state sales tax. The state distributes 
pf!.yments to the County seven to 11 weeks after the taxes are collected by retailers. Based on generally accepted 
accounting principles, fiscal year revenues are based on March through February payments from the state. 

County ordinances provide that sales tax revenue not budgeted for debt service payments may be used to pre-fund 
employee benefit costs, to fund anticipated or extraordinary annual increases in such costs or to supplement the 
Appropriation for Contingencies. ' , 

The County budgeted net sales tax collections, including amounts allocated to the capital improvements budget, of 
approximately $67.2 million for 2013 . · 

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.) 
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Milwaukee County 

r 
Five-Year Summary of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance- General Fund 

For The Years Ended December 31,2007 Through 2011 
(in Thousands of Dollars) 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 

Revenues: 

Intergovernmental Revenue $363,920 $355,455 . $364,721 $306,875 $279,289 

Sales Taxes 62,981 66,695 58,838 61,114 63,968 

Property Taxes 243,144 251,495 260,724 266,973 273,297 

Interest on Investment & Rents 17,741 15,425 10,108 10,276 9,545 

Charges for Services 337,014 367,915 333,104 374,063 391,496 

Fines and Forfeitures 3,571 3,375 3,245 3,284 2,932 

Licenses and Permits 552 978 453 640 453 

Other 26,922 21,203 22,525 32,948 41,201 

Total Revenues 1,055,845 1,082,541 1,053,7!8 1,056,173 1,062,181 

Expenditures: 

Legislative, Executive and Staff 36,094 26,688 22,191 21,309 21,433 

Courts and Judiciary 61,120 69,274 59,984 55,384 52,699 

General Govermental Services 7,886 7,628 7,395 6,747 6,746 

Public Safety 147,082 166,832 146,994 154,196 159,708 

Public Works and Highways 16,142 17,495 40,169 41,256 44,109 

Human Services 617,455 656,674 628,202 610,514 590,604 

Parks, Recreation and Culture 65,638 72,350 65,823 63,236 64,576 

Other 3,161 4,265 

Total Expenditures 954,578 1,021,206 970,758 952,642 . 939,875 

Excess ofReV~:oues 0\'er Expenditures 101,26? 61,335 82,960 103;531 122,306 

Other Financing S ources {Uses}: 

Capital Lease Issued 3,252 

Long-T errn Debt Issued 302 1,006 340 

Operating Transfers fo Other Funds (93,524) (64,093) (89,129) (102,603) (107,495) 

Total Other Financing Uses (93,524) (60,539) (88,123) (102,263) (107,495) 

Special Items: 

Proceeds from Le~-Sett\ement 29,000 

Contribution to Employees Retirement System (29,000) 

Total Special Items 

Excess of Revenues and Other F~ancing 

Sources Over (Under) Elqlenditures and Other · · · 

Financing Uses 7,743 796 (5,163) 1,268 14,811 

Fund Balance- J anuary 1: 40,531· 48,274 49,070 43,907 45,175 

Net Assets- December 31: s 48,274 $49,070 $43,907 $45,175 .$ 59,986 

• Restated the beginning balance of 2007 for the addition of Behavioral Health to the General fund. 

Source: Derived frorn Milwauk~e Counry Comprehensive Annual Fina11Ci~l Reports, 2007-201 1 ~ 
I. 
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i Milwaukee County i 

i Five-Year Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets - All Proprietary Funds 
I 

For The Years Ended December 31,2007 Through 2011 ' 

l 
(in Thousands of Dollars) 

: 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 

.t 
Operating Revenues: . Charges for Services $ 148,734 $ 197,294 $ 155,443 $ 163,293 $ 173,268 

' 
Other 4,564 3,702 3,464 6,196 4,660 

Total Operating Revenues 153,298 200,996 158,907 169,489 177,928 

Operating Expenses: 

Personnel Services 166,497 166,090 149,566 151,494 151,281 

Contra~tual Services 54,287 59,215 51,766 53,861 53,726 

Intra-County Services 12,452 16,320 13,096 14,270 13,748 ' 
Commodities 19,421 26,198 20,499 17,657 21,641 

Depreciation 34,778 34,589 30,123 30,857 35,871 

M aintenaoce 2,293 2,084 1,919 2,250 2,418 

Insurance 6,881 7,551 1,441 7,244 7,102 

Other 6,238 5,006 6,512 3,039 2,289 
~. 

Client Payments - -: - 4 -
I 

Total Operating Expenses 302,847 317,053 274,922 280,676 288,076 i 

Operating Income (Loss): (149,549) (116,057) (116,015) (111,187) (110,148) 

' 
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses): 

. Intergovernmental Revenues 83,099 89,385 90,773 91,246 91,153 

I <?ther Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 125 164 (12,231) 162 313 

j Net Interest Expense (7,872) (9,776) (9,858) (11,969) (12,214) 

I Total Nonoperating Revenues 75,352 79,773 68,684 79,439 79,252 
! 

! 
; Income (Loss) Before Operating Transfers (74,197) (36,284) {47,331) (3 1,748) (30,896) 

: 

Net Capital Contnbutions 13,511 13,291 18,565 49,100 53,055 

Net Operating Transfers From Other Funds 52,750 18,098 12,649 22,163 19,066 

Net Operating Transfers Out ~"'"' -- -- (6,716) (3,997) 

Net Income (Loss): (7,936) {4,895) (16,117) 32,799 37,228 
I 
! 
i Net Assets- JanuarY 1: 228,992• 221,056 216,161 200,044 232,843 

Net Assets- December 31: $ 221,056 $ 216,161 $200,044 $ 23_2,843 $ 270,071 

i 
• Restated the beginning balance of2007 for the addition of Behavioral Health to the General Fund. 

i 
Source: Derived from Milwaukee County Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports, 2007-2011 

I . ,. '. 
I .. 
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Milwaukee County 
2012 and 2013 Adopted Budgets 

2012 2013 
Adopted Adopted 

Budget Budget 

Expenditures 
Legislative & Executive $11,722,124 $9,444,460 
Administration 71,308,905 71,701,703 
Courts & Judiciary 62,747,399 64,151,592 
Public Safety 164,816,214 1 66,219,2~8 
General Government 7,934,458 13,208,783 
Transportation and Public Works 238,563,022 236,525,587 
Health & Human Services 544,350,646 575,664,436 
Parks, Recreation & Culture 73,684,851 74,086,248 
Debt Service 66,458,328 67,520,200 
County-Wide Non-Departmentals (46,161,168) (45,281,606) 
Capital Improvements 30,856,800 121,852,389 
Trust Funds 1,012,524 1,014,702 

Total Expenditures $1,227,294,103 $ 1,356,107,751 
,-

Revenues 
Operating 

Sales Tax $ 64,000,880 $ 60,789,514 
Bond Proceeds 10,000 10,000 
Other Direct Revenue 452,466,551 510,743,312 
State Shared Revenue 30,890,224 30,990,382 
Remaining State Revenue 240,285,256 220,165,717 
Total Federal Revenue 63,421,162 68,351,076 
Indirect Revenue 71,727,015 60,956,105 
Prior Year Surplus (Deficit) 8,179 5,538,786 

Operating Revenue Subtotal $ 922,809,267 $ 957,544,892 

Capital Improvement 
Sales Tax 445,000 6,402,766 
Bond Proceeds 6,117,500 73,708,361 
Other Direct Revenue 14,994,575 9,604,875 
Remaining State Revenue 1,042,075 8,849,691 
Total Federal Revenue 6,514,850 20,675,970 

Capital Improvement Revenue Subtotal $ 29,114,000 $ 119,241,663 

Property Tax Levy $ 275,370,836 $ 279,321,196 

Total Revenues $ 1,227,294,103 $ 1,356,107,751 

i 
r. 
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APPENDIX A 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The County is audited annually by an independent public accounting firm. This appendix presents excerpts from the 
County's audited Basic Financia1 Statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. Copies of the County's 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report are available on-line at: 

http://county.milwaukee.gov/ComprehensiveAnnualF12237.htm 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Supervisors 
of the County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP 
115 S 84m St, Ste400 
Milwaukee, WI 53214-1475 
tel414 777 5500 
fax 414 777 5555 
bakertilly.com 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, 
which collectively comprise the County of Milwaukee's basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the County of Milwaukee's management. Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these fipancial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the 
financial statements of the Milwaukee County War Memorial Center, Inc., the Marcus Center for the Performing 
Arts, and the Milwaukee County Research Park Corporation, which represent 40 percent, 56 percent and 36 
percent, respectively, of the assets, net assets and the operating revenues of thE! discretely presented 
component units. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors, whose reports thereon have qeen 
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Milwaukee County War 
Memorial Center, Inc., the Marcus Center for the Performing Arts, and· the Milwaukee County Research Park 
Corporation, is based on the reports of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a tesr 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors provide 
a reasonable ba~is for our opinions. 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
previously present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, 
the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented·component units, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2011, and 
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective 
budgetary .comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

As described-in Note 1: the County of Milwaukee adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 54, Fund 
Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, effective January 1, 2011. 
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To the Board of Supervisors 
of the County of. Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis, the schedules of funding progress and the schedules of employer contributions as 
listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, · 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting st<>nril<>r'1"YJ 

Board who consioers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial starPn.,~=>rlt<>~~ 
. an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to 

required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the intr•rm<>ti:i1 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the County of Milwaukee's basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financi 
statements and schedules and other supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the unde 
accounting arid other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been su1::>1ectedi~f 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional nrr.roor1• 

including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other r~=>rnrn~ 
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional • 
procedures in ac6ordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements 
as a whole. We have also previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
United States of America, the County of Milwaukee's basic financial statements for the year ended 
31, 2010, which are not presented with the accompanying financial statements. In our report dated July 
2011, we expressed an opinion that the 2010 ·combining and individual fund financial statements and 
and other ·supplementary information are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2010, taken as a whole. 

. . 
--12 -1 'T: :11 ·1 /.: . ~· ·v . . .LJ 
~ ~·;.,;_7. v~ ~~ LL r · 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
July 31,2012 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis 
Required Supplementary Information 

(Unaudited) 

This section of the County of Milwaukee's comprehensive annual financial report 
provides a narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the County for 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011. Please read it in conjunction with the 
transmittal letter at the front of this report and the County's basic financial statements 
following this section. All dollar amounts are expressed in thousands unless otherwise 
indicated. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Highlights for Government-wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements report information about the County as a 
whole using the.economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of 
accounting. 

• The County's assets exceeded its liabilities by$ 444,997 on a government-wide 
basis as of December 31, 2011. The unrestricted net assets of the County were 
a negative $ (236,223). 

• For the fiscal year, program and general revenues of the County's governmental 
activities totaled $ 1, 120,269. Expenses totaled $ 1 ,085;328 including operating 
transfers out of$ 15,532. 

• For 2011, revenues of the County's business-type activities were.$ 301,117 
including operating transfers in of$ 15,532. Expenses totaled $ 266,063. 

Highlights for Fund Financial Statements 

The fund financial statements provide· detailed information about the County's most 
significant funds using the current financial resources measurement focus and modified 
accrual basis of accounting. 

• As of December 31, 2011, the CountY's governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of$ 181,736, as compared to $ 194,085 for the year ended 
December 31, 2010. · · · 

• The County's enterprise funds had combined net assets of$ 271,288 as of 
December 31, 2011, compared to$ 236,234 as of December 31, 2010. 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) 

General Financial Highlights 

• In March 2011, the County issued·$ 35,095 of General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds to refund General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds issued in 2001, 
2002 and 2003. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County's 
basic financial statements. The financial section of this annual report consists of four 
parts: (1) management's discussion and analysis (presented here), (2) basic financial 
statements that includes the government-wide financial statements, fund financial 
statements and notes to the financial statements, (3) required supplementary 
information, and (4) other supplementary information. 

The County's basic financial statements consist of two kinds of statements each with a 
different view of the County's finances. The government-wide financial statements 
provide both long- and short-term information about the County's overall financial 
status. )'he fund statements focus on major aspects of the County's operations, 
reporting those operat_ions in more detail than the government-wide statements. The 
basic financial statements also include notes to explain information in the finanCial 
statements and provid~ more detailed data. 

The statements and notes are followed by required supplementary information that 
contains the trend data pertaining to the retirement systems. Directly following this 
information is other supplementary information with combining and individual fund 
statements and schedules to provide detail~ about the governmental, internal service, 
and fiduciary funds. 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide.financial statements, which consist of the following two 
statements, are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of Milwaukee 
County's finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 

The first government-wide statement; the statement of net assets, presents 
information on all of the County's assets and liabilities, with the difference between the 
two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in .net assets may serve 
as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is improving or 
deteriorating. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Government-wide Financial Statements (Continued) 

The second statement, the statement of activities, presents information showing how 
the County's net assets changed during 2011. All changes in net assets are reported 
as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the 
timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this 
statement for ·not only current uses of cash flow but also for items that will result in cash 
flows in a future fiscal period (e.g. uncoliected taxes and earned but unused vacation 
leave). 

Both of these government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of Milwaukee 
County that are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues 
(referred to as "governmental activities") from functions that are intended to recover all 
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (referred to as 
"business-type activities"). The governmehtal activities of Milwaukee County include 
legislative, executive and staff, courts and judiciary services, general government, 
public safety, public works and highways, health and human services, and parks, 

· recreation and culture. The business-type activities of Milwaukee County include the 
Airports and the Transit System.· 

The government-wide financial statements include the County's governmental and 
business-type activities (collectively referred to as the primary government), but also 
legally separate entities {known as discretely presented component units) for which the 
County is financially accountable. Together, the primary government and its discretely 
pres.ented component units are referred to as the reporting entity. The Milwaukee 
Public Museum, the Milwaukee County Research· Park, the Milwaukee County War 
Memorial Center, and the Marcus Center for Performing Arts are the. County's discretely 
presented component units. 

Financial information for these component units is reported separately from the financial 
information presented for the primary government itself. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 60-63 of this report. 

Fund Financial Statements 

A furtd.is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources 
t~at have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Milwaukee County, like 
other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate. 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of Milwaukee 
County can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and 
fiduciary funds . 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
' 

Governmental funds 

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike 
the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements 
focus on near-term inflows and outflows of. spendable resources, as well as on balances 
of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be 
useful in evaluating the County's near-term financing requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide 
financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental 
funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government­
wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term 
impact of the County's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental funds 
balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The County maintains ten individual governmental funds. Information is presented 
separately in the govern.mental fund balcimce sheet and in the governmental statement 
of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund, the debt 
service fund, and the capital projects fund, which are considered to be major funds. 
Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated 
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is 
provided in the form of combining statements in other supplementary financial 
information. These non-major governmental funds are all special revenue funds of the 
County. 

\ 

The County adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund, debt service 
fund, and its capital projects funds. A budgetary comparison statement has been 
provided for the general fund to demonstrate budgetary compliance in the basic 
financial statements. Budgetary comparisons for other funds with adopted budgets 
have been included in other supplementary financial information. In addition, a general 
fund budg·etary ·comparison by department is also included in other supplementary 
information. 

The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 64-68 of this repo 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Proprietary funds 

The County maintains two differ~nt types of proprietary funds: enterprise funds and 
internal service funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions 
presented as business-type-activities in the government-wide financial statements. The 
County uses enterprise funds to account for the fiscal activities of the Airports and the 
Transit System. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate 
and allocate costs internally among the County's various functions. The County uses 
internal service funds to account for its public works services, information management 
services, and its risk management activities. Because these services. predominantly 
benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been inducted 
within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. · 

The financial statements of the proprietary funds provide the same type of information 
as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund 
financial statements provide separate information for the Airports and the Transit 
System, which are considered to be major funds of the County. Conversely, all inter~al 
service funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary 
fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal service funds is provided 
in the other supplementary _financial information. 

The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 69-71 of this report. 

Fiduciary funds 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statements because the resources of these funds are not available to support the 
County's own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used 
for proprietary funds, the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting. 

The County's fiduciary funds consist of a pension trust fund and agency funds. The 
pension trust fund is used to account for the assets held in trust by the County for the 
employees and beneficiaries of its defined pension plan- the Employees' Retirement 
System, and the OBRA Retirement System. The agency funds are used to account for 
monies received, held, and disbursed on behalf of the State of Wisconsin Court System 
located In the County; fee collections, as mandated by the State; social service clients; 
and certain other local governments. 

- . -

The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 72-73 of this report. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to fully 
understand the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

The notes can be found on pages 76-166 of this report. 

Required Supplementary Information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain required supplementary information concerning the County's progress 
in funding its obligation to provide pension benefits and other post-employment benefits 
to its employees. 

Required supplementary information can be found on pages 168-173 of this report. 

· Other Supplementary Information. 

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major 
governmental funds and internal service funds are presented immediately following the 
required supplementary information on pensions as other supplementary information. 
Budgetary comparison for the major funds is also provided in this section. 

Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 
176-194 of this ~eport. 

GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

The government-wide financial statements are provided as part of the approach 
mandated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). GASB sets the 
uniform standards for presenting government financial reports. Complete comparative 
information is provided in this the Management's Discussion and Analysis. 

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's 
financial position. In the case of Milwaukee County, assets exceeded liabilities by 
$ 444,997 at the close of the fiscal year. The County's net assets increased for this 
fiscal year by$ 69,995. 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

Current and Other Assets 

Long-Term Assets 

Capital Assets 

Total Assets 

Current Liabilities 

Long-term Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets: 

Invested in Capital Assets, 

Net of Related Debt 

Restricted 

.Unrestricted 

Total Net Assets 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
. I 

Net Assets 

(In Thousands) 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities 

2011 2010 2011 2010 
$ 659,831 $ 738,142 $ .127,514 $ 141 ,443 

420,513 411,587 
647,972 641,375 434,527 402,987 

1,728,316 1,791 .104 562,041 544,430 

553,175 618,159 48,977 55,227 
1,001,432 1,034,177 241,776 252,969 
1,554,607 1,652,336 290,753 308,196 

293,406 269,272 242,984 206,417 

121,630 . 62,876 23,200 19,893 

(241,327) (193,380) 5,104 9,924 

$ 173,709 $ 138,768 $ 271,288 $ 236,234 

Primary Government 

Total 

2011 2010 
$ 787,345 $ 879,585 

420,513 411,587 
1,082,499 · 1,044,362 

2.290.357 2.335,534 

602,152 673,386 
1,243,208 1,287,146 
1,845,360 1,960,532 

536,390 475,689 

144,830 ~2 .769 

. {236,223} {183,456) 

$ 444,997 $ 375,002 

The largest portion of the County's net assets reflects its investment in capital assets 
(e.g. land, land improvements, buildings, vehicles, equipment and infrastructure, net of 
depreciation and amortization), plus any unspent capital bond funds less the 
outstanding debt that was used to acquire those assets. The County also includes the 
Net Pension Asset, offset by Pension Obligation Bond debt in this classification, since 
the asset is a direct result of the issuance of the debt. For 2011, the balance of capital 
assets net of related debt was $ 536,390. The County uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future 
spending. Although the County's investment in its capital assets is reported net of 
related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from otller sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to 
liquidate these liabilities. Indirectly. the depreciation of capital assets is an expense for 
proprietary funds and therefore, as an expense, is available to be reimbursed through 
user fees. of those funds. Net capital asset additions exceeded debt payments fo~ the 
year, which resulted in the in~rease in this net asset. 

Due to the adoption of GASB 54 on presentation of fund balance, all restricted assets 
shown in the governmental funds for 2011 will now ·be shown as restricted for the . 
Government-wide statements. 1!1 2010, the governmental funds reserved fund balaf)ces 
were classified as either restricted or unrestricted. If the 2010 statements were restated 
the restricted and unrestricted Net Assets for governmental activities would have been 
$ 99,318 and($ 229,822), respectively. 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

The restricted net assets represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on 
how they may be used. Restricted net assets at the end of 2011 totaled$ 144,830. . 
This amount is subject to external restrictions, some of which include grant-related 
restrictions, laws'or regulations of other governments, debt service, airport passenger 
facility charges (PFG) revenue and the airports capital projects. The airport PFC 
revenue is restricted for airport bond repayment and future airport capital needs. 

Unrestricted net assets represent the remaining amount of net assets that are neither 
related to capital assets nor are restricted for specific purposes. The unrestricted net . 
assets were a negative$ (236,223). The unrestricted net assets decreased by 
$ 52,767 in 2011. 

Statement of Activities 

The following table provides the summary of the changes in net assets for the primary 
government for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010: 

Revenues: 

Program Revenues: 

Charges for Services 

Operating Grants and Contributions 

Capital Grants and Contributions 

General Revenues: 

PropertY Taxes 

· Sales Taxes 

Intergovernmental Revenues not 

Related to Specific Programs 

Investment Income and Rents 

Other Revenue 

Total Revenues 

Expenses: 

Legislative, Executive, and Staff 

Courts and Judiciary 

General Governmental Services 

Public Safety 

Public Works and Highways 

Human Services 

Parks, Recreation, and Culture 

Interest 

Airport 

Transit 

Cou~ty of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Summary of Changes in Net Assets 

(In Thousands) 
Governmental Business-type Primary Government 

Activities Activities Total 
2011 0 2011 2010 2011 

$ " 425,955 $ 409,662 $143,860 $137,268 $ 569,815 

255,309 267,341 89,829 89,495 345,138 

71 160 51,583 49,489 51 ,654 

273,297 266,973 273,297 

64,348 61,534 64,348 

45,238 44,952 45,238 

313 162 

51,886 51,340 51 ,905 

53,132 57,121 53,132 

6,668 4,077 6,668 

162,316 164,447 162,316 

89,559 66,641 89,168 

597,078 616,717 597,122 

79,709 77,221 80,037 

29,448 39,472 29,448 

90,183 82,692 90,183 

175,880 174,960 . 175,880 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

Statement of Activities (Continued) 

Total Expenses 1,069,796 1,077,036 266,063 257,652 1,335,859 1,334,688 

Change in Net Assets Before Transfers 50,473 21,401 19,522 18,762 69,995 40,163 

Transfers (15,532) (14,260) . 15,532 14,260 

Change in Net Assets 34,941 7,141 35,054 33,022 69,995 40,163 

Net Assets· Beginning of the Year 138,768 131,627 236,234 203,212 375,002 334,839 

Net Assets- End of the Year $ 173,709 $ 138;768 $271,288 

Governmental Activities 

Revenues by Source- Governmental Activities -2011 

Other 

Intergovernmental 
Revenues not 

related to Specific 
Programs 

4% 

2011 Actual Revenues compared to 2010 Actual Revenues 

$236,234 $ 444,997 $ 375,002 

Revenues for the County's governmental activities were $ 1,120,269 for the fiscal year 
2011, representing an increase of$ 21,832, or 2.0%, from fiscal year 2010. Sources of 
revenue for 2011 as a percentage of total revenues are shown above. 

Charges for services constitute the largest source of County revenues, amounting to 
$ 425,955 for fiscal year 2011, an increase of$ 16,293 from 2010. Charges for services 
represent collections from those who directly benefit from County services. The net 
increase in 2011 was mainly due to an increase in Milwaukee County Family Care's 
revenues including additional members served and higher capitation rates for nursing 
home level of cc;~re from 2010 rates. Milwaukee County Family Care began serving 
disabled clients in 2010, in addition to elderly clients. 

Operating grants and contributions continue to support a significant portion of County 
services with$ 255,309 of revenue in 2011. Operating grants and contributions 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

2011 Actual Revenues compared to 2010 Actual Revenues (Continued) 

generally represent federal and state grants revenue with the majority supporting heqlth 
and human service programs. The net decrease in operating grants and contributions 
of$ 12,032, was mainly due to: 

• Net decreases in Federal and State grants awarded to DHHS for 2011, including 
the transfer of disability service programs to Milwaukee County Family Care: a 
service charge based program. 

The net decrease in capital grants and contributions in 2011 of$ 89 was due to fewer 
governmental capital operating programs. 

Property tax revenue increased by$ 6,324 over the prior year, however property tax 
revenue as a percent of total governmental activity revenues only increased by 0.5% 
from the prior year. Property tax revenue includes the tax levy for the budget year, 
offset by any reserves for delinquent taxes for non-collection in the current year. Caps 
on increases in levy rates have limited the increase each year. In addition, reserves for 
delinquent taxes have decreased, as the market for housing has improved from prior 
years. 

Sales tax revenue increased by$ 2,814, or 4.6% between 2010 and 2011 as a result of 
a limited increase in consumer spending in 2011. 

Intergovernmental revenues not related to specific programs increased by $ 286 from 
the prior year. 

Investment income and rents decreased by $ 922 which was mainly due to lower rates 
of return on investments in 2011 versus 2010. 

Other revenue increased by $ 9,158 due to an increase in other service revenue for the 
County Behavioral Health Division. 

[This section intentionally ieft blank] 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL AN~L YSIS (CONTINUED) 

2011 Actual Revenues compared to 2010 Actual Revenues (Continued) 

700,000 

600,000 
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Expenses and ·Program Revenues- Governmental Activities - 2011 

i!l Expenses 

g A-ogram Revenues 

Legislative, Courts .rd General . Public Safety Public Works 1-tJman Services Parks, Interest 
Executive, and Jlkliciary Governrrenta and Hghways Recreations and 

Staff Services Culture 

2011 Actual Expenses compared to 2010 Actual Expenses 

Total expenses for all of the County's governmental activities for the fiscal year 2011 
were$ 1,069,796 representing a decrease of$ 7,240 or 0.7% from 2010. Total 
expenses compared to the respective program revenues in departments are shown 
above. 

The net decrease in total expenses Is mainly due to a reduction in program expenses 
for grant programs taken over by the State, plus instituting additional cost saving · 
measures across departments. Year to year comparisons show a reduction in every 
major departmental activity, except public safety. The increase in Public Safety 
expenses reflects a new policy to eliminate cross-charges for bailiff services, which also 
reduces expenses in th~ Courts and Judiciary. 

Current economic conditions have required the County to implement additional cost 
savin·gs measures over the past several years. The following are some of the measures 
taken in recent years to control costs: · 

• Beginning of contributio-ns by employees for pension costs. 
• Elimination of departmental positions due to downsizing and privatization of 

services 
• Changes to departmental policies so as to limit overtime usage 
• Holding positions vacant in order to achieve departmental cost savings. 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

2011 Actual Expenses compared to 2010 Actual Expenses (Continued) 

• Elimination of wage ·step increases for non-represented and certain represented 
positions 

• Increase in employee contributions to healthcare plans for certain represented 
and non-represented positions · . · 

• Increase in out-of-network employee co-pays and other health care deductibles 
to reduce County PPO costs for both active and retired non-represented 
employees. 

• Reduction in the County's pension contribution from 2% to 1.6% for all non­
represented employees except deputy sheriffs and elected officials, and certain 
smaller bargaining units. 

• Departmental review of outside services and suppliers to achieve more cost 
effective pricing 

• Savings in wages, benefits, professional services and supplies, due to the State 
of Wisconsin .taking over several programs in the Health and Human Services 
division 

• Less costs incurred to maintain roads and highways due to a milder winter 
season 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

Business· type activities 

Revenues by Source- Busine!Wtype Activities - 2011 
Capital Grants and 

Contributions 
18% 

Charges for Services 
51% 

Operating Grants and 
Contributions 

31% 

Expenses and Program Revenues~ Business·type Activities -
2011 

200,000 
180,000 
160,000 
140,000 
120,000 
100,000 

80,000 . 
60,000 
40,000 
20,000 

Airport 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

51 

~Expenses 

• Program Revenues 

Transit 

Manager:nent's Discu~sion and Analysis 

I 
I 

F 
I' 

i 0 

i . 
I 

I \ 



GOVERNMENT- WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

Business- type activities (Continued) 

In 201 1, the Airports revenue from fees charged to airlines for use of the airport, 
including fees received from ancillary services of the airports, exceeded its annual 
operating costs by$ 7,265. This net revenue surplus was a direct result of Charges for 
Services revenue from the Airport increasing by$ 7,609, or 9.6% from the prior year. 
Passengers' usage declined 3.3% from record 9.8 million passengers in 2010 to 9.5 
million passengers in 2011. Operating transfers are negligible for the Airports. The 
decline in passenger usage is expected to continue to occur in the coming years, along 
with airline landings due to a reduction in services by a major carrier. 

The Transit System requires operating assistance from the State, Federal and County 
government to balance its revenues and expenses. Total County operating support, 
reflected as operating transfers, for the Transit System was$ 17,926 for fiscal year 
2011 . Total state and feqeral grants for the Transit System were$ 89,670 for 2011, 
which was an increase of$ 484 or 0.5% over 2010. Direct support from users of the 
Transit System was $ 52,403 (30.0% of total operating expenses) for 2011, which was 
an increase of$ 306 from 2010. The operator of the Transit System has also instituted '. 
cost savings measures to reduce operating costs. The Transit System has recently 
purchased more fuel-efficient buses to reduce fuel and maintenance costs. Limiting the 
number of bus routes has also occurred. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY'S FUNDS 

As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. 

Governmental funds 

The focus of the County's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances· of spendable resources. Such information is useful in 
assessing the County's financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance 
may serve as a useful measure of the County's net resources available for spending at 
the end of the fiscal year. 

As of December 31, 2011, the County's governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of$ 181,736. The restricted fund balance consists of$ 5,539 for 2013 

. appropriations, $ 8 for 2012 appropriations,$ 11,577 for debt service, $ 76,893 for 
capital project fund and general fund commitments, $ 25,092 for Milwaukee County . 
Family Care, $14,826 for delinquent property taxes,$ 1,850 for investment market value 
in excess of book value, $1,369 for housing, $ 136 for health and safety,$ 874 for the 
zoo, $1,027 for the parks,$ 115 for the persons with disabilities division,$ 7,169 for the 
Behavioral Health Division, $27,199 for the Airport and$ 5,781 for the Fleet and 
Facilities Divisions. The remainder of the Fund Balance consists of $2,085 of non-
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY'S FUNDS 
(CONTINUED) 

Governmental funds (Continued) 

spendable funds for inventories and $ 196 of committed funds for economic 
development. 

The debt service fund has a total fund balance of$ 11 ,577 all of which is restricted for 
the payment of debt service. The net increase in the debt service reserve for the 
current-year was $ 4,245. 

The capital projects fund has a total fund balance of$ 67,872 all of which is restricted 
for commitments made on capital projects in progress. The net decrease in the fund 
balance during the current year in the capital projects fund was $ 30,344. The decrease 
in fund balance is the associated reserve of those funds for completion of the projects 
designated and approved by the County Board. 

Proprietary funds 

At the end of 2011, unrestricted net assets of the two major funds, the Airports and the 
Transit System, totaled$ 5, 104. Total net assets of these same two major funds were 
$ 271,288 at the end of 2011 , compared to$ 236,234 at the end of 2010. The total net 
assets for the Airports increased by.$ 31,160 while total net assets for the Transit 
System increased by$ 3,894. Restricted net assets of the Airport are requi red under 
debt covenants associated with revenue bonds issued for capital improvements. 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

General Fund 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Assets - Budgetary Basis 

For t he Year Ending December 31, 2011 

Revenues and Other Sources 
Intergovernmental Revenue 
Taxes 

Charges for Services 
Other 
Total 

Expenditures and Other Uses 
Expenditures 
Transfers 
Total 
Change in Fund Balance 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

(In Thousands) 

Original Final 
Budget Budget Actual 

$ 281 ,048 $ 297,979 $ 279,289 $ 
336,964 336,964 337,265 
377,857 396,316 394,881 
54,795 60,347 50,746 

$ 1,050,664 $ 1,086,562 $1,062,181 $ 

$ 969,271 $ 1,010,266 $ 962,971 $ 
85,537 80,440 80,776 

$ 1,054,808 $ 1,090,706 $ 1,043,747 $ 
$ (4,144) $ (4,144) $ 18,434 $ 

Variance 

(17,790) 
301 

(1 ,4;35) 
(9,601) 

(24,381) 

47,295 
(336) . 

46,959 
22,578 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) 

As shown above, revenues and other sources exceeded expenditures and other uses 
by$ 22,578 in the General Fund for the year ended December 31, 2011. This table is 
bas~d on a budgetary basis presentation. The budgetary basis of actual revenues and 
expenditures presented above differs from the combined statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in net assets due to the inclusion of encumbrances of 
$ 10,961 in expenditures offset by the net allocation of fringe costs for Pension 
Obligations Bonds of$ 8,053. Fringe costs for budgetary purposes include interest on 
Pension Obligation Bond debt service, but on an actual basis, the interest costs for 
Pension Obligation Bonds are shown in the Debt Service Fund. 

2011 Actual Revenues compared to 2011 Final Budget 

Actual General Fund revenues were below the budgeted revenues by$ 24,381 , or 
2.2%, during fiscal year 2011 . 

Intergovernmental revenues were$ 17,790,- or 6.0%: below the final budget amount for 
2011. An associated reduction in grant expenditures occurred. Intergovernmental 
revenues and expenditures were reduced primarily due to: 

• The implementation of a Third Party Administrator (TPA) by the State for the 
Children's Long-Term Support program. 

• Federal Grants for Housing, due to projects carried over to 2012. 
• Income Maintenance and Child Care programs ended in 2011 . 

2011 Actual Expenditures compared to 2011 Final Budget. 

General Fund expenditures, (before transfers), were$ 47,295, or 4.7%, below the final 
budgeted amount for 2011. Primarily due to: 

• Reductions in and transfer out of grant programs led to decreased grant 
revenues and grant expenditures, including the Children's Long-Term Support 
program 

• Reduction in costs from budget for Family Care program, as a result of start up 
for disability support program in 2011. 

• Less costs incurred to maintain roads, and highways, due to the weather. 
• Expenditure surplus due to unfilled positions, less payments for unemployment 

compensation, wages, overtime, fringe benefits, services and commodities. 
• Department review of outside services and suppliers tq achieve more cost 

effective pricing. 
• Costs for Housing p~ogram lower than budgeted levels. Grant costs will be 

carried over to subsequent year. 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) 

Budget Transfers 

Transfers to Other Funds represent amounts transferred to other funds such as debt 
service, capital projects, internal service funds, and transit. When revenues fall short of 
expenditures in each of these funds, the County uses non-departmental revenues such 
as property tax and state shared revenue to provide financial support to these other 
funds. The revenue is allocated through an operating transfer from the General Fund. 

There are three basic reasons for variances between the original budget and the 
amended budget: fund transfer requests from departments, carryover of capital outlay 
and the associated revenue from the prior year, and carryover of encumbrances from 
the prior year. The encumbrance carryover process is automatic each year, and is 
authorized by Wisconsin State Statute and Milwaukee County Ordinance. The 
carryover of capital outlay and the associated revenue is also authorized by State 
statute and is approved by the County Board on a preliminary basis in March and 
finalized in April. ·During the fiscal year, the County Board receives fund transfer 
requests from departments. These transfer reQuests are reviewed and approved by the 
County Board. 

The difference between original budget revenue of$ 1 ,050,664 and final budget 
revenue of$ 1 ,086,562 is an increase of$ 35,898. The difference between original 
budget expenses of$ 969,271 and final budget expenditures of$ 1 ,010,266 is an 
increase of $ 40,995. The major budget transfers of$ 1,000 or greater during 2011 
are listed below: 

• Public Works and Highways 
•!• An increase of$ 1,053 to revenue and expenditures to fund HVAC, 

lighting and plumbing ·upgrades and vending misers for Fleet 
Manag~ment. 

• Health and Human Services 
•!• An increase of $7,213 to revenue and expenditures to the Department 

of Family Care serving as a Care Management Organization (CMO). 
The 2011 Adopted Budget for the CMO was based on the 2010 
capitation rates, and increased rates and services resulted' in budget 
increase. 

•!• An increase of $9,885 to revenue and $6,327 to expenditures to the 
Department of Family Care to pay for common carrier transpo"rtation 
dues since becoming a part of the Family ·Care benefit packag'e as of 
July 1, 2011. In addition, the transfer allows for changes encountered 
on enrollment as a result of the enrollment cap on Family Care and the 
State encounter system code changes that affect personal care 
expenditures. The remaining surplus of $3,558 will go into the Family 
Care Reserves. 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY. HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) 

Budget Transfers (Continued) 

•!• An increase of $5,738 to revenue and $4,000 to expenditures to the 
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) to utilize a portion 
of the DHHS projected surplus to fund initiatives within the Behavioral 
Health Division and DHHS. The remaining surplus of $1,738 went into 
the County's budgetary contingency reserve. 

Transfers also represent the net budgeted funds to be provided by the General Fund to 
provide support to the remaining governmental fund departments, proprietary fund 
departments, and component units (original budget of$ 85,537 and amended budget of 
$ 80,440. The net contribution actually made by the General Fund to other funds was 
$80,776. 

The. General Fund collects all of the property tax and sales tax revenues of the County, 
which was$ 337,265 for 2011. The General Fund also collected intergovernmental 
revenues not related to a specific program of$ 45,238. These revenues are then 
transferred at the end of the year to the other governmental funds and the proprietary 
funds to offset any shortfalls between revenues and expenditures. Any gains in these 
same funds are returned to the General Fund, except for the Airport, and Department of 
Family Care, which is required to maintain any gains or losses as part of its lease 
agreements and revenue bond agreements. The change in transfers between the 
original budget and the amended budget is due to the net changes in carryovers and 
encumbrances bet,ween years, and any net transfers made from the general fund to 
proprietary fund departments. 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION . 

Capital Assets 

· Milwaukee County's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type 
activities as of December 31, 2011 was$ 1,082,499 (net of accumulated depreciation of 
$ 1, 136,512). This investment in capital assets includes land, construction in progress, 
land improvements, buildings and improvements, machinery, vehicles and equipment, 
and infrastructure and leased equipment. All infrastructure assets of the County are 
included in this report. The County's total investment in capital assets for the current 

· fiscal year increased by 4.1% (a .2% increase in governmental activities and a 7.8% 
increase for business-type activities). · 

Major capital assets appropriated in 2011 included the following: 
• $5,436 for General Mitchell International Airport (GMIA) bag claim remodeling. 
• $11,589 for GMIA in-line baggage screening Phase.2. 
• $5,008 for the Moody pool renovation. 
• $6,558 for O'Donnell Park improvements. 
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
(CONTINUED) 

Capital Assets (Continued) 

• $1 ,400 for the Museum fa<;ade repair and replacement. 
• $1,591 for inventory and assessment of County buildings. 

Milwaukee County's Capital Assets (Net) 

(In Thousands) 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities 

2011 2010 2011 2010 

Total 

2011 2010 

Land $ 59,303 $ 59,303 $ 21,367 $ 21 ,367 $ 80,670 $ 80,670 

Construction in Progress 32,354 41,365 34,708 21,069 67,062 62,434 

Land Improvements 100,462 102,890 99,199 74,131 199,661 177,021 

Building and Improvements 279,120 279,518 210,015 217,235 489,135 496,753 

Infrastructure. 103,818 91,562 103,818 91;562 

Machinery, Vehicles & Equipment . 72,915 66,737 69,238 69,185 142,153 135,922 

Total $ 647,972 $ 641,375 $434,527 $ 402,987 $1 ,082,499 $ 1,044,362 

Additional information on the County's capital assets can be found in Note 5 on pages 
XXX of this report. 

Long-term debt 

At December 31 I 2011 I the County had total debt outstanding of$ 1 ,018,593. Of this 
amount,$ 818,709 comprised of general obligation bonds and$ 199,884 of airport 
revenue bonds. 

General Obligation Bonds 

Revenue Bonds 

Totals 

Milwaukee County's Outstanding Debt 

General Obligation and Revenues Bonds 

(In Thousands) 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities ·Activities 

2011 2010 2011 2010 

$ 786,394 $849,805 $ 32,315 $ 35,374 

199,884 208,588 

$ 786,394 $849,805 $ 232,199 $243,962 

Total 

2011 2010 

$ 818,799 $ 885,179 

_____ 1=9~9,~88~4 ____ ~2=0~8,~58=8 

$ 1,018,593 $ 1,093,767 

The County's total debt decreased by$ 75,174 during the year ended December 31, 
2011. . 
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
(CONTINUED) 

Long-term debt (Continued) 

New General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2011A, were issued in March 2011 , in 
the amount of $ 35,095 to be used to refund General Obligation Corporate Purpose 
Bonds, Series 2001A (dated 4/1/01), 2002A (dated 2/1/02) and 2003A (dated 2/1/03. 

Additional information on the County's long-term debt can be found in Note 8 on pages 
XXX of this report. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates 

• Milwaukee County annualized unemployment rate for 2011 was 9.0%, a 
deqrease from the 2010 rate of 9.6%. The unemployment rate as of the end of 
June 2012 was at 9.4%. ' 

• The median price for homes sold in Milwaukee County for in 2011 was$ 102 
thousand compared to$ 125 thousand in 2010, (an 18.4% decrease). The 
annual median price for homes sold in Milwaukee County through June 2012 
was $ 100 thousand, a decline of 2.0% from 2011 . Data as reported by the 
Wisconsin Realtors Association, Housing Statistics Report. 

During the 2011 fiscal year, the County had a net excess of revenues over expenditures 
of$ 5,539 after considering net revenue .from operations and change~ in reserve 
balances. This excess is identified on the governmental funds balance sheet as a 
Restricted for 2013 Appropriations, and will be added to the revenue of the 2013 
bt.:~dget. 

Request for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County's finances 
for all those with an interest in the County's finances. Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should 
be addressed to the Office of the Comptroller, Milwaukee County Court House, 901 
North 91

h Street, Room 301, Milwaukee, WI 53233. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Statement of Net Assets 

December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Prima!}: Government 

Governmental Business-Type 
~!;tivilies Activities 

ASSETS 
Current Assets: 

Cash and Investments $ 217,973 $ 59,823 
Cash ,and Investments - Restricted 38,631 43,678 
Receivables: 
Accounts (Net of Allowances for Doubtful Accounts) 18,673 5,118 
Property Taxes: 

Current Levy 276,194 
Delinquent 12,823 

Accrued Interest and Dividends 8,882 
Other 38,194 2,215 
Due From Other Governments 41,804 11 ,641 

Inventories 2,085 4 ,179 
Prepaid Items 2,138 210 
Other Assets 650 
Insurance Deposits 2,434 

Total Current Assets 659,831 127,514 

Noncurrent Assets: 
Long-term Investments 
Receivables: 

Contributions 
Delinquent Property Taxes 7,198 

Net Pension Asset 413,315 
Other Assets 
Capital Assets (Net) 

Land 59,303 21 ,367 
Construction in Progress 32,354 34,708 
Land Improvements 242,840 208,141 
Buildings and Improvements 674,042 378,725 
Infrastructure 183,425 
Machinery, Vehicles and Equipment 175,907 208,199 

Less: Accumulate'd Depreciation (719,899} (416,613) 
Total Capital Assets (Net) 647,972 434,527 

Total Noncurrent Assets 1,068,485 434,527 

Total Assets $ 1,728,316 $ 562,041 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Component 
Total Units 

$ 2n,796 $ 8,028 
82,309 

23,791 1,870 

276,194 
12,823 
8,882 

40,409 
53,445 
6 ,264 
2 ,348 

650 
2,434 

787,345 

7,198 
413,315 

80,670 
67,062 

450,981 
1,052,767 

183,425 
384,106 

(1 '136,512) 
1,082,499 

1,503,012 

$ 2,290,357 $ 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Statement of Net Assets 

December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Prima!:l Government 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities 

L.IABILITIES 
current Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable $ 73,356 $ 4,822 
Accrued Liabilities 45,270 5,045 
Accrued Interest Payable 6,818 1,239 
Accrued Pension Payable 37,019 
Due to Other Governments 1,379 
Unearned Revenues 291,213 10,715 
Bonds and Notes Payable - General Obligation 63,506 3,022 
Bonds and Notes Payable- Revenue 8,510 
Unfunded Claims and Judgments 1,000 
Landfill Postclosure Costs 125 
Compensated Absences Payable 21,575 6,032 
Other Post Employment Benefit 222 
Risk Claims 10,665 5,020 
Capital Leases 1,144 241 
Other Current liabilities 105 4109 

Total Current Liabilities 553,175 48,977 

Noncurrent Liabilities: 
Bonds and Notes Payable - General Obligation 722,888 29,293 
Bonds and Notes Payable - Revenue 191,374 
Unfunded Claims and Judgments 1,000 
Landfill Postclosure Costs 1,845 
Pollution Remediation Costs 310 
Compensated Absences Payable 20,609 5,345 
Risk Claims 4,247 5,766 
Other Post Employment Benefits 246,084 9,705 
. Capital Leases 4,449 293 
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 
Accrued Pension and Postretirement Benefits 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 1,001,432 241,776 

Total Liabilities 1,554,607 290',753 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Component 
Total Units 

$ 78,178 $ 927 
50,315 1,007 

I 
8,057 19 

37,019 
1,379 

301,928 2,612 
66,528 297 

8,510 
1,000 

I· 125 
27,607 ! 

222 102 
15,685 

1,385 11 
4,214 65 

602,152 5,040 
j 

I. 752,181 4,657 
191,374 

1,000 ~ 
1,845 i 

•! 
310 I 

25,954 :1 

;I 
10,013 

255,789 
4,742 

921 
7.726 

1,243,208 13,304 

1,845,360 18,344 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Statement of Net Assets 

December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Prima!}: Government 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities 

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted (Deficit) $ (241,327) $ r 

5,104 

Restricted for: 
2013 Appropriations 5,539 

2012 Appropriations 8 

Debt Service 11,577 15,161 

General Fund Commitments 9,021 

Capital Project Commitments 10,047 

Department of Family Care - State Restricted 12,182 

Department of Family Care- Excess Reserves 12,910 

Delinquent Property Tax 14,826 

Investment Market Value in Excess of Book Value 1,850 

Housing 1,369 

Capital Asset Needs 
8,039 

Airport- Passenger Facilities Charges and Debt 27,199 

Behavioral Health Division 7,169 

Fleet and Facilities Divisions 5,781 

Health and Safety 136 

Zoo 874 

Parks 1,027 

Persons with Disabilities 115 

Museum 
Other 

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 293,406 242.984 

Total Net Assets 173,709 271,288 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 1,728,316 $ 562,041 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Component 
Total Units 

' .. 
$ (236,223) $ (1 

5,539 
8 

26,738 
9,021 

10,047 
12,182 
12,910 
14,826 

1,850 
1,369 
8,039 

27,199 
7,169 
5,781 

136 
874 

1,027 
115 

536,390 
444,997 

$ 2,290,357 
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Functions I Programs 
Primary Government: 

Governmental Activities: 
Legislative. Executive and Staff 
Courts and Judiciary 
General Governmental Services 
Public Safety 
Public Works and Highways 
Human Services 
Parks, Recreation and Culture 
Interest and Other Charges 

Total Governmental AcliviUes 

Business-Type Activities: 
Airport 
Transit 

Total Business-Type Activities 

Total Primary Government 

Component Units: 
Museum 
War Memorial Center 
Marcus Center 
Research Park Corporation 

Total Component Units 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Activities 

For The Year Ended December 31, 2011 
(In Thousands) 

Program Revenues 
Operating Capital 

Expenses 
Charges for 

Services 
Grants and Grants and 

Contributions Contributions 

$ (51,886) $ 198 $ 3,635 $ . 
(53,132) 4,431 . 23,212 - . 

(6,668) 4,571 50 : 
(162,316) 9,986 18,543 . 

(89,559) 30,260 37,853 71 
(597,078) 347,018 169,911 . 

(79,709) 29,491 2,105 
~29,448) 

(1,069,796) 425,955 255,309 71 

(90,183) 87,254 159 35,767 
(175,880) 56,606 89,670 15,816 
(266,063} 143,860 89,829 51,583 

$ (1,335,859) $ 569,815 $ 345,138 $ 51,654 

$ (14,344) $ 8,979 $ 3,502 $ 
(3,131) 125 1,748 

(10,499) 5,260 1,280 
(863) 99 

$ (28,837) $ 14,463 $ 6,530 $ 

General Revenues: 
Property Taxes 
Sales Taxes 
Intergovernmental Revenues Not Related to Specific Program 
Investment Income 
Other Revenue 

Transfers 
Total General Revenues and Transfers 

Change In Net Assets 

Net Assets - Beginning 
Net Assets - Ending 

The notes to the financial statements are an Integral part of this statement. 63 
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$ 

Net (Expense) Revenue and 
Changes In Net Assets 
Primary Government 

Governmental 
Activities 

(48,053) $ 
(25,489) 

(2,047) 
(133,787) 

(21,375) 
(80,149) 
(48,113} 
(29,448) 

(388,461) 

. 

. 

(388,461) 

. 

. 

. 

. 

273,297 
64,348 
45,23~ 

3,554 
52,497 

(15.532) 
423,402 

34,941 

136,768 
173,709 $ 

Business-Type 
Activities 

. 

. 

. 

. 

32,997 
p3,788) 
19,209 

19,209 

. 

. 

. 
313 

. 
15,532 
15,845 

35,054 

236,234 

$ 

271,288 $ 

Total 

(48,053) 
(25,489) 

(2,047) 
(133,787) 

(21,375} 
(80,149) 
(48,113) 
(29,448) 

(388,461) 

32,997 
p3,788) 
19,209 

(369,252) 

. 

. 

273,297 
64,348 
45,238 

3,867 
52,497 

439,247 

69,995 

375,002 
444,997 

$ 

$ 

Component 
Units 

(1,863) 
(1 ,258) 
(3,959) 

(764) 
(7,644) 

6,092 
12,602 

18,694 

10,650 

17,731 
28,581 
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ASSETS 
Cash and Investments 

Cash and Investments - Restricted 
Receivables: 
Accounts (Net of Allowances. for Doubtful Accounts) 
Property Taxes: 

Current Levy 
Delinquent 

Accrued Interest 
Other 
Due From Other Governments 

Inventories 

Insurance Deposits 
Total Assets 

LIABIUnES AND FUND B ALANCE 
Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable 
Accrued Liabilities 
Accrued Pension Payable 
Other Liabmties 
Due to Other Governments 
Deferred Revenues 

Total Liabilities 

Fund Balance: 
Non-Spendable: 

lnventOfies 

Restricted: 
2013 Appropriations 
2012 Appropriations 

Debt Service 
Commitments 
Department of Family Care· State Restricted 
Department of Family Care - Excess Reserves 
Delinquent Property Tax 
Investment Market Value in Excess of Book Value 
Housing 

Airport· Passenger Facilities Charges and Debt 
Health and Safety 
Zoo 
Parks 
Persons with Disabilities 
Behavioral Health Division 
Fleet and Facilities Divisions 

Committed: 
Economic Development 

Total Fund Balance 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 

$ 

$ 

s 

$ 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 

Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 

December 31 , 2011 
(In Thousands) 

Debt 
General Service 

88,782 $ 11,516 
11,432 

17,527 101 

276,194 
20,021 

8,882 

38.D93 
24,167 

2,085 

2,434 
489,617 $ . 11,617 

40,270 $ 
49,233 40 
37,019 

107 
1,379 

295,623 

429,631 40 

2,<585 

5,539 
8. 

11,577 
9,021 

12,182 
12,910 
14,826 
1,850 
1,369 

196 
59,986 11,577 

489,617 $ 11,617 

The notes to the financiall!tatements are ·an integral part of this statement. 
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Non major Total 
Capital Governmental Governmental 
Projects Funds 

$ 75,557 s 15,280 $ 191,135 
27,199 38,631 

234 

100 
17,608 

$ 93,499 $ 42,480 

$ 25,627 s 179 

25,627 179 

67,872 

27,199 
136 
874 

1,027 
115 

7,169 
5,781 

67,872 42,301 

s 93,499 s 42.480 



jr 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 

65 



Revenues: 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Governmental Funds 
For The Year Ended December 31 , 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Debt 
General Service 

Capital 
P~ects 

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Funds 

Intergovernmental $ 279,289 $ 1,945 $ 37,542 $ 
Property Taxes 273,297 
Sales Taxes 63,968 380 
Charges for Services 391,496 13,642 
Fines and Forfeits 2,932 
Licenses and Permits 453 
Investment Income and Rents 9,545 800 385 
Other 41 ,201 11,354 347 245 

Total Revenues 1,062,181 13,299 39,069 14,272 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Legislative, Executive and Staff 21,433 
Courts and Judiciary 52,699 
General Governmental Services 6,746 
Public Safety 159,708 
Public Works and Highways 44,109 13,440 
Human Services 590,604 1,198 
Parks, Recreation and Culture 64,576 695 

Capital OuUay 72,549 
Debt Service: 

Principal Retirement 61,626 
Interest and Other Charges 36,894 

Total Expenditures 939,875 98.520 72,549 15,333 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures 122,306 (85!221} (33.480} (1 .061) 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
General Obligation Bonds Issued 31,757 
Premium on Debt Issued 4,176 
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent (35,756) 
Transfers In 7,816 89,289 6.956 
Transfers Out (115,311) (3,820) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (107.495} 89.466 3,136 

Net Change in Fund Balances 14,811 4,245 (30,344) (1,061) 

Fund B::~lancAS - Beginning 45,175 7,332 98,216 43.362 
Fund Balances - Ending $ 59,986 $ 11 ,577 $ 67,872 $ 42,301 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 318,776 
273,297 

64,348 
405,138 

2.932 
453 

10,730 
53,147 

1,128,821 

21,433 
52,699 
6,746 

159,708 
57,549 

591,802 
65,271 
72,549 

61 ,626 
36,894 

· 1,126,2n 

2,544 

31,757 
4,176 

(35,756) 
104,061 

(119,131) 
(14,893} 

(12,349) 

194.085 
s 181,736 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 
(In Thousands) 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Amounts reported f or governmental activities In 
the statement of act.ivities are different because: 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. 
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of these assets is capitalized 
and they are depreciated over their estimated useful lives and reported as 
depreciation expense in the statement of activities. 

Capital outlay reported as an expenditure in the Capital Project Fund 
Items reported as capital outlay that were not capitalized 
Items reported as capital from operations 
Depreciation reported in the government-wide statements 
Net book value of assets retired 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial 
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. 

Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but 
issuing-debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. 
Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, 
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. 

Debt issued 
Capital lease issued 
Premium on debt issued 
Principal repaid 
Capital lease paid 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain 
activities to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service 
funds is reported with governmental activities. 

Principal payments reduce notes receivable on the St~tement of Net Assets 
but are reported as revenues in the funds. 

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures In 
governmental funds: 

Accrued Interest Payable 
Amortization of Bond Costs 
Loss on Refunding 
Net Pension Asset 
Landfill Postclosure Costs 
Pollution Remediation Costs 
Compensated Absences Payable 
Other Postemployment Benefits 

Change in net assets of governmental activities 

The notes to the fi~ancia l statement are an integral part of this statement. 
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$ (12,349) 

74.286 
(19,209) 

117 
(44,405) 

(3,831) 

(1 ,578) 

(31,757) 
(1 ,737) 
(4, 176) 
91,012 

918 

2,174 

(716) 

1,262 
5,408 
1,006 
8,987 
1,410 

178 
9,589 

(41,648) 

$ 34,941 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances-Budget and Actual 
(Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 

General Fund 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Variance 
Original Final With Final 

Budget Budget Actual Bud2et 
Revenues: 

Intergovernmental $ 281,048 $ 297,079 $ 279,289 $ (17,790) 
Property Taxes 272,538 272,538 273,297 759 
Sales Taxes 64,426 64,426 63,968 (458) 
Charges for Services 373,863 392,322 391,496 (826) 
Fines and Forfeits 3,447 3,447 2,932 (515) 
Licenses and Permits 547 547 453 (94) 
Investment Income and Rents 9,789 9,789 9,545 (244) 
Other 45,006 46,414 41,201 

Total Revenues 1,050,664 1,086,562 1,062,181 

Expenditures: · 
Current: 
Legislative, Executive and Staff 25,830 26,872 23,333 3,539 
Courts and .Judiciary 58,113 58,916 55,572 3,344 
General Governmental Services 7,564 7,813 7,248 565 
Public Safety 167,589 172,454 167,829 4,625 
Public Works and Highways 45,157 50,140 46,693 3,447 
Human Services 599,815 628,202 601,475 26,727 
Parks, Recreation and Culture 65,203 65,869 60,821 

Total Expenditures 969,271 1,010,266 962,971 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures 81,393 76,296 99,210 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Transfers In 7,816 
Transfers Out (79,006) (73,909) (82,061} 
Transfers To Component Units (6,531) (6,531) (6,531) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (85,537) (80,440) (80,776) 

Net <?hange in Fund Balance (4, 144) (4,144) 18,434 
Fund Balances - Beginning 45,175 45,175 45,175 
Fund Balances- Ending $ 41,031 $ 41,031 $ 63,609 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE r 
Balance Sheet 

Proprietary Funds 

December 31, 2011 

{In Thousands) 

Business-T:r:ee Activities- Ente!Erise Funds Governmental 
Activities-
Internal 

Transit Service 
Airports System Total Funds 

~ 
Current Assets: 

Cash and Investments $ 38,878 $ 20,945 $ 59,823 $ 26,838 
Cash and Investments - Restricted 43,678 43,678 
Receivables: 

Accounts (Net of Allowances for Uncollectible 
Accounts and Contractual Adjustments) 5,118 5,118 811 

Other 79 2,136 2,215 
Due From Other Governments 4 ,849 6,792 11,641 29 
Inventories 4,179 4,179 
Prepaid Items 210 210 2,138 
Other Assets 650 650 

Total Current Assets 92.602 34,912 127,514 29,816 

Noncurrent Assets: 
Capital Assets: 

Land 18,594 2,773 21,367 
Construction in Progress 31,739 2,969 34,708 1,484 
Land Improvements 201,550 6,591 208,141 3,284 
Building and Improvements 316,215 62,510 378,725 3,683 
Machinery, Vehicles and Equipment 16,731 191,468 208,199 38,778 
Total Capital Assets 584,829 266,311 851,140 47,229 
Less: Accumulated Depredation {244,126) (172.487) (416,613) (37,607) 

Total Capital Assets (Net) 340,703 93,824 434,527 9,622 

Total Noncurrent Assets 340.703 93,824 434,527 9,622 

Total Assets $ 433,305 $ 128,736 $ 562,041 $ 39,438 

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable $ 2,894 $ 1,928 $ 4,822 $ 1,280 
Accrued Liabilities 2,037 3,008 . 5.045 
Accrued Interest Payable 788 451 1,239 124 
Unearned Revenues 7,014 3,701 10,715 1 
Bonds and Notes Payable - General Obligation 159 2,863 3,022 1,832 
Bonds and Notes Payable - Revenue 8,510 8,510 
Compensated Absences 1,332 4,700 6,032 1,047 
Other Post Employment Benefit 222 222 
Risk Claims 5,020 5.020 10,665 
Capital Leases 241 241 
Other Liabilities 16 4,093 4,109 

Total Current Liabilities 22,991 25,986 48,977 14,949 

Long-Term Liabilities: 
Bonds and Notes Payable - General Obligation 368 28,925 29,293 11,953 
Bonds and Notes Payable - ~evenue 191,374 191 ,374 
Compensated Absences 1,170 4,175 5,345 1,280 
Risk Claims 5,766 5,766 4,247 
Other Post Employment Benefits 9,705 9,705 8,226 
Capital Leases 293 293 

Total Long-Term Liabilities 202,910 38.866 241,776 25.706 

Total Liabilities 225,901 64.852 290,753 40,655 

Net Assets {Liabilities) 
Unrestricted 3,256 1,848 5,104 2,946 
Restricted for. 

Debt Service 15,161 15,161 
Capital Asset Needs 8,039 8,039 

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 180,948 62.036 242,984 (4,163) 
.. 

Total Net Assets (Liabilities) 207,404 63,884 271.288 (1,217! 
i . 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 433.305 $ 128.736 $ 562,041 $ 39,438 

The notes to the linandal statement are an integral part of this statement. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets 

Proprietary Funds 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 
( 

(In Thousands) 

Business-T:i~ Activities- Enterprise Funds Governmental 
Activities-
Internal 

Transit Service 

Airports System Total Funds 
Operating Revenues: 

Rentals and Other Service Fees $ 70,996 $ 120 5 71 ,1 16 $ 33,505 
Admissions and Concessions 16,244 16,244 
Transit Fares 52,403 52,403 

Total Charges for Services 87,240 52,523 139,763 33,505 
Other Revenues 14 4,083 4,097 563 

Total Operating Revenues 87,254 56,606 143,860 34,068 

Operating Expenses: 
Personnel Services 25,301 112,624 137,925 13,356 
Contractual Services 19,490 26,526 46,016 7,710 
Intra-County Services 9,977 1,304 11,281 2,467 
Commodities 5,094 15,875 20,969 672 
Depreciation and Amortization 18,915 15,108 34,023 1,848 
Maintenance 1,182 804 1,986 432 
Other 30 2,259 2,289 
Insurance and Claims 7,102 

Total Operating Expenses 79,989 174,500 254,489 33,587 

Operating Income (Loss) 7,265 {117,894l (110,629) 481 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses): 
Intergovernmental Revenues 159 89,670 89,829 1,324 
Investment Income 313 313 
Interest Expense (10,194) (1,380) (11,574) (640) 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) {9.722l 88,290 78,568 684 

Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers (2,457) (29,604) (32,061) 1,165 

Capital Contributions 35,767 15,816 51,583 1,472 
Transfers In 17,926 17,926 1,140 
Transfers Out (2,150) (244) (2,394) (1 ,603) 

Change in Net Assets 31,160 3,894 35,054 2,174 

Net Assets (Liabilities) - Beginning 176,244' 59,990 236,234 (3,391l 
Net Assets (Liabilities)- Ending $ 207,404 $ 63,884 $ 271,288 $ (1,217) 

The notes to the financial statement are an integral part of this statement. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
j.· 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Governmental 

Business-T~ Activities - Ente!E!!se Funds Activities 

Internal 
Transit Service 

Airports System Total Funds 
Cash Flows Provided {Used) by Operating Activities: 

Receipts from Customers Users $ 82,565 $ 56,341 $ 138,906 $ 7,542 
Receipts from lnterfund Services 28,782 
Payments to Suppliers (28,455) (42,381) (70,836) (15,449) 
Payments to Employees (23,981) (114,298) (138,279) (12,455) 
Payments for lnterfund Services Used (9,977) (1 ,304) (11,281) (2,443) 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 20,152 (101 ,642) (81,490) 5,977 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Noncapital FinanCing Activities: 
Intergovernmental Revenues 159 102,189 102,348 1:594 
Transfers From Other Funds 17,926 17,926 1,140 
Transfers (To) Other Funds 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Noncapital 
(2,150) (244) (2,394) {1,603) 

Financing Activities (1.991) 119,871 117,880 1,131 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Capital and 
Related Financing Activities: 

Proceeds from Bonds 83 
Proceeds from Refunding Bonds 3,338 3,338 
Capital Contributions 35,767 15,816 5(583 1,472 
Principal Payment on Bonds (8,502) (2,505) (11,007) (1,918) 
Principal Payment on Refunding Bonds (3,g82) (3,982) 
Premium on Bonds 438 438 
Interest Paid on Bonds (11,194) (1,395) (12,589) (625) 
Payments on Capital Lease (295) (295) 
Acquisition of Capital Assets 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Capital 
(49,246) (15,877) (65.123) (1 ,526) 

and Related Financing Activities {33,470) {4,167) (37,637) (2.514) 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Investing Activities: 
Investment Income 313 313 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 313 313 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (14,996) 14,062 (934) 4,594 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 97,552 6,883 104.435 22.244 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 82,556 $ 20,945 $ 103,501 $ 26,838 

NONCASH CAPITAL A ND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Capital Assets Financed by Capital Leases $ 439 $ $ 439 $ 

Recon ciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to 
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 

Operating Income (Loss) $ 7,265 $ 
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to 

(117,894) $ (110,629) $ 481 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities: 
Depreciation and Amortization 18,915 15,108 34,023 1,848 

(Increase) Decrease in Assets: 
Accounts Receivable (1,764) 59 (1,705) 1,578 
Other Receivables 125 125 
Due from Other Governments 637 637 
Inventories (815) (815) 
Prepaid Items 2,884 2,884 76 

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities: 
Accounts Payable (2,659) 335 (2,324) 258 
Accrued Liabilities 19 (1 '196) (1,177) (58) 
Unearned Revenues (3,568) 201 (3.367) 
Compensated Absences (344) 214 (130) (313) 
Risk Claims (914) (914) 835 
Other Post Employment Benefits 1,645 222 1,867 1,272 
Other Liabilities 6 679 685 
Total Adjustments 12,887 16,252 29,139 5,496 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ 20,152 $ {101 ,642) $ (81,490) s 5,977 

The notes to the financial statement are an integral part of this statement. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets 

Fiduciary Funds 
December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Assets 

Cash and Investments: 
Domestic Common and Preferred Stocks 
Long I Short Hedge Funds 
Corporate Bonds and Convertible Debentures 
International Common and Preferred Stocks 
Real Estate Investments Trusts 
Infrastructure 
Federal Agency and.Mortgage-Backed Certificates 
U.S. Government and State Obligations 
International Fixed Income 
Private Equity 
Deposits 

Total Cash and Investments 

Receivables: 
Pension Trust Fund Contribution 
Accrued Interest and Dividends 
Other 

Securities Lending 
Other Assets 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Accounts Payable 
Agency Deposits 
Securities Lending 
Other Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets 
Held in Trust for Pension Benefits 

$ 

Pension 
Trust 
Fund 

388,658 
174,105 
249,380 
306,113 
114,522 
134,188 
133.475 
75,428 
14,674 
27,605 
84,108 

1,702,256 

30,252 
2,528 
9,572 

58,499 
5,989 

1,809,096 

58,499 
8.490 

66,989 

$ 1,742,107 

The notes to the financial statement are an integral part of this statement. 
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Agency 
Funds 

$ 

24,036 
24,036 

24,036 

208 
23,828 

24,036 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE . 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets 

Pension Trust Fund 

Additions: 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 
(In Thousands) 

Contributions: 
County of Milwaukee 
Plan Participants 
Total Contributions 

Investment Income: 
Net Appreciation (Depreciation) in Fair Value 
Interest and Dividends 
Other Income 

. Total Investment Income 

Security Lending Income 
Less: Security Lending Rebates and Fees 

Net Security Lending Activity 

Investment Expense 
Net Investment Income (Loss) 

Total Additions, Net of Losses 

Deductions: 
Benefits Paid to Retirees and Beneficiaries 
Administrative Expenses 

Total Deductions 

Change In Plan Net Assets 

Plan Net Assets Held In Trust for Pension Benefits 
Beginning of Year 

End of Year 

$ 

$ 

The notes to the financial statement are an integral part of this statement. 
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Total 

28,276 
3,314 

31 ;590 j 

I 
(18,673) ! 

24,069 
5,636 

11 ,032 

222 
(68) 
154 

(3,805) 
7,381 

38,971 

(187,530) 
(4,501) 

(192,031) 

(153,060) 

1,895,167 

1,742,107 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Combining Statement of Net Assets 

Component Units 
December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

War Research 
Memorial Marcus Park 

Museum Center Center Co!Eoration Total 

Assets 
Current Assets: 

Cash and Investments $ 2,585 $ 2 $ 2,843 $ 2,598 $ 8,028 
Accounts Receivable 1,059 727 84 1,870 
Accrued Interest Receivable 1 1 
Inventories 29 142 171 
Prepaid Items 387 7 5 399 

Total Current Assets 4 060 2 3,720 2,687 10.469 

' Noncurrent Assets: 
' 

Long-Term Investments 6,936 979 7,915 
Accounts Receivable 947 947 
Other 512 17 529 
Capital Assets (Net): 

Construction in Progress 51 198 249 
Buildings and Improvements 19,221 22,280 41 ,501 
Machinery, Vehicles and Equipment 10,459 2,074 1 
less: Accumulated Depreciation {13,742~ (13,476~ 
Total Capital Assets (Net) 15,989 11,076 

Total Noncurrent Assets 23,872 12,567 17 
-!: 

Total Assets $ 27,932 $ 2 $ 16,287 $ 2,704 $ 46,925 

Liabi lities 
Current Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable $ 504 $ $ 376 $ 47 $ 927 
Accrued liabilities 671 327 9 1,007 
Accrued Interest Payable 19 19 
Uneamed Revenues 1,093 1,415 104 2,612 
Bonds and Notes Payable 262 8 27 297 
Capital lease~ 11 11 
Other Current Liabilities 65 65 
Accrued Pension and Postretirement Benefits 102 
Tot~l Current liabilities 2 651 2,202 187 

Noncurrent liabilities: l 
Bonds and Notes Payable 4,607 45 5 
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 273 648 
Accrued Pension and Postretirement Benefits 7,726 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 12,606 693 5 

Total Liabilities 15,257 2,895 192 

Net Assets 
Unrestricted (Deficit) (6,011) 2,322 2,207 
Restricted 7,566 2 57 305 
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 11 '120 11,013 

Total Net Assets 12,675 2 131392 2,512 

Total liabilities and Net Assets $ 27,932 $ 2 $ 16,287 $ 2,704 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE l. l Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets 

Component Units 1 ' 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 r (In Thousands) ! 

War Research 
Memorial Marcus Pari< 

Museum Center Center Corporation Total 

Revenues: 
county Program Support $ 3,502 $ 1,748 $ 1,280 $ $ 6.5,30 
Charges for Services: ; ' 

Contributions a.nd memberships ?.854 77 405 71 6,407 
Other 3,125 48 4,855 28 8,056 

Interest on Investments and Rents 1,043 1,058 3,347 644 6,092 
Other 11,723 100 671 108 12,602 

Total Revenues 25,247 3,031 10,558 851 39,687 

Expenses: 
Public Works and Highways 863 863 
Parks, Recreation and Culture 14,344 3,131 10,499 27,974 

Total Expenses 14,344 3,131 10,499 863 28,837 

Changes in Net Assets 10,903 (100) 59 (12) 10,850 

Net Assets - Beginning 1,772 102 13,333 2,524 17,731 
Net Assets - Ending $ 12,675 $ 2 $ 13,392 $ 2,512 $ 28,581 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of th'is statement. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
DECEMBER 31,2011 

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIA~ STATEMENTS 

1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

2 - Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 

3 - Deposits and Investments 

4 - Receivables 

5 - Capital Ass~ts . . 

6- lnterfund Transfers 

7- Leases 

8 - Long-term Liabiliti~s 

9 - Net Assets 

1 0 - Risk Management 

11 -Related Party Transactions 

12 - Subsequent Events 

f~ - Commitments and Contingencies 

14 - Other Post-Employment Benefits 

15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans . 

16 - Pending Governmental Accounting Standards 
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Milwaukee County 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31 , 2011 
(Amounts Expressed in Thousands) 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the "County") incorporated in 1835, is a 
governmental entity established by laws of the State of Wisconsin and has the 
power of a body corporate, as defined by s. 59.01 of the statutes of the State of 
Wisconsin. The Board of County Supervisors (the "Board") governs the County. 
The Board consists of nineteen members who are elected by the citizens of 
Milwaukee County. The County also elects seven pr:incipal officials who are the 
County Executive, the County Treasurer, the District Attorney, the County Clerk, 
the Clerk of Circuit Courts, the Sheriff and the Register of Deeds. 

The financial statements of the County have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental 
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the standard­
setting body for governmental accounting and financial reporting. The GASB 
periodically updates its codificatjon of the existing Governmental Accounting and 
Financial Reporting Standards, which, along with subsequent GASB 
pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations), constitutes GAAP for 
governmental units. 

A. The Reporting Entity 

The County complies with the provisions of GASB Statement No.14 and GASB 
. Statement No. 39 in defining the reporting entity and its component units. As 
defined by GASB Statement No. 14, component units are legally separate 
organizations for which the elected officials of the primary government are 
financially accountable. In addition, component units can be other organizations 
for which the nature and significance of their relationship with a primary 
government are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial 
statements to be misleading or incomplete. The County is financially accountable 
for the organization if it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing 
body and (a) it is able to impose its will on that organization or (b) there is a 
potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose 
specific financial burdens on the County . .The County may also be financially 
accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the County regardless of 
whether the organization has (a) a separately elected governing board, (b) a 
governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or (c) a jointly 
appointed board. In addition, GASB Statement No. 39 states that a legally 
separate, tax-exempt organization should be reported as a component unit of a 
reporting entity if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

A. The Reporting Entity (Continued) 

received or held by the separate organization are entirely for the direct benefit of 
the primary government, its component units, or its constituents, (2) the primary 
government, or its component units, is entitled to or has the ability to otherwise 
access a majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate 
organization, and (3) the economic resources received or held by an individual 
organization that the specific primary government, or its component units, is 
entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to that primary 
government. 

·As required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and based on 
the criteria stated in the above paragraph, the financial statements of the 
reporting entity include those of Milwaukee County, the primary government, and 
its four major component units, which are discretely presented. 

Component Units · 

There are two ways to report component units; blended component units and 
discretely presented component units. Blended component units are legally 
separate entities that are in substance part of government operations, as they 
either have governing bodies that are substantively the same as the board or 
they provide their services exclusively or almo'st exclusively to the government. 
There are no blended component units reported by Milwaukee County. 

Discretely presented component units are legally separate entities, which do not 
meet the criteria for blending. Discretely presented component units are 
presented as a separate column in the government-wide financial statements 
and individually in the combining statements for component units in the fund 
financial statements to emphasize that they are legally separate. As stated 
above, the County has four major discretely presented component units, which 
are described below. 

Milwaukee County War Memorial Center, Inc. (the "Memorial") is organized 
under the Jaws of the State of Wisconsin as a non-profit, non-stock corporation. 
The Memorial is operated under the auspices of Milwaukee County. The purpose 
of the Memorial is to operate four facilities, the War Memorial Center/Milwaukee 
Art Museum, Marcus Center for the Performing Arts, Charles Allis and Villa 
Terrance Art Museums. The governing board of the Center consists of fifteen 
members that are responsible for the general management and control of the 
Center. There are eight members that are appointed by the County Executive 
and co~firmed by the 'County Board of Supervisors. Each individual entity's 
Board oversees the day-to-day operation of their facility. The 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

A. The Reporting Entity (Continued) 

Component Units- (Continued) 

War Memorial Center is presented as a discretely presented component unit of 
the County because the County appoints the voting majority of the Center's 
governing body and therefore has the ability to impose its will on the Center. In 
addition, the County provides the majority of the Center's financial support, thus 
the War Memorial Center has the ability to impose specific financial burdens on 
the County. The War Memorial Center has a fiscal year ending December 3 1s': 

The Marcus Center for the Performing Arts ("Marcus Center") is a not-for­
profit non-stock corporation based in Wisconsin that offers performance facilities, 
a parking structure and various services to a wide range of performing arts. The 
Marcus Center is home to the Milwaukee Symphony Orchestra, the Milwaukee 
Ballet Company, the Milwaukee Youth Symphony Orchestra, the Florentine 
Opera Company, First Stage .Milwaukee and other special arts groups, ethic and 
cultural festivals and community concerts. A twenty-five member Board of 
Directors governs the Marcus Center. Seven members of the Board are 
appointed by the County Executive and confirmed by the County Board of 
Supervisors. The Board of Directors provides oversight and governance for the 
Marcus Center. The President and CEO oversee the day-to-day operations. The 
Marcus Center operates as a separate reporting entity and has combined all of 
its related funds into one set of financial statements. The Marcus Center has 
imposed specific financial burdens on the County and therefore, the Marcus 
Center is presented as a discretely presented component unit within the County's 
comprehensive annual financial report. The County owns the majority of the 
economic resources (the building) available to the Marcus Center. The County 
has also assisted in the past with the issuance of general obligation corporate 
purpose bonds to finance certain improvements to the building. Finally, the 
County provides annual appropriations to the Marcus Center. The Marcus 
Center has a fiscal year ending December 3 1st. 

The Milwaukee Pub.lic Museum, Inc. ("The Museum"), is a non-profit natural 
history museum, who!?e purpose is to preserve and protect the collections of the 
museum and to educate the public through exhibits and research into natural 
history. The governing body of the Museum consists of a twenty-seven member 
Board of Directors who oversees the day-to-day operations. The Museum Board 
appoints 18 members, the County Executive appoints five members, and the 
County Board Chairman appoints four members. The Museum is presented as a 
discretely presented component unit of the County because the County owns the 
majority of the economic resources available to the Museum (the building and .the 
artifacts) and because the County provides a significant amount of financial 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial. Statements 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

A. The Reporting Entity (Continued) 

Component Units - (Continued} 

support to the Museum. As a result, the Museum has the ability to impose 
specific financial burdens on the County. The Museum building is not included in 
the Museum's capital assets reported on the Component Unit Statement of Net 
Assets. It is included in the County's Governmental Activities Statement of Net 
Assets. The Museum has a fiscal year ending August 31s1

• 

The Milwaukee County Research Park Corporation, (''The Corporation") is a· 
non-stock, non-profit corporation formed in 1987 for the sole purpose of . 
developing a park for research and technology businesses on the parts of the 
Milwaukee County Institution Grounds that are not required for medical or health 
institution purposes and are leased, conveyed or otherwise transferred to the 
Corporation; provided, however, that such development shall, in the judgment of 
the Corporation, advan~e the economic and social interests of the community. 
The governing body of the Corporation consists of a fifteen-member board. The 
County Executive appoints ten of the members and the County Board Chairman 
appoints five members. The Corporation is presented as a discretely presented 
component unit because the County appoints all of the members of the 
governing board an'd therefore has the ability to impose its will on the 
Corporation. The economic resources held by the Corporation are contributed to 
the Research Park through land sales and rent, by agreement of the County, for 
the direct benefit of the County and its constituents. The Corporation has a fiscal 
year ending Dec~mber 31st. 

Complete financial statements for each of the individual component units may be 
obtained at the entity's administrative offices listed below. 

Milwaukee.County War Memorial Center 
750 North Lincoln Memorial Drive 
Milwaukee, WI 53202 

Milwaukee .Public Museum, Inc. 
800 West Wells Street 
Milwaukee, WI 53233 
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Marcus Center for the Performing Arts 
929 North Water Street 
Milwaukee, WI 53202 

Milwaukee County Research 
Park Corporation 
10437 Innovation Drive 
Wauwatosa, WI 53226 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Related Organizations 

The County Executive of the County is responsible for appointing the members of 
the board of the following organization, but the County's accountability for this 
organization does not extend beyond making the appointments. 

Milwaukee County Federated Library System - The County Executive appoints 
the seven-member board. One board member is required to be a County Board 
Supervisor. In accordance with State Statute s. 43.15, it is a co-operative of the 
fifteen public libraries within Mil~aukee County. The system allows for cross 
border borrowing, in exchange for technological services. 

B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities report information on 
all of the non-fiduciary activ.ities of the primary government and its discretelY' 
presented component units. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has 
been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally 
are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 
from business-type activities, which rely, to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately 
from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government 
is financially accountable. 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the 
proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded· 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless 
of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in 
the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have 
been met. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses 
of a given function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses 
are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 
Program revenue include 1) charges to customers· or applicants who purchase, 
use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting 
the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 

Government-Wide Financial Statements (Continued) 

and other hems not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. The business-type activities follow all 
pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, and have 
elected not to follow Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance issued after 
November 30, 1989. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The underlying accounting system of the County is organized and operated on 
the basis of separate funds, each of which is considered to be a separate 
accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate 
set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, 
revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. Governmental 
resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the 
purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending 
activities are controlled. 

Separate financiar statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, component units, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded 
from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental 
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements. 

The County ~pplies GASB Statement No. 33, "Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions," when accounting for and reporting 
intergovernmental revenue transactions. The governmental fund financial 
s~atements report these revenues when entitlements to those resources have 
occurred and all grant requirements have been met. In the government-wide and 
proprietary fund financial statements these revenues are recognized when 
entitlement .to the resources has occurred and grant requirements have been 
met, regardless of the timing of the revenues. State shared revenues are 
recognized as revenues iri the governmental funds when the County is entitled to 
these funds. Intergovernmental grants re·ceived for proprietary fund operating 
purposes, or which may be utilized for either operations or capital .expenditures at 
the discretion of the County, are -recognized as non-operating revenues in the 
accounting period in which they are earned. Intergovernmental grants restricted 
for the acquisition or construction of capital assets in the proprietary funds are 
recorded as a component of income. 
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Note 1 -Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 

All Financial Statements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management tq make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Governmental Funds 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 

Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
The County considers property tax revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. The County considers inter­
governmental revenues to be available if they are collected within 90 days of the 
end of the current fiscal period. Property taxes, intergovernmental revenues, 
sales taxes, investment income, rents, and charges for services associated with 
the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so 
have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Licenses and 
permits, fines and forfeitures and all other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when the county receives cash. Uncollected 
property taxes of municipalities within the County are purchased and then 
collected by the County. There is no recourse to the municipalities for the 
collection of these taxes. The County uses a two-month availability period for 
recognizing revenue relating to its portion of delinquent property taxes. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However,. debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related 
to compensated absences and claims and judgm~nts, are recorded only when 
payment is due. 

Proprietary Funds 

The County's enterprise funds and internal service funds are proprietary funds. In 
the fund financial statements, proprietary funds are presented using the accrual 
basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they are earned and 
expenses are recognized when the related goods or services are delivered. In 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

B. Measurement Focus and Basis· of Accounting (Continued) 

Proprietary Funds (Continued) 

the fund financial statements, proprietary funds are presented using the 
economic resources measurement focus. This means that all assets and all 
liabilities (whether current or non-current) associated with their activity are 
included on their balance sheets. Proprietary fund type operating statements 
present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net assets. The 
enterprise fund activities follow all pronouncements of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, and have elected not to follow Financial 
Accounting Standards Board guidance. issued after November 30, 1989. 

Proprietary funds separate all activity into two categories: operating and non­
operating revenues and expenses. Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as 
charges for services, result from exchange transactions associated with the 
principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each 
party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Proprietary fund operating · 
expenses result from providing services and producing and delivering goods. 
Non-operating revenues and .expenses entail all other activity not included in 
operating revenues and expenses. Non-operating revenues and expenses 
include capital and non-capital financing activities and in.vesting activities. 

Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets .in the fund 
·financial statements, rather than reported as expenditures. Proceeds from long­
term debt are recorded as a liability in the fund financial statements, rather than 
as other financing sources. Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness ·are 

· reported as a reduction of the related liabilities, rather than as an expense. 

Fiduciary Funds 

The County uses fiduciary funds to account for assets held in a trustee or agency 
capacity. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statements because the resources of these funds are not available to support the 
County's ow·n programs. Trust funds are accounted for using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting . Agency 
funds report only assets and liabilities and therefore do not have a measurement 
focus; however, agency funds use the accrual basis of accounting .to recognize 
receivables and payables. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Acco_unting Policies (Continued) 

C. Basis of Presentation 

The County has presented the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for 
and reports all financial resources of the general government, except those 
resources required to be accounted for in another fund. 

The Debt Service Fund accounts for and reports the accumulation of resources 
that are restricted, committed or assigned for the payment of prin.cipal and 
interest on long-term general obligation debt. 

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for and reports the financial resources that 
are restricted, committed or assigned for the acquisition or construction of major 
capital facilities and other capital assets. · 

The County has presented the following major proprietary funds: 

The Airports Fund accounts for the operations of General Mitchell International 
and Timmerman Airports. Airport passenger faci lity charges and related capital 
expenditures are not accounted for in the airport's enterprise fund but are 
accounted for as a special revenue fund. 

The Transit System Fund accounts for the activities of the Milwaukee County 
Transit System and the Paratransit System. The Transit System provides public 
transportation in the Milwaukee metropolitan area and is managed by Milwaukee 
Transport Services, Inc., a private non-profit corporation. The Paratransit System 
is also operated by Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc., to provide transportation, 
using private vendors, for passengers who meet the paratransit eligibility 
requirements. 

The County has presented tt)~ following non-major funds and other fund 
types: · 

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of 
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for 
specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. The specific 
purpose of each fund is as follows: 

. . 

Zoo-used for the purchase of animals and maintenance of the miniature 
passenger railroad for the Milwaukee County Zoo. 

Parks- used for the enhancement of the Todd Wehr Nature Center and 
restoration of the Trimbom Farm as a historic park. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

C. Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

Persons with Disabilities- used for special projects to help free disabled 
persons from environmental and attitudinal barriers. 

Behavioral Health Division- used for mental health research, patient activities 
and special events, and compensated absence payouts for Behavioral Health 
Division retirees. · 

Public Works- used for compensated absence payouts and other post­
employment benefit costs for retirees from the Fleet Maintenance and Facilities 
Management divisions. 

Airport PFC (Passenger Facility Charge)- used for the collection of Federal 
Aviation Administration (FAA) approved passenger facility charges, which are to 
be used for capital projects at the Airport. In addition, a trust is maintained in this 
fund to secure a pledge by the County for repayment of certain debt of local 
airlines. ' · · 

Health and Safety- established for Risk Management to work with the 
countywide safety committee to address safety issues. It also funds costs 
associated with new employee health screenings. · 

Internal Service Funds account for the financing of goods and services 
provided by one department to other departments of the County, or to other 
governmental entities, on a cost-reimbursement basis. Information Management 
Services, Public Works Services, and Risk Management are the County's 
internal service funds. 

The Pension Trust Fund accounts for the activities of the Employees' 
Retirement System and OBRA 1990 Retirement System of the County of 
Milw~ukee. This. fund accumulates resources for pension benefit payments to 
qualified Milwaukee County employees. Substantially all full and part-time 
employees of the County participate in these single-employer defined benefit 
plans. ' 

Agency Funds.are custodial in nature and are used to account for assets held 
by the County as an agent for individuals, private organizations .and other 
governmental units. The significant agency fund within the County is the Civil 
Court-ordered Family Support Payments. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity 

1. Deposits and Investments 

To facilitate cash management of the County's resources, cash and investments 
are pooled in common accounts. All cash and investments pooled in common 
accounts are considered cash equivalents for the purposes of the statements of 
cash flows. The cash and investment balance in each fund, except for certain 
Special Revenue, and Agency Funds, and certain cash accounts of the Airports · 
Fund and Transit Fund represent the equity in these pooled resources. 

Substantially all of the deposits and investments of the Agency Funds are held 
separately from those of other County funds. The Airports Fund holds certain 
reserves under Revenue Bond restrictions separately. A portion of cash and 
investments in the Transit Fund are held in a separate account with Milwaukee 
Transport Services, Inc., a non-profit corporation. The resources of the Special 
Revenue, Pension Trust, and Agency funds are restricted and are not available 
to the County to finance its operations. 

Statutes authorize the County to invest in State-authorized financial institution 
time deposits that mature in not more than three years, bonds or securities 
issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the Federal government, 

. bonds or securities of any municipality of the State, securities that mature not 
more than ten years from the date on which the security was acquired and which 
has a rating in one of the two highest categories assigned by a nationally­
recognized rating agency, repurchase agreements secured by funds or securities 
issued or guaranteed as to principaf and interest by the Federal government, and 
local government pooled investment funds. In addition, the Pension Board, as 
administrator of the Pension Trust Fund, is authorized to invest in all types of 
investments deemed appropriate. 

All investments are stated at fair value including investments in the Pension Trust 
fund. 

2. Receivables 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending /borrowing . 
arr~ngements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either 
"due to/from other funds" (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or "advances 
to/from other funds" (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). Milwaukee 
County has no "Advances to/from other funds". All other outstanding balances 
between funds are reported as "due to/from other funds". 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial Statements 

87 

! 

;. 
:I 
I'~ 

I 
I ., 

I 

... j 
: 
: 

' I 

l .... 
I ' 
I 
i 



Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

2. Receivables (Contim,ted) 

Amounts due from private individuals, organizations or other governments, which 
pertain to charges for services rendered by County departments are reported as 
accounts receivable. Receivables are reviewed periodically to establish or 
update the allowance for doubtful amounts. All trade receivables for the 
Business-type funds are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. 

Property tax receivables represent the taxes levied on or before December 31; 
the lien date. Taxes are recognized in the governmental funds as revenue in the 
year when they are available to finance county services. Since these property 
tax receivables are not available for the current fiscal year, they are fully reflected 
as deferred revenues. 

Property taxes are levied based on the equalized value~ which is computed from 
January 1, the assessment date, of all general property located in the County. 
The equalized value excludes tax incremental financing districts. The taxes are · 
due on the last day of January but may be paid in two or more installments, 
depending on local ordinance. 

Delinquent property tax receivable is comprised of the unpaid property taxes the 
County purchases from other taxing authorities, except the City of Milwaukee, to 
facilitate the collection of taxes. The purchases are a financing arrangement and 
are reflected as a reservation of fund balance at year-end for amounts 
considered unavailable. The County's portion of uncollected property taxes within 
the boundaries of the City of Milwaukee is sold, at the unpaid balance, to the City 
each year. 

Interest is earned 'on investments and delinquent property taxes. Accrued 
interest at the end of the year on delinquent taxes, that is not collectable within 
sixty days are reflected as deferred revenue in the governmental funds. 

3. lnve_ntory and Prepaid Items 

Inventories are valued at average cost or current cost, which approximates the 
first-in/first-out (FIFO) method . . Inventories in the governmental and proprietary 
funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than VJhen 
purchased. · 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods 
and are recorded as prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund 
financial statements. · 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

. 3. Inventory and Prepaid Items (Continued) 

Milwaukee County has a self-funded health insurance plan with United 
Healthcare. A requirement of the self-funded plan is that the County maintains 
$2,434 on deposit as of December 31 , 2011 . · 

4. Restricted Assets 

Certain proceeds of the Airports enterprise fund revenue bonds, as well as 
certain resources set aside for repayment, are classified as restricted assets on 
the balance sheet because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and 
their use is limited by applicable bond covenants. At the end of 2011 , these 
restricted assets were $ 15,161 stated earlier (see item 1 under section D in the 
notes), the Special Revenue and Agency funds are also restricted resources and 
are not available to the County to· finance its operations. 

The Airport Revenue Bond Interest and Principal Account is used to segregate 
resources accumulated for the semi-annual debt service payments. The Airport 
Revenue Bond Debt Service Reserve Account is used to report resources set 
aside to make up for any future deficiencies that may occur in the Airport 
Revenue Bond Principal and Interest Account. In addition, Airport Revenue 
Bond covenants require that fund equity be reserved for Debt Coverage, and 
Operations and Maintenance Reserves. The Debt Coverage Reserve Account 
and the Operations and Maintenance Reserve Account are used to report 
resources set aside to subsidize potential deficiencies from the Airport operation 
that could adversely affect debt service payments. When both restricted and 
unrestricted resources are available to make certain payments, the County uses 
unrestricted resources to liquidate payments. 

Net Restricted Airport passenger facility charges totaled$ 21,255 at the end of 
2011. Passenger facility charges are collected by the Airport and are used for 
capital projects or repayment of bonds for approved capital projects. The 
passenger facility charges are accounted for in a sepa.rate Special Revenue 
Fund. 

In addition, at the end of 2011, the Airport had $ 28,517 of 2004, 2005, 2006, 
2007, 2009 and 2010 revenue bond proceeds that were unspent, and for 
·purposes of this report·, are considered restricted. · 

In addition, the County has restricted$ 5,944 of contributed assets for a . 
$ 14,400 debt guarantee made by the County on behalf of a local company. The 
County provided the guarantee in return for a mortgage on specific assets of the 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

4. Restricted Assets {Continued) 

company plus $ 4,900 of cash provided by the company and the State of 
Wisconsin. These funds act as a debt reserve, and are fncluded in. the Airport 
special revenue fund. During 2009, the company announced that another 
company was purchasing it and the County Board of Supervisors approved a 
three-year extension of the agreement to August 15, 2012. 

While the local' company was purchased by a third party, the local company and 
the County continue to maintain their agreement for collateral support. There are 
no plans for the transfer of the agreements to the third party. However, the third­
party continues to honor the agreement and make principal and interest 
payments in accordance with underlying agreements. The assets continue to be 
maintained by the third-party, and the third-party has been attempting to sell or 
lease the assets to pay down the debt. 

Under a contract agreement between the State of Wisconsin Department of 
Health and Family Services and the County's Department of Family Care, the 
County is required to restrict cash of$ 11 ;432. This restricted cash is for a 
working capital reserve and restricted reserve under the contract. 

5. ·capital Assets 

Government-wide Statements 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure 
assets (e.g. roads, bridges, drc;~inage, lighting systems, and similar items), are 
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in 
the government-wide financial statements. The County defines capital assets as 
assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $ 2,500 (two thousand five 
hundred dollars) and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. The 
exception to this is for purchases of data processing equipment in which the 
initial individ_ual cost ha~ to be more than$ 1,000 (one thousand dollars). Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 
constructed. Capital assets received as gifts or donations are recorded at 
estimated fair market value at the time of receipt. 

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the 
asset or materially extend the assets' lives are not capitalized. 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized at cost when 
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Note 1 • Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
. . 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

5. Capital Assets (Continued) 

purchased or constructed and updated for the cost of additions and retirements 
during the year. 

Property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure of the primary government and its 
component units are depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
following estimated useful lives: 

Assets 
Buildings 
Land lmprovem.ents 
Vehicles 
Office Equipment 
Building Improvements 
Infrastructure 
Computer Equipment 

Years 
40-50 
20-25 

5-12 
5-10 

20 
20 
5 

The County owns a collection of zoo animals and a collection of museum 
historical artifacts. The County'~ collection of zoo animals and museum historical 
artifacts meet the definition of a capital asset and normally should be capitalized 
and reported in the financial statements. However, the requirement of 
capitalization is waived for collections meeting all of the following conditions, 1) 
the collection is held for reasons other than financial gain. 2) The collection is 
protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and preserved. 3) The collection is 
subject to an organizational policy requiring that the proceeds from sales of 
collection items be used to acquire other items for collections. With regard to the 
collection of zoo animals and in accordance with industry practice, animal 
collections are recorded at the nominal amount of$ 1 (one dollar), as there is no 
objective basis for establishing value. Additionally, animal collections have 
numerous attributes, including species, age, sex, relationship and value to other 
animals, endangered status, and breeding potential, whereby it is impracticable 
to assign value. Acquisitions are recorded as expenditures in the period of 
acquisition. In an ongoing commitment to enhance the worldwide reproduction 
and preservation of animals, the County shares animals with other organizations. 
Consistent with industry practice, the County does not record any asset or liability 
for such sharing arrangements, a~ generally these arrangements are without 
monetary consideration. 

The County has elected not to capitalize the collection of museum historical 
artifacts because these assets meet the criteria stated above that qualify the 
collections for exemption from the capitalization requirement. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continu.ed) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

5. Capital Assets (Continued) 

Fund Financial Statements 

In" the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund 
· operations are accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental 
fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are 
accounted for the same way as in the governmenhwide statements. 

6. Compensated Absences 

County employees are granted sick and annual vacation leave in varying 
amounts in accordance with administrative policies and union contracts. County 
employees are requested to use all accumulated vacation time earned before the 
end of the subsequent calendar year. In the event of termination or retirement, 
the employees are paid for accumulated vacation days. 

Generally, accumulated sick pay is forfeited upon termination other than 
retirement. When an employee retires, accumulated sick leave benefits vest. 
Most represented employees are entitled to payment upon retirement for a 
majority of accumulated sick leave hours earned. Depending on their date of hire, . 
a represented retiring employee is entitled to either full cash payout, partial 
payment in cash or credit for post-employment health insurance costs. Non­
represented employees who retire are entitled to payment for accumulated sick 
leave up to a maximum of 400 hours plus 16 hours per 100 hours, or fraction 
thereof, of accrued sick leave in excess of the 400 hours, instead of full payment 
for all accumulated sick leave. ·Payments for retiree sick pay benefits were 
$5,941 in 2011. 

Amounts of vacation and sick pay earned and vested by employees have been 
accrued in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. The 
short-term portions of compensated absences are classified as current liabilities. 
For the governmental activities and the business-type activities the short-term 
portion is$ 21,575 and$ 6,032, respectively. The long-term portion of 
compensated absences, generally for sick leave payable upon retirement, is 
classified as compensated absences. Amounts paid to employees. in the 
governmental fund types within 60 days of year-end have been recorded as an 
expense in the governmental funds. 
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Note 1 ~Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

7. Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the 
fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are 
reported as liabil ities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type 
activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of 
the bonds using the straight-line method. Gains and losses on prior refundings 
are amortized over the remaining life of the prior ·debt, or the life of the new debt, 
whichever is shorter. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond 
premium or discount and·gains or losses, as applicable. Bond issuance costs are 
reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term of the related debt. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond 
premiums an·d discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current 
period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. 
Premiums on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance 
costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures. 

The 1993 Refunding Bonds included zero coupon bonds, which were sold at a 
deep discount. These zero coupon bonds mature, in the last three years of the 
bond issue beginning in 2009. The discount on the 1993 zero coupon bonds are 
amortized as accretion (interest expense) over the life of the bonds in the 
government-wide and in the proprietary fund type financial statements. The 1993 
bonds were paid off during 2011 . . 

8. Equity Classifications 

Government-wide Statements 

Equity is classified as net assets and displayed in three components: 

a. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets, 
net of accumulated deprecation, reduced by the outstanding balances of 
any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable. to 
the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets less any 
unspent debt proceeds. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

8. Equity Classifications (Continued) 

Government-wide Statements (Continued) 

b. Restricted net assets - Consists of net assets with constraints placed on 
their use either by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or, 2) law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net assets- All other net assets that do not meet the definition 
of "restricted" or "invested in capital assets, net of related debt". 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the 
County's policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources, 
as they are needed. 

Fund Statements 

In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is displayed in the 
following classifications that are based on the spending constraints placed on the 
resources: 

. • Nonspendable Fund Balance- amounts that are not in a spendable 
form (such as inventory). 

• Restricted Fund Balance -amounts constrained to specific purposes by 
their providers (such as grantors, bondholders, or higher levels of 
government). 

• Committed Fund Balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes as 
approved or rescinded in a Board Resolution, and in compliance with 
State Statue. 

• Assigned Fund Balance - amounts constrained by the County's intent to 
be used for specific purposes, but are neithe·r restricted nor committed. 
The County has restrictions against and does not presently have any . . 
Assigned Fund Balance. 

• Unassigned Fund Balance- amounts included in the residual 
classification for the· General Fund· that have not been restricted, 
committed, or assigned to specific purposes. The County has restrictions 
against and does not presently have any Unassigned Fund Balance. 
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Note ·1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

8. Equity Classifications (Continued) 

Fund Statements {Continued) 

The County considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted 
and unrestricted fund balance is available unless there are legal 
documents/contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant agreement~ 
requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the County would first use 
committed, then assigned and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund 
balance when expenditures are made. 

·In the enterprise fund and government-wide financial statements, the portion of 
net assets that is invested in capital assets net of related debt is reported 
separately. Restricted net assets are reported for amounts that are legally 
restricted by outside parties to be used for a specific purpose. · 

The Statutes of the State of Wisconsin require that the surplus/deficit of all 
departments of the County be determined in accordance with GAAP based on 
fund financial statements. The amount of any surplus/deficit of the current year is 
reserved by County Ordinance 32.91(4)a(4) and State Statute to be used to 
reduce/increase property tax levy in the subsequent budget period. 

The Board of Supervisors may by two-thirds vote, adopt a resolution prior to the 
adoption of the tax levy authorizing the surplus, in whole or in part, be placed in a 
debt service ·reserve for the retirement of outstanding general obligation bonds of · 
the County. The Board of Supervisors may also by two-thirds vote adopt a 
resolution authorizing the surplus to be used to provide funds for emergency 
needs, as defined under the Statutes. The surplus cannot be used for any other 
purposes except those stated above. 

9. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The County's Behavioral Health Division (BHD) provides an allowance for all 
third-party payers such as Medicare, Medicaid, HMO's, and other types of health 
insurance. The County's Aging Care Maintenance Organization (Aging CMO) 
provides an allowance for amounts due from the State in the event a client is not 
eligible for .~ervice reimbursell,lent _and ~or client service co-payme~ts. The .· 
County's Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) provides an 
allowance for amounts due from recipients of housing loans p(ovided to low­
income homeowners. BHD, Aging CMO, and DHHS adjust revenue in the· 
current year of operations for the difference between amounts billed (or loans 
made) and expected reimbursement. In as much as the adjustment is an . 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

9. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (Continued) 

estimate, any difference between the amount accrued and the amount settled is 
recorded in operations in the year of settlement.' At December 31, 2011, the total 
allowance for BHD, Aging CMO, and DHHS was$ 13,713. No other allowances 
for doubtful accounts are maintained since other fund accounts receivable are 
considered collectable as reported at December 31, 2011. All allowances are 
netted against receivables for financial statement presentation. ' 

10. · . Capitalization of Interest 

Interest is capitalized on business-type assets acquired with tax-exempt debt. 
The amount of interest to be capitalized is calculated by offsetting debt interest 
expense incurred from the date of the borrowing until completion of the project, 
with interest earned on invested, unspent debt proceeds over the same period. 
Du,ring 2011 , the net amount of capitalized interest was$ 3, 192. 

11. Obligation for Bond Arbitrage Rebate 

Pursuant to Section 148(f) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, the County must 
rebate to the United States Government the excess of interest earned from the 
investment of certain debt proceeds and pledged revenues over the yield rate of 
the applicable debt. The County uses the "revenue reduction" approach in 
accounting for rebateable arbitrage. This approach treats excess earnings as a 
reduction of revenue. There is no liability for rebateable arbitrage as of December 
31, 2011. 

12. Landfill Post-Closure Costs 

Under the terms of current state and federal regulations, the County is required 
to place a final cover on closed landfill areas, and to perform certain monitoring 
and maintenance functions for a period of up to thirty years after closure. The 
County recognizes these costs of closure and post-closure maintenance over the 
active life of each landfill area, based on landfill capacity used during the period. 
Required obligations for closure ano post-closure costs are recognized in the 
Government-wide financial statement as part of the governme~tal activities. 

13. Pollution Remediation Costs 

The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources has designated the County as 
the responsible party in the cleanup of petroleum contamination located on 
County property. The County has recorded a long-term obligation for these 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.inued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

13. Pollution Remediation Costs (Continued) 

pollution remediation costs. These costs are recognized in the governmental 
activities. 

14. Capital Contributions 

The capital contributions accounted for in the proprietary fund types represent 
contributions from other funds and state and federal grant programs. A negative 
capital contribution represents a return of capital contribu.tions, or the issuance-of 
debt used for building capital assets. The contributions amount is reported after 
non-operating revenues and expenses on the statement of revenues, expenses, 
and changes in fund net assets in accordance with GASB Statement 34. 

15. Unearned Revenues 

Deferred revenues reported in the government-wide and proprietary financial 
statements represent unearned revenues. The unearned revenues will be 
recognized as revenue in the fiscal year they are earned in accordance with the 
accrual t?asis of accounting. Deferred revenues reported in governmental fund 
financial statements represent unearned revenues or revenues, which are 
measurable but not available and, in accordance with the modified accrual basis 
of accounting, are reported as deferred revenues. 

16. Pension Obligation Asset 

Pension expenditures of governmental fund types are recognized on the modified 
accrual basis; which means that the amount of pension expense recognized is 
equal to the amount contributed to the plan or expected to be liquidated with 
expendable available financial resources. In the government-wide and 
proprietary financial statements, pension expense is recognized on the accrual 
basis; which means that the amount recognized in the current period is equal to 
annual pension cost. The pension obligation/asset represents the difference 
between the annual required contribution plus interest, net of payments. 

17. Encumbrances 

Encumbrance accounting is employed in gove·rnmerital funds. Encumbrances of 
Purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of funds 
are recorded as restriction of fund balance and encumbrance. As of year-end, 
encumbrances are not reflected as expenditures but as restriction of fund 
balance and are liquidated in subsequent years. Every appropriation lapses at 
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Note 1 -Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity (Continued) 

17. Encumbrances 

December 31, to the extent that it has not been expended or encumbered. 
Expenditures are recorded and encumbrances are liquidated when the services 
or materials are received. 

18. Claims and Judgments 

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities wh€m the conditions of the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board pronouncements are met. The 
liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is only reported in . 
governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the 
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the 
related liabilities are incurred. 

19. Other Post Employment Benefit Obligations 

' .Other Post Employment Benefit (OPES) expenditures of governmental fund 
. types are recognized .on the modified accrual basis; which means that the 

amount of OPES expense recognized is equal to the amount contributed to the 
plan or expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 
In the government-wide and proprietary financial .statements, OPES expense is. 
recogni.zed on the accrual basis; which means that the amount recognized in the 
current period is equal to annual OPEB cost. The OPEB obligation represents 
the differenc~ between the annual required contribution plus interest, net of 
payments. 

E. Governmental Accounting Standards for 2011 

In fiscal year 2011, the County implemented GASB Statement No. 54, "Fund 
Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions". This Statement 
provides ~ore clearly defined categories to make the nature and extent of the 
constraints .Placed on the County's fund balance. The description of these 
categories is described above in Equity Classifications . 

. (This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

Budgetary Information 

All County departments are required to submit their annual budget requests for 
the ensuing year to the County Executive by June 15. The Department of 
Administration, acting as staff for the County Executive, reviews the requests in 
detail with the departments during June, July and August. After all of the requests 
have been reviewed, the County Executive submits his proposed Executive 
Budget to the Board of Supervisors. County Ordinance requires that this be done 
on or before October 1. The Board of Supervisors must complete its review and 
adopt the budget on or before the first Tuesday after the second Monday in 
November. 

All adopted budgets for the governmental funds are prepared in accordance with 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, except for the treatment of the fund 
balance- restriction for 2011 appropriations and encumbrances. For budget 
purposes, fund balance-restricted for 2011 appropriations - is reflected as other 
financing sources whereas, for accounting purposes, it is reflect_ed as part of fund 
balance. For budget purposes, encumbrances are recorded as expenditures as -
opposed to a restri_ction of fund balance. 

The Board of'Supervisors legally adopts annual budgets for the general, debt 
service, capital projects, enterprise and internal service funds. The legal level of 
budgetary control is by department. For budget purposes, the Debt Service and 
Capital Projects Funds are considered departments. 

Once the budget is adopted, transfers of appropriations among departments 
require approval by the Board of Supervisors and ate permitted only during the 
last three months of the year. Supplemental appropriations for the purpose of 
public emergencies may be made from unanticipated revenues received or 
surplus earned, as defined by resolution adopted by a vote of two-thirds of the 
members of the board of supervisors. Supplemental appropriations from the 
issuance of tax anticipation notes require an affirmative vote of three-fourths of 
the members of the board of supervisors. During the 2011 fiscal year, the Board . 
of Supervisors adopted no supplemental appropriations. 

Budgetary Basis of Accounting 

The "statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances­
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)- General Fund_" is prepared on 
a basis consistent with the legally adopted budget. Under this method, 
encumbrances outstanding are charged to budgetary appropriations and 
considered as expenditures of the current period. In the Non-GAAP Budgetary 
Basis statements, principal and interest payments on pension obligation bonds · 
are considered a departmental personnel service appropriation and are reflected 
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Note 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (Continued) 

Budgetary Basis of Accounting (Continued) . 

as an expenditure, instead of a debt service fund operating transfer under other 
financing sources (uses). The "Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances- Governmental Funds" is prepared on a basis 
consistent with GAAP. Under this method, encumbrances are considered a 
restriction of fund balance and charged to expenditures in the period in which 
goods or services are received. · 

A reconciliation for the General Fund is as follows: 

GAAP Basis 
Encumbrances 
Pension/Oth~r 

Transfers to Component Units 

Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis 

Expenditures 
$ 939,875 

$ 

10,961 

18,666 
(6,531) 

962,971 

Other Financing 
Sources (Uses) 
$ (107,495) 

$ 

33,250 
(6,531) 

(80,776) 

Appropriations lapse at year-end except for capital projects, which are carried 
forward to the subsequent year. 

Deficit Fund Net Assets 

The Information Management Services Internal Service Fund had a negative 
balance of net assets (net liabilities) of$ 3,968 as of December 31, 2011. The 
net liabilities were due to the fund incurring depreciation expense on assets 
purchased with the debt proceeds at a faster rate than the payment of principal 
on the outstanding debt. The· net liabilities will breakeven in future years as the 
principal is paid down by the fund. 

Cou·nty Tax Rate· Limit (Amounts Expressed in Dollars) 

Section 59.605 of the Wisconsin Statues imposes a limit on the property tax rate 
that the County can impose upon its citizens. Separate limits were imposed for 
operating levy rates and debt service levy rates of$ 4.08 per$ 1,000 of 
equalized value and $ 1.42 per$ 1,000 of equalized value, respectively. For the 
tax budget year of 2011, the County's actual operating and debt service levy 
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Note 2 • Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (Continued) 

County Tax Rate Limit {Amounts Expressed in Dollars) Continued 

rates were $ 3.58 per$ 1 ,000 of equalized value and $ .88 per $ 1 ,000 of 
equalized value, respectively. For 2012, further limits on the increase in the 
overall operating tax levy have been imposed by the State, while allowing for 
increases due to changes in debt. 

Note 3- Deposits and Investments 

The majority of the deposits and investments of the Primary Government, 
excluding the Pension Trust Fund, are maintained in a pool of cash and 
investments in which each fund participates on a dollar equivalent basis. Interest 
is distributed monthly to certain trusts and funds, which have been designated as 
interest earning funds. The remaining investment earnings are provided as an 
offset to costs for the government as a whole. A "zero balance account" 
mechanism provides for the sweep of deposits made to bank accounts and the 
payment for checks presented against accounts. The Primary Government, 
excluding the Pension Trust, then makes a decision to either transfer funds to an 
investment manager for the purchase of government securities, or to maintain 
the funds in the financial institution. Funds sent to the investment manager are 
used to purchase investments that meet the County's investment policy and 
State Statute requirements. The net funds maintained at the County's primary 

' financial institution will earn a guaranteed rate of return set to the current market 
LIBOR rates. The funds maintained at.the County's primary financial institution 
are secured· by collateral in the County's name at a Federal Reserve Bank. The 
County maintains other bank accounts for convenience of deposit. These 
accounts are transferred to the primary account as warranted . 

. [This section intentionally left blank] 

County of. Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial Statements 

L
;r . 

. 

-

101 

:j 
,f 

I 
! ~ ,, 

r. . 
il 

) 
.J 
I ·. 
1· . . 
'· 



·. 

Note 3- Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

The following information presents the deposits and investments of the Primary 
Government, excluding the pension trust fund. The pension trust fund is 
presented at the end of the footnote, and will be designated as·"Pension Trust 
Fund". 

Statement of Net Assets: 
Cash and Investments 
Cash and Investments- Restricted 

Subtotal 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets: 
Cash and Investments ' 

Pension Trust Fund 
· Agency Fund 

Total 

Deposits-County/ Agency 
Investments-County/ Agency 
Pension Deposits 
Pension Investments 

Total 

$ 277,796 
82,309 

$ 360,105 

1,702,256 
24,036 

$ 2,086,397 

$ 99,623 
284,518 

84,108 
1,618,148 

$2,086,397 

Cash Deposits- County/Agency 

The car,Y.ing amount of the County's deposits at December 31, 2011 was 
$ 99,623 and the bank balance was$ 107,630. 

Custodial Credit Risk-Deposits- County/Agency 

The custodial credit risk "for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 
depository financial institution, the County will not be able to recover deposits or 
will not be able to cover collateral securities that are in the .possession of an 
outside ·entity. Interest bearing deposits with banks are insured by the FDIC in 
the amount of$ 250. Non-interest bearing deposits are insured by the FDIC at 
full value. The State Deposit Guarantee Fund insures deposits up to a total of 
$400 per entity, not per banking institution. The County does not have a deposit 
policy for custodial credit risk. Of the $ 1.07,630 of deposits with financial 
institutions, $ 2,375 was covered by Federal depository insurance and State 
governmental insurance, subject to availability of funds in the State's Deposit 
Guarantee Fund and$ 101 ,888 was collateralized with governmeht securities 
held in a separate financial institution in the County's name, and $ 3,367 was 
uninsured, uncollateralized, or exposed to custodial credit risk. 
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i Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Investments- County/Agency 

The County's investment policy applies to all financial assets held or controlled 
by Milwaukee County, other than pension trust fund assets, consistent with the 
intent of State of Wisconsin Statutes (S.66.0603(1 m)) and Milwaukee County 
Ordinance. 

The primary objectives of the County's Statement of Investment Policies is to 
preserve and protect investment principal, maximize the return on the investment 
portfolio, and to avoid assuming unreasonable investment risk. The investment 
portfolio shall be designed with the objective of obtaining a market rate of return 
throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the County's 
investment risk constraints and liquidity needs. The County's investment portfolio 
will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the County to meet reasonably anticipated 
day-to-day operating requirements. The County will employ mechanisms to 
control risk and diversify its investments with respect to specific security types or 
individual security issuers. 

As of December 31, 2011 the County had the following investments: 

Investment Type 
U.S. Treasury Bonds 
U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Bonds 
U.S. Treasury Notes 
U.S. Treasury Bills 
U.S. Agency Fixed Rate Securities 
U.S. Agency Guaranteed Adjustable Rate Securities 
GNMA Fixed Rate Securities 
FNMA Fixed Rate Securities 
GNMA Guaranteed Adjustable Rate Securities 
Small Business Administration Guaranteed Adjustable Rate Securities 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 
Treasury Mutual Fund 
Corporate Government Guaranteed Notes 
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 
Corporate Bonds 
Futures Hedge Contract with Commodities Broker 
Certificates of Deposit 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 

Total 

Fair Value 
$ 13,506 

13,508 
15,035 

200 
39,312 
23,100 . 
3,610 
3,591 
2,346 
7,005 

16,485 
19,135 
34,751 
5,268 
9,132 

606 
26,617 
51 ,311 

$284,518 

In its normal course of operations, the Transit System enters into futures 
contracts for heating oil as a hedge for its diesel fuel purchases. The aggregate 
fai r value of these hedging derivative instruments in asset positions at 
December 31, 2011 was $ 606. This represents the maximum loss that would be 
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Note 3 - Deposits and lnve~tments (Continued) 

Investments- Countv/Agency (Continued) 

recognized at the reporting date if the counterparty·failed to perform as 
contracted. This maximum exposure is reduced by$ 806 for collateral held with 
the counterparty, resulting in no credit risk to the County. The County has one 
contract for hedging derivative instruments with a single counterparty: Transit 
System hedge on diesel fuel. This counterparty is not rated. The County is 
exposed to basis risk on the hedging derivative instn.rments because the 
expected commodity purchase being hedged will price based on a pricing point · 
different than the pricing point at which the futures contract is expected to settle. 

Custodial Credit Risk-Investments- County/Agency 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure·of 
the counterparty, the County will not be able to recover the value of investment 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Investments are held by 
the counterparty's trust department or with its agent in the County's name. The 
County's investment policy states that all securities shall be properly designated 
as an asset of Milwaukee County and held in safekeeping by a third-party 
custodial bank or other third-party custodial institution, chartered by the United 
States Government or the State of Wisconsin and no withdrawal of such 
securities, in whole· or in part, shall be made from safekeeping except by the 
County Treasurer or a designee. The County does not have any investments 
exposed to custodial credit risk. · 

Interest Rate Risk-Investments- County/Agency 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment. In accordance with the County's investment policy, 
the County attempts to match its investments with anticipated cash flow 
requirements to the extent possible. In the absence of individual security maturity 
limitations specified in the Wisconsin State Statutes, the County does not directly 
invest in securities maturing more than ten years. from the date of purchase. 
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Interest Rate Risk-Investments- County/Agency (Continued) 

For adjustable rate securities, the time to coupon reset is used as the effective 
maturity period. As of December 31 , 2011, the County had the following 
investments and maturities: 

Fair Less 
Investment Type Value Than 1 1-5 §.:1Q. 
U.S. Treasury Bonds $ 13,506 $ 5,077 $ 8,429 $ 
U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Bonds 13,508 5,862 7,646 
U.S. Treasury Notes 15,035 1,511 12,900 624 
U.S. Treasury Bills 200 200 
U.S. Agency Fixed Rate Securities 39,312 6,824 32,488 
U.S. Agency Guaranteed 23,100 11,689 11,411 

Adjustable Rate Securities 
GNMA Fixed Rate Securities 3,610 152 3,246 212 
FNMA Fixed Rate Securities 3,591 2,010 1,581 
GNMA Guaranteed Adjustable Rate Sec 2,346 2,346 
Small Business Administration Guarante~d 

Adjustable Rate Securities 
7,005 751 6,254 

Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 16,485 4,615 11,870" 
Treasury Mutual Fund 19,135 19,135 
Corporate Government Guaranteed Notes 34,751 21,767 12,984 
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 5,268 4,704 564 
Corporate Bonds 9,132 3,015 6,117 
Futures Hedge Contract with 606 606 

Commodities Broker 
Certificates of Deposit 26,617 25,324 1,293 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 51,311 51,311 

Total $ 284,518 $ 152,113$ 111,558 $ 20,847 

Credit Risk-Investments- County/Agency 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment- will not 
fulfill its obligations. The credit quality rating of a security (rated by Moody's 
Investor Service or Standard & Poor's) gives an indication ·of the degree of credit 
risk for that security. Listed below are the County's investr11ents with the 
corresponding credit quality ratings:· The County does not have an investment 

' policy pertaining to credit risk. 
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
; j 
I Credit Risk-Investments- County/Agency (Continued) 

Mo_ody's 

Fair Standard Investor 
Investment Type Value & Poor's Service 
U.S. Treasury Bonds $ 13,506 M+ Aaa 
U.S. Treasury Inflation Protected Bon~s 13,508 M+ Aaa 
U.S. Treasury Notes 5,350 NR NR 
U.S. Treasury Notes 9,685 M+ Aaa 
U.S. Treasury Bills 200 AM Aaa 
U.S. Agency Fixed Rate Securities 8,256 NR NR 
U.S. Agency Fixed Rate Securities 16,587 M+ Aaa 
U.S. Agency Fixed Rate Securities 14,470 M+ Aaa 
U.S. Agency Guaranteed Adjustable Rate 13,779 M+ Aaa 

Secunties 
U.S. Agency Guaranteed Adjustable Rate 9,321 NR NR 

Securities 
GNMA Fixed Rate Securities 3,610 M+ Aaa 
FNMA Fixed Rate Securities 1,581 M+ Aaa 
FNMA Fixed Rate Securities 2,010 M+ Aaa 
GNMA Guaranteed Adjustable Rate 2,346 M+ Aaa 

Securities . . 
Small Business Administration Guaranteed 7,005 M+ Aaa 

Adjustable Rate Securities 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 1,987 M Aa2 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 642 M N/R 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 100 M- Aa3 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 501 M- WR 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 146 M+ Aaa 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 583 M+ N/R 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 2,969 M+ WR 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 1,822 BBB Aa3 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 750 BBB WR 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 1,942 BBB+ Baa1 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 1,485 NR NR 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 1,323 NR Aa1 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 673 NR WR 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 365 NR Aa2 
Municipal Fixed Rate Securities 1,196 NR Aaa 
Treasury Mutual Fund . 19,135 AM Aaa 
Corporate Government Guaranteed Notes 31,136 M+ Aaa 
Corporate Government Guaranteed Notes 786 M- Aa1 
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Note 3 · Depos its and Investments (Continued) 

Credit Risk-Investments- County/Agency (Continued) 

Moody's 
Fair Standard Investor 

Investment Type ~ & Poor's Service 
Corporate Government Guaranteed Notes 2,829 AA+ Aaa 
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 2,533 AAA Aaa 
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 1,115 AAA NR 
Corporate Asset Backed Securities 1,620 NR Aaa 
Corporate Bonds 1,873 AA+ Aa2 
Corporate Bonds 2,331 A AA3 
Corporate Bonds 1,005 A- A3 
Corporate Bonds 1,009 A- BAA1 
Corporate Bonds 583 A+ AA2 
Corporate Bonds 494 AA AA1 
Corporate Bonds 513 AA- AA1 
Corporate Bonds 543 AA- AA3 
Corporate Bonds 781 AA+ AA2 
Futures Hedge Contract with 606 N/A N/A 

Commodities Broker 
Certificates of Deposit 19,258 N/R N/R 
Certificates of Deposit 7,359 NR NR 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 30,036 A-1 P-1 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 2,310 N/A N/A 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 4,962 AA+ Aaa 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 13,557 NR NR 
Money Market Cash Equivalents 446 N/R N/R 

Total $ 284,518 

Concentration of Credit Risk - Investments • County/Agency 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an 
investment in a single issuer. The County's written investment policy states that 
investments held by the County shall be diversified to control the risk of loss 
resulting from over conc.entration of investments in a specific maturity, issuer, 
instrument/and or class of instrument(s). and dealers through whom securities 
are brought and sold. The County's written investment policy also places limits 
on the percentage of the portfolio that may be invested in each type of 
investment. 

1 
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Note 3 - Deposits· and Investments (Continued) 

Concentration of Credit Risk - Investments- County/Agency (Continued) 

The following percentage ranges of portfolio investments apply to the irwestment 
categories currently allowed by Wisconsin Statute: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Time and other Money Market deposits of banks, savings 
banks, trust companies, savings and loans, credit unions, 
regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Direct 
Investment in public depository institutions and securities will be 
further limited to a maximum investment, per institution at any 
one time of $250,000 unless an acceptable form of collateral, 
surety or other guarantee exists assuring the principal 
repayment to Milwaukee County. Certificate of Deposit Account 
Registry Service (CDARS) will have a maximum limit of $50 
million. 

U. S. Treasury, GNMA, Federal Home Loan Mortgage and any 
other agency/instrumentality securities that are explicitly 
guaranteed by the federal government. 

Agency Instrumentalities: 
1. Securities issued by the Federal National Mortgage 
Association, Fannie Mae, and Federal Home loan Mortgage 
Corp. - Freddie Mac. 

· 2. Other agency/instrumentality securities (includes securities 
issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit 
Banks, Small Business Administration and others. 

Local Government Pooled Investment Fund of the State 
Investment Board. 

Repurchase Agreements with public depository institutions 
(only) and where specific and appropriate collateral is provided. 

Corporate securities, including commercial paper: Each 
Corporate security must have an AAA or AA rating or whichever 
is the highest or second highest rating category assigned by 
Standard & Poors, Moody's Investor Service or another similar 
nationally recognized ratings agency. 

• All other security types, when and if authorized in the future by 
amendment to Wisconsin statute. 

0%-60% 

0%-100% 

0%-30% per 
agency and 0% 
-60% total 

0%-15% per 
agency and 0% 
-30% total 

0%-50% 

0%-50% 

0% to 15% of 
the total 
investment and 
0% to 5% per 
issuer 

0% to 25% 

Note: It is understood th.at on an occasional and short-term basis, usually less 
than a month, it may be necessary to exceed the 50% maximum investment, per 
institution in the Local Governmental Pooled Investment Fund of the State 
Investment Fund. 
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Concentration of Credit Risk...: Investments - Countv/Agencv 
(Continued) 

The County's investment policy also limits the use of reverse repurchase 
agreements to transactions with commercial banks located in the State of 
Wisconsin to a period of time no longer than 14 days. The County enters into 
reverse repurchase agreements for cash flow purposes only. At December 31, 
2011 , the County is not exposed to a concentration of credit risk. 

Cash Deposits- Pension Trust Fund 

The carrying amount of Pension Trust Fund de13osits at December 31, 2011 was 
$ 84,108 and the bank balance was $ 85,679. 

Custodial Credit Risk Deposits - Pension Trust Fund 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 
depository financial institution·, the .Pens.ion Trust Fund will not be able to recover 
the value of its deposits. Interest bearing deposits with banks are insured by the 
FDIC in the amount of$ 250. Non-interest bearing deposits are insured by the 
FDIC at full value. The State Deposit Guarantee Fund insures deposits up to a 
total of$ 400 per entity, not per banking institution. As of December 31 , 2011, all 
deposits with banks are fully ins·ured by the Federal Depository Insurance 
Corporation or the State Deposit Guarantee Fund. The Pension Trust Fund does 
not have ~ formal policy pertaining to custodial credit risk. However, substantially 
all assets of the Pension Trust Fund are held in its name. 

Investments - Pension Trust Fund 

As provided by state legislative act and County Ordinance, the Board has 
exclusive control and management responsibility of the Retirement System's 
funds and full power to invest the funds. In exercising its fiduciary responsibility, 
the Board is governed by the "prudent person" rule in establishing investment 
policy. The "prudent person" rule, requires the exercise of that degree of 
judgment, skill and care under the circumstances then prevailing which persons 
of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own 
affairs, not in regard to speculation, but in regard to permanent disposition of 
their funds, considering the probable income as well as the probable safety of the 
principal. 
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued} 

Investments - Pension Trust Fund (Continued) 

The Board has adopted a Statement of Investment Policy to formally document 
investment objectives and responsibilities. This policy establishes guidelines for 
permissible investments of the 'Retirement System. The Retirement System's 
investments are subject to various risks. Among them are credit risk, 
concentration of credit risk, custodial credit risk, interest rate risk, and foreign · 
currency risk. 

Investments in primarily stocks, bonds, certain government loans and mortgage­
backed certificates, are· stated at quoted fair value. Temporary cash investments 
are valued at cost, which approximated fair value·. Investments in venture capital 
partnerships are valued at estimated fair value, as provided by the Pension Trust 
Fund's venture capital investment manager. Investment transactions are 
recorded on the trade date. Realized gains and losses are computed based on 
the average cost method. 

As of December 31, 2011 the Pension Trust Fund had the following investments: 

Investment Type: 
Fair 

Value 

Domestic Common and Preferred Stocks . $ 388,658 
174,105 

249,380 
306,113 
114,522 
134,188 

133,475 

Long I Short Hedge Funds 

Corporate Bonds and Convertible Debentures 
International Common and Preferred Stocks 
Real Estate Investments Trusts 

Infrastructure 
Federal Agency and Mortgage-Backed Certificates 
U.S. Government and State Obligations 
International Fixed Income 

Private Equity 

Total 

75,428 
14,674 
27,605 . 

$ 1,618,148 
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Custodial Credit Risk-Investments - Pension Trust Fund 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event a financial institution or 
counterparty fails , the Retirement System will not be able to recover the value of 
its deposits, investments or securities. Investment securities are exposed to 
custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the 
Retirement System's name and are held by the counterparty. No formal policy 
exists on custodial risk. However, substantially all assets of the Retirement 
System are held in its name. The Retirement System did not own any repurchase 
agreements as of December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, all deposits 
with banks are fully insured by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation or 
the State Deposit Guarantee Fund. 

Interest Rate Risk-Investments - Pension Trust Fund 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair market value of an investment. Duration is a measure of an investment's 
sensitivity to changes in interest rates. The higher the duration, the greater the 
changes in fair value when interest rates change. The Option-Adjusted Duration 
for a security is the percentage price sensitivity to interest rate changes of 1 00 
basis points (or 1.0% ). For example, an Option-Adjusted Duration of 5.20 means 
that the price of the security should fall approximately 5.20% for a 1.0% rise in 
the level of interest rates. Conversely, the price of a security should rise 
approximately 5.20% for a 1.00% fall in the level of interest rates. Interest rate 
changes will affect securities with negative durations in the opposite direction. 
The Option-Adjusted Duration method of measuring duration takes into effect the 
embedded options on cash flows. The Retirement System does not have a 
formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing exposure to losses arising from increa~ing interest rates with the 
exception of the cash equivalent portfolio. The investment policy limits the 
duration of individual securities held in the cash equivalent portfolio to 2.5 years. 
In addition, the duration of the entire cash equivalent portfolio should be between 
1 and 2 years. · 
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Interest Rate Risk-Investments - Pension Trust Fund (Continued) 

As of December 31, 2011, the Retirement System had the following Option-
Adjusted Durations for the fixed income investments: (amounts are in thousands 
of dollars). 

Option Option 

Adjusted Adjusted 
'Fair Duration Fair Duration 

Fixed Income Sector Value {In Years} Fixed Income Sector Value (In Ye~ 

ABS-Car Loan $ 2,709 0.41 Materials $ 72 4.21 
ASS-Equipment 1,039 1.28 . Mining 302 6.39 

ABS-Home Equity 1,944 0.33 News I Media 2,252 7.27 

Aerospace & Defense 247 4.41 Non-US Corporate Bonds 3,665 4.96 
Agency for lnt'l Devel. Backed Debt 921 5.58 Non-US Corp Prvt Placements 1,51 ;3 3.26 

A~tomobiles & Components 187 4.49 Non-US Government Bonds 95 13.41 

Banking & Finance 21,365 4.35 Oil & Gas 2,277 6.98 

BSDT Reserve Deposit Accts. 802 0.08 Other Corporate Bonds 108 6.95 
Canadian Government Bonds 105 2.94 Other Government Obligations 658 7.96 

Capital Goods 257 3.06 Private Plac~ments-ABS 301 0.20 

Chemicals 1,592 5.56 Private Placements:MBS 864 0.05 

CMO-Conduit 10,253 2.81 Private Placemnts-More than 1 yr 7,802 4.05 

CMO-U.S. Agencies · 7,659 2.25 Provincials (Canadian) 0.00 

CMO-Comm/Corp 0.00 Retail 1,103 10.03 . 

Collateralized Mortgage Obligation 1,508 1.53 Supranational Issues 189 3.66 

Commercial Services & Supplies 109 5.03 Taxable Municipals 710 14.50 

Commingled Fds Cash Equivalents 75,721 0.08 Technology 2,670 6.15 

FHLMC Multiclass 38,708 1.26 Transportation 1,782 7.82 

FHLMC Pools 10,149 . 1.97 Treasury Bills-Less Than 1 Year 5,178 0.49 

FNMA Pools 27,938 2.66 U.S. Agencies 4,911 5.20 

FNMAREMIC 39,293 1.92 U.S. Governments 75,428 6.58 

Food Beverage & Tobacco 742 6.67 Utility-Electric 5,157 6.09 

Food Products 1,568 5.78 Utility-Gas 638 6.80 

GNMA Multi Family Pools 2,684 1.65 Utility-Other 250 4:90 

GNMA Single f:amiiY. Pools 1,166 1.25 Utility-Telephone 3,249 7.97 

Health Care 337 8.09 Whole Loan-CMO 20,975 0.47 

Household Products 13 5.54 Whole Loan - Re-securitization 462 0.02 

Industrial 438 5.28 Yankee Bonds 1,367 6.21 

Insurance 1,319 4.32 Other* 159,907 

International Corporate Bonds 0.00 

Sub-total $ 250,773 Sub-total $ 303,885 

Total $ 554,658 

* For 2011 this represents$ 158,238 in units of participation,$ 56 in ABS-Home Equity,$ 712 in FHLMC 
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Note 3 ~Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Credit Risk-Investments~ Pension Trust Fund 

Credit risk is the risk that an. issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not 
fulfill its obligations. The credit risk of a debt instrument is measured by nationally 
recognized statistical rating agencies such as· Moody's Investors Services 
("Moody's"), Standard and Poor ("S & P") and Fitch Ratings ("Fitch's"). With the 
exception of the Mellon Capital Management Aggregate Bond portfolio, bonds 
purchased and owned in each portfolio must have a minimum quality rating of 
Baa3 (Moody's) or BBB- (S & P or Fitch's). The average qu.ality of each portfolio 
must be A or better. The fixed income securities for the Mellon Capital 
Management Aggregate Bon'd portfolio should have a minimum quality rating of 
A, with the exception of 15% of the portfolio which may have a minimum quality 
rating of BBB. · 

The credit quality ratings of investments in fixed income securities by Moody's, a 
nationally recognized statistical rating agency, as of December 31, 2011 are as 
follows: · 

Moody's 
Quality Ratings 

AAA 
AA.1 
AA2 

AA.3 
A1 
A2 
A3 

8AA.1 
8AA2 
8AA.3 
BA1 
8A2 
8A3 
81 

82 
83 

CAA2 
CAA3 

CA . 

NR 
·Total Credit Risk Fixed Income Securities 

U.S. Government and Agencies 
Units of Participation (Not Rated) 

Total Investment in Fixed Income 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
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Fair 
Value 

$ 14,175 
1,849 
6,179 
5,629 

10,520 
10,489 
11,445 
11,355 . 
9,446 
4,418 

526 
993 
388 
796 
155 
703 
224 
193 
511 

15,821 
$ 105,815 

208,904 
158,238 

$ 472,957 
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Note 3 - Deposits and. Investments (Continued) 

Credit Risk-Investments - Pension Trust Fund (Continued) 

Of the $ 15.8 million not rated by Moody's as of December 31, 2011, $ 15.0 
million is rated by Standard & Poor's as investment grade. Moody's quality rating 
of BAA3 or above is considered investment grade. The $0.8 million is also not 
rated by Standard & Poor's. 

Concentration of credit risk is a risk of loss that may be attributed to the 
magnitude of the Retirement System's investment in a single issuer, generally 
investments in any one issuer that represents five (5) percent or more of total 
investments. lnvestmen~s issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. 
Government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and 
other pooled investments are excluded from this definition. The Retirement 
System has no investments in one issuer other than U.S. Government securities 
and mutual funds that exceed five (5) percent of the total investments. 

Foreign Currency Risk Investments - Pension Trust Fund · 

Foreign currency is the risk that changes in currency exchange rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of an investment or deposit. The Retirement 
Systems exposure to foreign currency risk derives from its positions in foreign 
currency denominated international equity and fixed income investments. 

This footnote is a required disclosure when the Retirement System directly owns 
investments denominated in a foreign currency. As of December 31-, 2011 the 
Retirement System directly owned less than $1, in investments denominated in 
foreign currencies: 

The Pension Trust Fund does not have a policy for foreign currency risk. 
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Note 4- Receivables 

Receivables as of year-end for the government's individual major funds and non­
major funds in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for 
uncollectibles accounts, are as follows: 

Nonmajor 
Debt Capital Governmental 

General Service Projects Funds Total 

Receivables: 
Accounts $ 30,386 $ · 101 $ 234 $ $ 30,721 
Taxes: 

Current Levy 276,194 276,194 
Delinquent . 20,021 20,021 

Interest 8,882 8,882 
Other 38,947 100 1 39,048 
Due from Other Governments 24,167 17,608 41,775 
Gross Receivables 398,597 101 17,942 1 416,641 

Less: Allowance for 

Uncollectibles {13,713} {13,713} 

Net Total Receivables $384,884 $ . 101 $ 17,942 $ 1 $402,928 

Of the delinquent taxes receivable of$ 20,021, $ 7,198 are not expected to be 
collected within one year. 

At December 31, 2011 accounts receivable of the Enterprise funds are as 
follows: 

Transit 
Airnort System Total 

Receivables: 
Accounts $ 5,118 $ $ 5,118 
Other . 79 2,136 2,215 
Due from Other Governme.nts 4,849 6,792 11,641 

Total Receivables $ 10,046 $ 8,928 $ 18,974 

All amounts are expected to be collected wHhin one year. As of December 31, 
~ 2011 no amounts are deemed uncollectible. 

~ . :• 
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Note 4- Receivables (Continued) 

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for 
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the 
current period. Governmental and proprietary funds also defer revenue 
recognition in connection with resources that have been received, but not yet 
earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of deferred 
revenue and unearned revenue reported in the governmental and proprietary 
funds were as follows: 

Unearned Revenue -Governmental Activities: 

2011 Property Tax Levy $ 276,194 

Delinquent Tax Receivables 9,866 

State and Federal Revenue Unavailable for Current Expenditures 3,000 

Housing Loan Receivables 5,045 

Other Unearned Revenue 99 

Department for Family Care Unearned Revenue - 1,159 

Deferred Credits - Public Works Services 292 

Total Deferred Revenue $ 295,624 
Less: Amounts Earned but Not Available (4,411) 

Net Unearned Revenue $ 291,213 

Unearned Revenue- Business-Type Activities: 

Airport - Lease Revenue $ 7,014 

Deferred Credits- Transit 3,701 

Total Unearned Revenue $ 10,715 
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Note 5- Capital Assets 

Primary Government 

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2011. 

Beginning Ending 

Balance Increases Decreases Balance 

Governmental Activities 

Capital Assets, not being Depreciated: 

Land $ 59,303 $ $ - $ 59,303 

Construction in progress 41,365 31,342 (40,353) 32,354 

Total Capital Assets, not being Depreciated 100,666 31,342 (40,353) 91 ,657 

Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 

Land Improvements 239,780 5,318 (2.258) 242,840 

Buildings 606,307 12.414 (462) 618,259 

Fixed Equipment Buildings 49,746 6,037 55,783 

Infrastructure 164,262 21 ,513 (2,350) 183,425 

Machinery and Equipment 93,233 6,381 (368) 99,246 

Vehicles and Related Equipment 65,151 12,048 (5,501 ) 71 ,698 

Furniture and Fixtures 6,158 1,981 (3, 176) 4 ,963 

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 1,224,637 65,692 {14,115) 1,276,214 

Less: Accumulated Depreciation 

Land Improvements (136,890) (7,733) 2,245 (142,378) 

Buildings (344,378) (16,249) 427 (360,200) 

Fixed Equipment Buildings (32,157) (2,565) (34,722) 

Infrastructure (72,700) (9,257) 2,350 (79,607) 

Machinery and Equipment (71 ,091) (5,918) 369 (76,640) 

Vehicles and related Equipment (25,820) (4,263) 4,884 (25,199) 

Furniture and Fixtures {894} {268} 9 (1 ,153} 

Total Accumulated Depreciation {663,930) {46',253) 10,284 {719,899) 

Net Capital Assets Being Depreciated 540,707 19,439 (3,831) 556,315 

Governmental Activities Capital Assets- Net $ 641,375 $ 50,781 $ (44,184! $ 647,972 

Governmental activities capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, at 
December 31 , 2011 are· comprised of the following: 

Governmental Activities Capital Assets . . .. . 
General Capital Assets, Net 
Internal Service Fund Capital Assets, Net 

Total Capital Assets, Net 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Amount 
$ 638,351 

9,621 

$ 647,972 
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Note 5.: Capital Assets (Continued) 

Primary Government (Continued) 

Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

Governmental Activities: 
Legislative and Executive and Staff $ 5,443 
Courts and Judiciary 219 
General Governmental Services 29 . 
Public Safety 6,083 
Public Works and Highways 16,907 
Human Services 4.174 
Parks, Recreation and Culture .13,398 

Total $ 46,253 

The following· is a summary of changes in capital assets for business-type 
aCtivities for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

Beginning Ending 

Balance Increases Decreases Balance 

Business-type Activities 
Capital Assets, not being Depreciated 

Land $ 21,367 $ $ - $ 21,367 

Construction in progress 21,069 19,773 {6,134} 34,708 

Total Capital-Assets, not being Depreciated 42,436 19,773 {6,134} 56,075 
Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 

lan? Improvements 176,546 31,595 208,141 

Buildings 184,538 3,169 187,707 
Fixed Equipment Buildings 188,705 2,314 191 ,019 
Machinery and Equipment 18,214 1,604 (340) 19,478 

Vehicles and related Equipment 173,133 11,405 (1,296) 183,242 
Furniture and Fixtures 3,572 1,906 5,478 

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 744,708 51,993 {1 ,636) 795,065 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation 

Land Improvements (102,415) (6,527) (108,942) 
Buildings · (112,575) (4,638) (117,213) 
Fixed Equipment Buildings (43,433) (8,065) (51,498) 
Machinery and Equipment (10,372) (1,974) 340 (12,006) 

Vehicles and Related Equipment (113,296) (12,499) 1,227 (124,568) 

Furniture and Fixtures {2.066) {320} {2,386) 
Total Accumulated Depreciation {384,157} (34,023} 1,567 (416,613} 
Net Capital Assets Being Depreciated 360,551 17,970 (69} 378,452 

Business-type Activities Capital Assets- Net $ 402,987 $ 37,743 $ {6,203) $ 434,527 
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Note 5- Capital Assets (Continued} 

Primary Government (Continued) 

Depreciation was charged to business-type activities as follows: 

Business-type Activities: 
Airport 
Transit System 

Total 

$ 18,915 
15,108 

$ 34,023 

Discretely Presented Component Units 

Of the County's four component units, two have reportable capital assets, the 
Marcus Center for the Performing Arts and the Milwaukee Public Museum. 

The capital assets of the Milwaukee Public Museum consist of the following: 

Construction in progress 

Building additions and improvements 

Furniture, equipment and exhibits improvements 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Capital Assets, Net 

$ 51 

19,221 

10,459 

(13,742) 

$ 15,989 

The capita l assets of the Marcus Center for the Performing Arts consist of the 
following: 

Building Improvements 

Parking Structure and Improvements 

Furniture and Fixtures 

Equipment and Computers 

Construction in Progress 

Less: Accumulated Depreciation 

Capital Assets, Net 

$ 17,107 

5,173 

85 

1,989 

198 

(13,476) 

. $ 11,076 
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Note 5 - Capital Assets (Continued) 

Construction Commitments 
Following is a list of capital projects approved by the Milwaukee County Board of Supervisors 
per the 2011 Adopted Capital Improvement Budget. These reflect projects for both 
governmental and proprietary funds. 

2011 

Project 2011 Expenditures & 

Number Project Description Appropriations Encumbrances 

Airports (WA) 

WA042 GMIA - Bag Claim Remodeling $ 5,436 • $ 4,918 

WA044 GMIA - In-line Baggage Screening Phase 2 11,589 • 6,570 

WA127 GMIA- Terminal Expansion Design Study 500 

WA131 GMIA - 150 Study Ramp Electrification 188 

WA139 GMIA- Redundant Main Electric Service Feed 321 *** 380 

WA141 GMIA- Training FaCility 489 ** 101 

WA142 LJT - RW 15L-33R Extension 260 200 

WA161 GMIA- Terminal Roadway Signage 250 ** 195 

WA162 GMIA - Cessna Service Apron Reconstruction 95 ** 

WA163 GMIA- Perimeter Road Bridge over Howell Avenue 300 .. 348 

Department of Parks, Recreation and Culture (WP} 

WP070 Lindbergh Pari< Pavilion 190 • 747 

WP.174 Parks Major Maintenance 100 * 212 

WP184 Park Retaining Wall R~pairs and Replacement 50 2 .. 
WP186 Park Naturalization 61 

WP190 South Shore Relocation Study 80 

WP191 Moody Pool Renovation 5 ,008 10 

Zoo(WZl 

WZ600 Zoo Master Plan 400 •• 18 

·Courthouse Complex (WCl 

WC070 Domestic Violence Area Reconstruction 459 125 

WC071 District Attorney Office Security Card System 83 • 72 

Other Coun~ Agencies (WO} ' 

W0112 Fleet Airport Equipment Acquisition 375 ... 7,134 

W0114 Countywide Infrastructure Improvements 11,895 ••• 5,919 

W0205 Fiscal Automation Program 175 ... 917 

W0444 BHD I MCSO ; Electronic Medical Records System 500 25 

W0514 War Memorial Window Replacement and Reseal 42 

W0515 War Memorial Window Ledge Leak Repairs 15 

W0870 County Special Assessments 250 ... 
W0949 Inventory and Assessment of County Buildings 1,591 111 

W0950 Milwaukee County Public Art Program 20 • 61 

Totals $ 40,722 $ 28,065 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financiai.Statements 

120 



Note 5- Capital Assets (Continued) 

Construction Commitments (Continued) 

Following is a list of capital projects transfers made in 201 1. These reflect projects for both 
governmental funds and proprietary fund,s. 

Project 

Number Project Description 

Highways and Bridges (WH) 

WH010 County Highway Action Program {CHAP) 

WH020 Major Rehabilitation 

WHOSO Bridge Rehabilitation Program 

WH089 13th Street and Puetz Road Intersection 

Mass Transit {WTl 

WT026 Bus Replacement Program 

WT303 HVAC Controls at MCTS Facility 

Airports (WA) 

WA124 Ground Power/Precon. Air Units 

WA165 Reconstruction Taxiway B 

· WA 171 GMIA Holding Room Seating 

WA 175 Concourse C Checkpoint 

Department of Parks, Recreation and Culture (WP) 

WP131 OC!k Leaf Trail Improvements 

WP192 Countywide Parks FEMA Improvements 

WP228 Boat Launch Pier Replacement 

Zoo (WZl 

WZ014 Small Mammal Building HVAC Replacement 

WZ045 ACH ElectriCal Service Extension 

Courthouse Complex (WC) 

WC075 Courthouse Masonry Improvements 

Other County Agencie.s (WO) 

W0060 Countywiqe Road Improvement Program 

W0112 Fleet Airport Equipment Acquisition 

W0114 Countywi~e Infrastructure lmpro~ements 

Totals 

*Project has funding appropriation carryovers from 2010. 

**Project has additional funding appropriations in 2012. 

$ 

$ 

2011 

Transfers 

{1 ,378) 

{750) 

1,288 

300 

47,608 

172 

1,221 

827 . 

800 

472 

2,473 

173 

112 

3 

50 

551 

54 

486 

31 

54,493 

. $ 
• 
* 

* 

* 

• 
• 

* 

" 

... 

... 
$ 

2011 

Expenditures & 

Encumbrances 

8,760 

4,124 

2,371 

33,969 

526 

1,400 

2,726 

684 

13 

271 

155 

746 

188 

113 

1,411 

7,134 

5,919 

70,510 

••• Project has both funding carryovers from 2010 and additional funding in 2012. 
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Note 5 - Capital Assets (Continued) 

Construction Commitments (Continued) 

2011 Funding Total 

Encumbrances and Carryovers from 2010 

2011 Appropriations 

Less: Reprogrammed Bonds Issued in 2010 

2011 Transfers 

Total 

2011 Appropriations - Funding Source 

Reimbursement Revenue 

Sales Tax Revenue 

Miscellaneous Revenue I Sale of Asset 

Private Contributions 

Property Tax Levy 

PFC Revenue I Airport Reserve 

Bonds 

Total 

2011 Transfers- Funding Source 

Reimbursement Revenue 

Sales Tax Revenue 

Miscellaneous Revenue I Sale of Asset 

PFC Revenue I Airport Reserve 

Bonds 

Total 

2011 

Appropriations 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

316,819 

40,722 

(8,951) 

54,493 

403,083 

804 

380 

5,240 

200 

40 

8,349 

25,709 

40,722 

49,357 

1,566 

(689) 

1,751 

2,508 

54,493 

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds and bond 
proceeds are ·reflected as revenue for projects built on behalf of the 
governmental ·funds. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of capital 
assets built for the governmental funds is allocated over their useful lives as 
depreciation expense, and the bond proceeds are no longer a revenue but an 
increase in the long-term liabilities. Similarly, the governmental funds also report 
the·expenditures and associated revenues of building proprietary fund assets. 
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of building proprietary fund 
assets is reclassified as transfers between governmental and business-type 
activities. 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial Statements 

122 



Note 6 - lnterfund Transfers 

The composition of interfund transfers as of December 31, 2011 is as follows: 

Transfers From 

Capital Business Business Internal lnt~rnal 

General Projects Type Type Service Service 
Fund Fund Airport Transit IMSD DPW 

E 
~ General Fund $ $ 3,820 $ 2:150 $ 244 $ 984 $ 
.; Capital Pr~jects 6,956 
~ Debt Service ... 89,289 
t- Internal Service: 

IMSD 473 
. Risk 439 

DPW 228 
Business-type: . 

Transit 17,926 

Total $ 115,311 $ 3,820 $· 2,150 $ 244 $ 984 $ 

Less: Government - wide eliminations 

Total Transfers- Government-wide Statement of Activities 

No fund may have a reserve except for the Debt Service Fund and the Airport 
Fund. All funds that have a net increase at year-end must transfer that net 
increase to the General Fund. All funds that have a net decrease at year-end 
receive a transfer from the General Fund so that the fund breaks 'even for the 
year. 

. · [This section intentionally left blank] 
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Tot<il 

$ 7,816 ;. 
1 

6,956 
89,289 

473 
439 
228 

11,926 

123,128 

(107,596) 

$ 15,532 

I 
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Note 7- Leases 

Operating Leases.: Primary Government 

The County leases facilities, office equipment, and vehicles. Total costs for such 
leases were$ 2,563 for the year ended Dece~ber 31, 2011. 

The future n:-tinimum lease payments for these leases are as follows: 

Year Ending 
December 31 

2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 

Total 

Amount 
$ 1,771 

1,484 
1,326 

578 
138 
107 
107 

$ 5,511 

Capital Leases-Primary Government 

In 2007, the County entered into a Guaranteed Energy Savings Performance 
Contract to improve the County's energy efficiency and promote environmental 
sustainability. The County is leasing equipment for a period of 10 years and is 
required to make annual lease payments during the life of the contract. At the 
end ofJhe lease term, ownership of the equipment will transfer to the County. 
The gross amount of these assets under capital leases is$ 7,717 and is 
presented in the capital assets in the governmental activities. In 201 p, the · 
County entered into a commitment for a capital lease from Bane of America in 
the amount of$ 7,515. The County has expended $2,875 under this commitment 
as of December 31, 2011. 

In prior years, the County entered into capital lease agreements for various 
Airport vehicles and equipment. At the end of the lease term, ownership of the 
equipment will transfer to the County. The gross amount of these assets under 
capital leases is$ 1,737 and is presented in the capital assets in the business­
type activities. 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 7- Leases (Continued) 

Capital Leases-Primary Government (Continued) 

The assets acquired through capital leases are as follows: 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities 
Asset: 
Machinery and Equipment $ 7,717 $ 
Vehicles and Related Equipment 1,737 
L~ss: Accumulated Depreciation (2,124) (1 ,203) 
Total $ . 5,593 $ 534 

The future minimum lease payments and the net present value on these 
minimum lease payments as of December 31, ~011 , are as follows:. 

Year Ending Governmental Business-type 
December 31 Activities Activities 

2012 $ 830 $ 266 
2013 830 193 
2014 830 115 
2015 830 
2016 830 

2017-2021 2,643 
Sub-totals 6,793 574 
Less: Amount Representing Interest (1 ;700) (40) 
Present Value of Future Minimum 
Lease Payments $ 5,593 $ 534 

[This secti0n intentionally left blank] 
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Note 8 - Long·term Liabilities 
-

Changes in Long·term Liabil ities :; 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2011 was as follows: 

Governmental Activities: 

Bonds Payable 

General Obligation Bonds 

Add (Subtract) Deferred Amounts for: 

Premium 

Discount 

Loss on Refunding 

· Accretion 

Sub-totals Bonds Payable 

Other Liabilities 

Unfunded· Claims and Judgments 

Landfill Post-closure Costs 

Pollution Remediation Costs 

Compensated Absences 

Risk Claims 

Other Post Employment Benefits 

Capital Leases 

Sub-total Other Liabilities 

Total Governmental Activities Long-term Liabilities 

Business-type Activities: 

Bonds Payable 

General Obligation Bonds 

Revenue Bonds 

Add (Subtract) Deferred Amounts for: 

Premium 

Discount 

Loss on Refunding 

Accretion 

Sub-totals Bonds Payable 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

Beginning Payments & Ending 

Balance Additions Adjustments Balance 

$ 845,515 $ 31 ,757 $ (92,930) $ 784,342 

3,539 4,176 (2,316) 5,399 

(473) · - 211 {262) 

(3,230) (1 ,006) 1,151 (3,085) 

4,454 - (4,454) -
849,805 34,927 (98,338} 786,394 

2,000 125 (125) 2,000 

3,380 125 (1 ,535) 1,970 

488 310 (488) 310 

52,273 20,092 (30,181) 42,184 

14,077 9,859 (9,024) 14,912 

203,164 101 '142 (58,222) 246,084 

4,774 1,737 (918} 5,593 

280,156 133,390 (100,493) 313,053 

$1,129,961 $168,317 $ (198,831) $ 1,099,447 

Beginning Payments & Ending 

Balance Additions Adjustments Balance 

$ 35,133 $ 3,338 $ (6,467) $ 32,004 

204,240 - (8,210) 196,030 

6,991 438 (946) 6,483 
I 

(2,440) - 257 (2,183) 

(207) - . 72 (135) 

245 - (245) -
243,962 3,776 (15,539) 232,199 
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One Year ' 

$ 63,506 

-
-
-

63,506 
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1,000 

125 

21,575 

10.665 

1,144 

34,509 

$ 98,015 

Due in 

One Year 
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$ 3,022 
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Note 8 -Long-term Liabilities 

Changes in Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Business-type Activities: Continued Beginning Payments & Ending Due In 
Balance ·Additions Adjustments Balance One Year 

Other Liabilities 

Compensated Absences $ 11,507 $ 5,915 $ (6,045) $ 11,377 $ 6,034 

Risk Claims 11,700 1,026 (1,940) 10,786 5,020 
Other Post Empl<;>yment Benefits - Transit 20,161 (19,939) 222 222 

Other Post Employment Benefits - Airport 8,060 1,645 9,705 
Capital Leases 390 439 {295} 534 241 

Sub-total Other Liabilities 31,657 29,186 {28,219} 32,624 11,515 
Total Business-Type Activities Long-term 
Liabilities $ 275,619 $ 32,962 $ (43,758) $ 264,823 $ 23,047 

Compensated Absenc_es consist of the following: 

Beginning Payments & Ending Due in 

Balance Additions Adjustments Balance One Year 

Governmental Activities: 
Retirement sick pay payout 
Vacation time earned 
Overtime earned 

Holiday pay 

Total Compensated Absences­

Governmental Activities 

$ 28,544 $ 1,060 
19,866 7,059 

1,332 1,411 

2,531 2.136 

$ 52,273 $ 21 ,666 

Beginning 

$ (8,025) $ 21,579 $ 2,627 
(19,866) 17,059 15,663 

(1,332) 1,411 1,300 

{2,532} 2,135 1,985 

$ (31,755) $ 42,184 $ 21 ,575 

Payments & Ending Due in 

Balance Additions Adjustments Balance One Year 

Business-type Activities: 

Retirement sick pay payout 
Vacation time earned 
Overtime earned 
Holiday pay 

Total Compensated Absences­
Business-type Activities · 

$ 

$ 

.6.965 $ 1,020 
4,694 4,716 

145 89 
103 90 

11,507 $ 5,915 

$ (1,103) $ 6,482 $ 
(4,694) 4,716 

(145) 89 
{103} 90 

$ {6,045} $ 11,377 $ 

Internal service funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Accordingly, 
long-term liabilities for them are included as part of the above totals for 
governmental activities. At year-end $ 39,250 of internal service funds long-term 
liabiiities are included in the above figure-s. Aiso, for the governmental acti"vitie·s·.· 
claims and judgments and compensated absences are liquidated as they come 
due for payment and their adjustments are made at year end based on a detailed 
reevaluation of the account. As claims and judgments expenditures are incurred. 
the general fund is used to liquidate the costs. 

1,137 
· 4,716 

89 
90 

6,032 

!l County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
~ 
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Note 8 - Long-term Liabilities 

Changes in Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Risk claims include accruals for workers compensation and other insurance 
claims of the Risk Management Fund and Transit System. 

Unfunded claims and judgments include estimated costs for putstanding medical, 
environmental, and other claims. At December 31, 2011 , the outstanding 
amount of claims and judgm'ents due· within one year totaled$ 1 ,000. 

State and federal laws require the County to perform certain maintenance and 
mo·nitoring functions at all of its solid waste landfill sites. Since all of the County's 
eleven landfill sites are no longer accepting waste, the total future costs of 
$ 1 ,970 has been identified for maintenance and monitoring functions in 
accordance with Governmental Acqounting Standards Board Statement No. 18, 
Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-closure Care 
Costs. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or 
changes in regulations. The funding for these post-closure costs will be included 
in future County tax leyies. 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 49, the County has recorded a long­
term liability for its estimated pollution remediation costs. At December 31, 2011, 
the estimated liability for pollution remediation costs totaled$ 310. These costs 
are related to cleanup of underground petroleum contamination on County­
owned land. 

Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) and pension costs are accounted for 
through the General Fund of the County, except for Transit, which maintains its 
own pension trust and OPES trust. The County, except Transit, is on a pay-as­
you-go basis for OPES costs, and therefore contributes only the annual cost 
incurred, net of employee contributions. OPEB costs are allocated to 
departments on a prorated basis. The OPEB obligation represents the 
accumulated liability that has not been funded by the County, based on current 
accounting rules. The County, except Transit, accounts for the cost and 

[fhis section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 8 - Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Changes in Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

liquidation of annual pension costs through the General Fund, and allocates the 
cost to all departments on a prorated basis. Transit accounts for cost and 
liquidation of Other Post Employment Benefits and pension costs through its 
fund. 

Governmental Activities 

Proceeds from general obligation bonds issued are budgeted for and recorded 
within the Debt Service Fund, Capital Projects Fund or Proprietary Funds, where 
appropriate. 

General obligation bonds are secured by the fu ll faith; credit and unlimited taxing 
power of the County and are used to finance capital projects. General obligation 
bonds recorded in. the Governmental Funds will be retired by future-property tax 
levies and other resources accumulated in the Debt Service Fund. 

Governmental Activities 

General Obligation Debt 

Date ' Final Original Principal 

of Maturity Interest Indebted- Outstanding Interest to 

Bond Issue Bonds Date · Rate ness 12131/1 1 Maturity 

General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2003A 07/01/03 08/01/17 3.48% $ 93,515 $ 83,142 $ 8,007 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2003A 02/01/03 08/01/18 3.95% 23,520 1,534 560 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2004A 02/01/04 08/01/19 3.72% 25,233 15,526 2,940 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose B'onds, Series 2005A 11/01/05 12/01/20 4 .24% 19,167 15,963 3,904 

General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2005B 11/01105 10/01/15 3.8~% 63,025 32,330 3,295 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2006A 04/01/06 10/01/21 4.14% 59,675 24,544 6,756 

General Obligation Corporate . 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 A 06/01/07 12/01/22 4.12% 30,776 27,851 7,368 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2008A . 06/01/08 12/01/23 3.93% 32,422 28,470 8,128 

2007 State Trust Fund Loan 09/01/07 03/15/17 5.25% 1,000 736 143 

2009 Taxable General 
Obligation, Series 2009A 04/02/09 12101/28 6 .36% 265,000 244,596 161,468 

2009 Taxable Pension Notes, 
Series 2009B 04/02/09 12/01/13 5.52% 135,000 135,000 14,553 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2009C 08/01/09 10/01/24 5.04% 31,980 30,659 12,423 
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Note 8- Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Governmental Activities (Continued) 

Governmental Activities 

General Obligation Debt 

Date Final Original Principal . 

of Maturity Interest Indebted- Outstanding Interest to 

Bond Issue Bonds Date Rate ness 12131/11 Maturi~ 

G~neral Obligation Refunding 
Bonps, Series 20090 08/01/09 10/01/13 2.78% $ 16,789 $ 3,141 $ 66 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2009E 11/15/09 08/01/24 4.87% 24,051 24,051 10,719 

General Obligation Promissory 
Notes, Series 2009F 11/15/09 08/01/19 2.55% 15,610 12,260 1,365 

2009 State Trust Fund Loan 12/08/09 03/15/19 4.50% 2,000 1,835 391 

Corporate Purpose Bonds, 
Series 201 OA 05/01/10 10/01/25 4.60% 22,725 22,725 9,566 

General Obligation Promissory 
Notes, Series 20108 05/01/10 10/01/18 2.37% 12,325 11,090 1,154 

Corporate Purpose Bonds, 
Series 2010C 12/21/10 10/01/26 4.78% 27,362 27,362 13,391 

General Obligation Promissory 
Notes, Series 20100 12/21/10 10/01/20 2.82% 9,770 9,770 1,643 

General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, Series 2011A 03/15/11 10/01/18 5.04% 31,757 31,757 5,733 
Total Governmental Activities- General Obligation 
Debt $ 784,342 $ 273,573 

Premium 5,399 

Discount (262) 

Loss (3,085} 

Total Governmental Activities- General Obligation Debt, Net $ 786,394 

Bonds and Notes Payable- General Obligation (Current Liabilities) 63,506 

Bonds and Notes Payable- General Obligation (Non-Current Liabilities) 722,888 

Total Debt per Statement of Net Assets- Governmental Activities $ 786,394 

The ratio of the aggregate indebtedness of all taxing authorities located within the 
County to equalized value of the taxable property was approximately 5.97% 
including 1.340% related to direct County inde.btedness at December 31, 2011. 

The County in July 2012 made the decision to payoff the 2007 and 2009 State 
Trust Fund Loans with funds from the Debt Service Reserve. 
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Note 8 - Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Governmental Activities (Continued) 

Wisconsin Statutes limit the County's direct general obligation borrowing to an 
amount equivalent to 5% of the equalized valuation of taxable property. At 
December 31, 2011 under Wisconsin Statutes, the County could borrow an 
additional $ 2,246,813. 

At December 31, 2011 , the weighted average interest rate of general obligation 
bonds and notes outstanding was 5.03%. 

The maturities of the outstanding principal and related interest requirements are 
as follows: · 

Total Debt 
Service 

Principal Interest Reguirements 
December 31, 

2012 $ 63,506 $ 39,542 $ 103,048 
2013 200,810 36,457 237,267 
2014 62,585 26,533 89,118 
2015 46,819 24,015 70,834 
2016 45,397 22,042 67,439 
2017-2021 184,437 82,056 266,493 
2022-2026 138,104 38,502 176,606 
2027-2028 42,684 4,426 47,110 

Total Debt Service $784,342 $273,573 $ ~.057,915 

On March 15, 2011, the County issued $35,095 of General Obligation Refunding 
Bonds, series 2011A to advance refund $12,500 of outstanding General ' 
Obligation Bonds, series 2001A, $15,150 of outstanding Gen·eral Obligation 
Bonds, series 2002A and $10,425 of outstanding General Obligation Bonds, 
series 2003A. Net proceeds of $39,692 (par amount of bond issue of $35,095, 
plus premium of $4,614, Jess issue costs and underwriter's discount of $267) 
along with $90 of funds on hand were used to purchase U.S. government 
securities. Those securities were deposited in an ·irrevocable trust with an · 
escrow agent to provide for all future debt service payments on the outstanding 
bonds. As a result, the outstanding bonds are considered defeased and the 
liability for those bonds has been removed from these financial statements. 

The cash flow requirements on the refunded bonds prior to the advance 
refunding was $46,038 from 2012 through 2018. The cash flow requirements on 
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Note 8 - Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Governmental Activities (Continued) 

the refunding bonds are $42,313, a·savings of $3,725. The advance refunding 
resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of the debt 
service payment of the old and new debt) of $3,573. 

Business-type Activities 

The County has pledged future airport revenues generated trom the ownership' 
and operation of General Mitchell International Airport and Lawrence J. 
Timmerman Airport, net of specified operating expenses, to repay $ 199,884 of 
revenue· bonds issued in previous years. Proceeds from the revenue bonds 
provided financing for capital improvements. The bonds are payable solely from 
net revenues and deposits made to the Coverage Fund, and are payable thro.ugh 
December 1, 2034. The Coverage Fund is equal to 25% of the highest annual 
revenue bond debt service amount. Net revenues plus Coverage Fund assets 
are required to cover a minimum of 125% of annual debt service for the revenue 
bonds. Principal and interest paid for the current year and net revenues plus 
Coverage Fund assets were $18,345 and $30,752, respectively, resulting in net 
revenues plus Coverage Fund assets of 164% of annual debt service for 2011. 
The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $296,786. 
The principal and interest payment of $18,345 represents 21% of operating 
revenues. 

Business-type Activities 

General Obligation and Revenue Bond Debt 

Date Final Original Principal . 

of Maturity Interest Indebted- Outstanding Interest to 

Bond Issue bonds Date Rate ness. 12131/11 Maturi~ 

General Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2003A 01/01/03 12/01/22 4.88%" $ 7,125 $ 4,125 $ 1,309 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2003A 02/01/03 08/01/18 3.95% 2,430 . 191 70 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, 
Series 2003A · 07/01/03 08/01/17 3.48% 6,510 5,788 557 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2004A 02/01/04 08/01/19 . 3.72% 1,717 1,144 217 

General Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2004A 03/31/04 12/01/20 4.47% 37,360 30,655 15,077 

General Ob!igation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2005A 11/01/05 12/01/20 4.24% 950 712 174 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, 
185 Series 20058 11/01/05 10/01/15 3.89% 3,350 1,815 
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Note 8- Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Business~type Activities (continued) 

Business-type Activities 
General Obligation and Revenue Bond Debt 

Date Final Ori_ginal Principal 
of Maturity Interest Indebted- Outstanding Interest to 

Bond Issue bonds Date Rate Ness 12/31/11 Maturi!X 

Gene~al Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2005A 12/22/05 12/01/30 4.90% $ 29,010 28,345 17,550 

Airport Refunding Bonds, Series 
2005B 12/22/05 12/01/14 3.65% 7,755 2,900 235 

General Obligation Corporate i 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2006A 04/01/06 10/01/21 4.14% 819 736 203 I 
Airport Refunding Bonds, Series 

·I 

:i 
2006B 10/01/06 12/01/15 4.08% 5,020 1,430 178 'I ,, 
General Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2006A 11/16/06 12/01/31 4.60% 25,665 23,025 13,755 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 A 06/01/07 12/01/22 4.12% 203 189 50 

General Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2007 A 11/15/07 12/01/32 4.60°io 13,445 12,225 7,377 

General Obligation Corporate 
Purpose Bonds, Series 2008A 06/01/08 12101/23 3.93% 185 185 54 

General Purpose Bonds, Series 
2009C 08/01/09 10/01/24 5.04% 636 636 311 

·•' 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds, 
Series 20090 08/01/09 10/01/16 2.00% 461 154 3 

' 
General Obligation Corporate i 

i' 
. Purpos~ Bonds, Series 2009E 11/15/09 08/01/24 4.87% 6,314 6,314 2,814 

General Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2009A 12/21/09 12101/32 4.90% 12,690 12,690 8,315 

General Airport Revenue Bonds, 
Series 20098 12/21/09 12101/14 3.20% 2,350 1,380 98 

Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 
2010A 10/14/10 12/01/34 4.30% 31,570 31 ,570 21,920 

Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
Series 201 OB 10/14/10 12/01/23 3.75% 51,590 47,684 14,941 

. Taxable General Obligation 

~ Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 

i· 
2010C 12/21/10 10/01/26 4.78% 10,803 . 10,803 5,287 .'• 

Generat Obligation Refunding Bonds, 
.t ~ 

.,. .. I 

Series 2011A 03/15/11 10/01/18 5.04% 3,338 3,338 603. 
,, .. 
,l 

Total Business-Type- General Obligation Debt $ 228,034 $ 111,283 ! 
' 
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Note 8 • Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Business-type Activities (continued) 

Premium 
Discount 
Loss 

Total Business-Type- General Obligation Debt, Net 

Bonds and Notes Payable- General Obligation (Current Liabilities) 
Bonds and Notes Payable- Revenue (Current Liabilities) 
Bonds and Notes Payable- General Obligation (Non·Current Liabilities) 
Bonds and Notes Payable- Revenue (Non.Current Liabilities) 

Total Debt per Statement of Net Assets- Business-Type Activities 

6,483 

(2,183) 

(135) 

$ 232,199 

$ 3,022 

8,510 

29,293 

191 ,374 

$ 232,199 

The maturities of the outstanding principal and related interest requirements are 
as follows: 

Total Debt 
Service 

Princigal Interest Reguirements 

December 31, 
2012 $ 11,532 $ 10,829 $ 22,361 
2013 12,209 10,249 22,458 
.2014 12,253 9,715 21,968 
2015 12,185 9,170 21,355 
2016 11,943 8,620 20,563 
2017-2021 61,388 34,484 95,812 
2022-2026 56,239 19,674 75,913 

. 2027-2031 41,680 7,764 49,444 
2032-2034 8,605 778 9,383 

Total Debt Service $228,034 $111,283 $ 339,317 

Prior-Year Defeasance of Debt 

In prior years, the County defeased certain general obligation bonds and Airport 
revenue bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in an irrevocable trust to 
provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the 
trust account assets and the liability for the defeased notes and bonds are not 
included in the County's financial statements. At December 31, 2011, $10,425 of 
bonds outstanding is considered defeased. 
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Note 8 ·Long-term Liabilities (Continued) 

Debt Issued on Behalf of Other Entities I Conduit Debt 
In 2003, the County guaranteed $ 14,400 of loans for a local corporation. The 
loans are secured by mortgages and a cash trust of$ 5,944 on certain buildings. 
In July 2010 Milwaukee County agreed to transfer the credit assistance 
agreement to a subsidiary of the parent corporation. 

In order to develop the Milwaukee County Research Park, the City of Wauwatosa 
created the Tax Incremental District #2 (TID) in 1994. In 1997, the Wauwatosa 
Redevelopment Authority issued redevelopment lease revenue bonds of $8,860 
to fund infrastructure development costs in TID #2. In 2004, the Wauwatosa 
Redevelopment Authority issued lease revenue bonds of$ 24,500 for 
construction of facilities at the Milwaukee County Research Park located in TID 
#2. In 2007, the Wauwatosa Redevelopment Authority retired$ 7,100 of 
principal remaining on the 1997 bonds with redevelopment refunding lease 
revenue bonds of$ 6,200. The County has agreed to guarantee the payment of 
the lease revenue bonds, if the tax increments generated by Tax Incremental 
District #2 are insufficient to pay principal and interest due on the 2004 and 2007 
notes. The total of the 2004 and 2007 redevelopment lease notes outstanding as 
of December 31, 2011 was$ 16,700 and$ 6,200 respectively. 

Note 9 • Net Assets 
Governmental Activities 

Restricted net asse·t~ consist of the following: 
Governmental Activities 

2013 Appropriations 
2012 Appropriations 
Debt Service 
General Fund Commitments 

$ 5,539 
8 

11,577 
9,021 

Capital Projects Commitments 10,047 
Department of Family Care- State Restricted 12,182 
Department of Family Care- Excess Reserves 12,910 
Delinquent Property Tax 14,826 
Investment Market Value in Excess of Book Value 1 ,850 
Housing 1,369 
Health and Safety 136 
Zoo 874 
Parks 1,027 
Persons with Disabilities 115 
Behavioral Health Division 7,169 
Fleet and Facilities Divisions 5,781 
Airport- PFC and Debt 27,199 

Total Net Assets- Restricted- Governmental Activities =$===1=2-=1=,6=3=0= 
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Note 9- Net Assets (Continued) 

Business-type Activities 

Restricted net assets consist of the following: 

Business-type Activities 
Debt Service 
Capital Asset Needs 
Total Net Assets- Restricted­

Business-type Activities 

Disc~etely Presented Component Units 

$ 

$ 

15,161 
8,039 

23,200 

Restricted net assets for the Marcus Center for the Performing Arts, Inc., the 
Milwaukee County Research Park, Inc., ·and the Milwaukee County War 
Memorial, Inc. consist of the following: 

Temporarily Restricted 
Restricted for Programming Events - Marcus 

Center for the Performing Arts, Inc. 
Restricted for the Research Development Fund­

Milwaukee County Research Park, Inc. 
Restricted for the Building Account - Milwaukee County 

War Memorial, Inc. 
· Total 

$ 57 

305 

2 

$ 364 

Restricted net assets for the Milwaukee Public Museum consist of the following: 

Temporarily Restricted 
Exhibits and Museum Renovations 

Educational Lecture Costs 
Purchase and Maintenance of Collections 
Restricted for time 

Capital Campaign - Debt 
Endowment Fund: 

Purchase and Maintenance of Collecti.ons 
Internship Programs 

Total Temporarily Restricted Assets 

Permanently Restricted 
Operations 
Special Exhibits 

Starr Adventure and Internship 
Total Permanently Restricted Assets 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

654 
107 
293 
158 

1,818 

673 
44 

3,747 

2,511 
1,237 

t1 
3,819 
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Note 10 - Risk Management 

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to 
and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employee or natural 
disasters. The County uses a Risk Management Fund, which is presented as an 
internal service fund, to account for the financing of uninsured risks of loss. The 
County is self-insured for worker's compensation. In accordance with Wisconsin 
Statues, the County's overall exposure for general liability and automobile liability 
is limited to$ 50 and$ 250 per person respectively. The County purchases 
commercial insurance to cover a -substantial portion of the potential general 
liability, automobile liability and discrimination claims. The County also purchases 
commercial insurance for claims in excess of coverage provided by the Risk 
Management Fund and for all other risks of loss.- Settled claims from insured 
losses have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage for each of the past 
three years. 

All funds of the County except for the Transit System participate in the program 
and make payments to the Risk Management Fund based on actuarial estimates 
of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year claims and to establish a 
claims reserve. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No 10, a liability for claims is reported when it is probable that a loss 
has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities 
include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported. Claim 
liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim 
settlement trends including frequency and amount of payouts and other 
economic and soCial factors. The claims liability at December 31, 2011 was 
$ 14,912. 

The County has recognized$ 14,912 of claims liabilities in the Risk Management 
Fund. Changes in the balances of claim liabilities during the past two years are 
as follows: · 

Beginning of year Liability 
Current Year Claims and Changes in Estimates 
Claims Payments 

End.of Year Liability 

Year 
Ended 

12/31/2011 
$ 14,077 

9,859 
(9,024) ( 

$ 14,912 

Year 
Ended 

12/31/2010 
$ 10,894 

9,862 
(6,679) 

$ 14,077 

. . . . 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 10- Risk Management (continued) 

The claims liability for the Transit System at December 31, 2011 was$ 10,786. 
The Transit System has recognized $ 10,786 of claims liability in the Transit 
System fund. Changes in the Transit System balances of the claims liability for 
the past two years are as follows: 

Beginning of year Liability 
Current Year Claims and Changes in Estimates 
Claims Payments 

End of Year Liability 

Year. ended 
12/3112011 
$ 11 ,700 

1,026 
(1 ,940) 

$ 10,786 

Note 11 - Related Party Transactions 

Year ended 
12/31/2010 

$ 8,590 
5,218 

(2, 108) 

$ 11,700 

Milwaukee Gounty provides funds required for the operation of the War Memorial 
Center, Charles Allis/ Villa Terrance Art Museums and Marcus Center for the 
Performing Arts. To the extent these funds exceed actual disbursements, such 
excess is required to be returned to Milwaukee County. Milwaukee County and 

., . 

the War Memorial Center agreed that when revenues exceed budget, the War . , 
Memorial Center is permitted to create a reserve account whereas up to $ 25 can 
be deposited annually. These funds are to be used in future years for the War 
Memorial Cen.ter's operational needs. Total appropriations received by the 
Memorial for 2011 were$ 3,028, of which $1,280 was transferred to the Marcus 
Center for the Performing Arts for its operations. Interest earned on the 
investment of excess funds is not considered to be revenue, which must be 
returned to Milwaukee County. Milwaukee County has agreed to permit this 
interest income to be used at the discretion of the Board of Trustees for the 
benefit of their respective operations. 

The Milwaukee County Treasurer's office acts as the trustee for the Charles Allis 
Art Museum Trust. Distributions from the .trust totaling $ 1 were made to the 
Memorial during 2011. 

. . 
Milwaukee County has legal title to the Milwaukee Public Museum (MPM, Inc.) 
building, exhibits and artifacts, including any building additions and 
improvements and additions funded by the County or MPM, Inc. All such assets 
are leased to MPM, Inc. under a long-term lease. MPM, Inc. has not recorded the 
building and exhibits from the long-term lease in its consolidated financial 
statements, as the value cannot be determined. MPM, Inc. capitalizes building 
additions, improvements and exhibit costs when MPM, Inc. is obligated to pay for 
those capital items including the I MAX Theater, the Butterfly Wing, the 
Concourse, the garden gallery, gift shops and restaurants. These assets will 
revert to Milwaukee County if MPM, Inc. were to vacate the facility. MPM, Inc. 
amortizes these costs over their anticipated useful lives. 
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. Note 11 - Related Party Transactions (Continued) 

Milwaukee County and MPM, Inc. entered into a Lease and Management _ 
Agreement, which provides for the not-for-profit operations and management of 
MPM, Inc. The agreement, effective March 31,1992, encompasses (1) the lease 
and manage_ment of MPM, Inc. and (2) the transition of employees to MPM, Inc. 
The Agreement includes annual rental payments of$ 10.00 (ten dollars) and is 
renewable every five years through March 31, 2042. MPM, Inc. is responsible for 
all real estate taxes (if any), utilities, insurance, normal repair and maintenance 
expenses. The Agreement also provides for certain employee benefits for 
qualifying_ employees then employed by the County who became employees of 
MPM, Inc. in 1992.The County is responsible for, among other items, any special 
assessments, structural repairs and capital projects. 

An amendment to the Agreement provides for base annual operating support of 
$ 3,502 per year for 10 years beginning in calendar year 2008 through 2017. In 
addition, the County committed to a minimum of$ 4 million in capital 
expenditures over a period offive years, from 2008 to 2012 for infrastructure and 
deferred maintenance projects. Total payments to MPM, Inc. for the year ended 
August 31, 2011 was$ 3,502. 

Milwaukee County and the Milwaukee County Research Park Corporation 
entered into a ground lease for 100 years commencing March 24, 1993 at 
$ 1.00 (one dollar) per year. This lease covers approximately 158 acres 
consisting of the southwest quadrant, the Watertown Plank Road Park and Ride 
Lot and approximately 16 acres of northeast quadrant of the Milwaukee County 
grounds located in Wauwatosa, Wisconsin. 

Milwaukee County and the Milwaukee County Research Park Corporation 
entered into a lease, to manage and sublease the Technology Innovation Center 
(TIC), through September 39, 2013 with one additional five-year extension 
option. The rentable space now comprises most of the basement and the entire 
first through fifth floors of the b!Jilding. The rent due to Milwaukee County is 
based on space actually occupied by tenants and requires the Milwaukee County 
Research Park Corporation to charge annual base rentals of not less than$ 7.50 
(seven dollars and 50 c~nts) _ per tenant occupied space foot, payable monthly. 
Discounts to the base rental amount require approval by Milwaukee County. As . 
occupancy occurs, the Milwaukee County Research Park Corporation will pay 
Milwaukee County 66-2/3% of the base rent collected. 

Note 12 - Subsequent Events 

There are no subsequent events to report at this time. 
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Note 13 - Commitments and Contingencies 

Claims and Other Legal Proceedings 

The County is subject to numerous claims and other legal proceedings incidental 
to the ordinary course of its operations, including Environmental Protection 
Agency claims. Although the outcome of these claims and legal proceedings is 
not presently determinable, in the opinion of the County's corporate counsel the 
resolution of these matters will not have a materially adverse effect on the 
financial condition of the County. 

Storm and Sanitary Sewer System 

The County has sanitary sewer and storm &ewer systems that it is responsible for 
on County land. The State Attorney G.eneral issued an order that requires 
monitoring, maintenance, and repair of these systems. The purpose of this order 
is to ensure that the metropolitan ar~as sanitary sewer systems receive only 
sanitary system flow from the County. Storm water shall not be allowed to flow 
into the -metropolitan sanitary system. The order will require future capital and 
operating commitments. For 2012, the commitment is $ 335 

Intergovernmental Awards 

Intergovernmental awards are subject to audit and adjustment by the funding 
agency or their representatives. If grant revenues are received for expenditures, 
which are subsequently disallowed, the County may be required to repay the 
revenues to the funding agency. In the opinion of management, liabilities 
resulting from such disallowed expenditures, if any, would not be material to the 
accompanying goVernment-wide and fund financial statements at December 31, 
2011. 

.. 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System) 

Description and Provisions 

The County administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare and life 
insurance plans for retired employees. The plans provide health and life 
insurance contributions for eligible retirees and eligible spouses through the 
County's self-insured health insurance plans and the County's group life 
insurance plan. The retiree healthcare and life insurance plans do not issue 
separate financial reports. 

The retiree healthcare benefits are authorized by County Ordinance, Section 
17 .14. The retirement health benefit is non-contributory for retirees with 15 or 
more years of service who were hired before January 1, 1994, except for certain 
union groups, which have a later cut off date for this benefit. Retirees with less 
than 15 years. of service pay full premium. Retiree health insurance premiums 
are charged at different rates than active employees. Reti rees may enroll in 
either a self-insured Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) or a self-insured 
Preferred Provider Option (PPO). The non-contrit?utory health benefit includes 
reimbursement of the Medicare Part B premium for retirees and covered 
spouses. Employees hired on 'and after January 1, 1994 are responsible for the 
full cost of the health insurance premiums upon retirement. These employees 
shall have the full value of their accrued sick allowance at the time of retirement 
(total hours accrued times the hourly rate at the time of retirement) credited 
toward the cost of health insurance after retirement. See Note 1.0.6 for 
information regarding the County's accrued sick leave liability as of December 
31, 2011. 

The retiree life insurance benefits are authorized by County Ordinance, Section 
62.02. Employees hired prior to January 1, 1994 who retire with no break in 
service from active employee status retain group term life insurance coverage 
under the same contribution schedule as when actively employed. Life insurance 
coverage is the amouot in force at retirement. A coverage reduction schedule 
takes effect at age 65 when the plan becomes non-contributory. Employees 
hired on and after January 1, 1994, except for certain union groups who have a 
later cut off date, are responsible for the full cost of the life insurance premiums 
upon retirement. 
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Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Funding Policy 

The health insurance and life insurance benefits for retirees are financed on a 
pay-as-you-go basis with current tax levy funds through the General Fund. The 
County pays 100 percent of the health insurance premium for employees with 15 
or more years of service that were hired before January 1, 1994. Retirees with 
less than 15 years of service and employees hired on and after January 1, 1994 
are responsible for 1 00 percent of the health insurance premium after retirement. 
Employees who retire with no break in service from active employee status that 
were hired before January 1, 1994 pay group term life insurance premiums at the 
same contribution schedule as when actively employed. Employees hired on 
and after January 1, 1994 pay 100 percent of the life insurance premiums upon 
retirement. 

Annual OPES Cost and Net OPES Obligation 

The County's annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the Annual 
Required Contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined 
in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents 
a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal 
cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liability (or asset) over a 
period not to exceed thirty years. The following schedules provide the 
components of the County's 2011 ;. 2010, and 2009 OPEB costs: 

Schedule of Annual OPEB Costs 
For the Year Ending December 31, 

2011 2010 
Normal Cost $ 12,370 $ 12,370 $ 

2009 
18,392 

Amortization of Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 106,442 106,442 112,360 

i 
' ., 

I 
! 

.. 
! 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 118,812 118,812 130,752 • 

Interest on Net OPEB Obligation 12,673 10,232 6,541 

Adjustment to the ARC {28,698} {23,171} {14,811}_..; 

Annu'al OPEB Cost $ 102,787 $ 105,873 $ 122,482~. 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued). 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation - Continued. 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 
for the Year Ending December 31, 

2011 
Premiums Paid on Behalf of Retirees $ 62,372 $ 

2010 
66,500 

Less: Retiree Contributions 

Net Employer Contribution 

(1 ,31 0) ----~(~4,~15~0~>----~--~ 
$ 65,190 58,222 ,.;$=====~=== 

Percent of Annual OPEB Cost Contributed by Employer 56.6% 

Net OPEB Obligation - January 1, 
Annual OPEB Cost 

. Schedule of Net OPEB Obligation 
For the Year Ending December 31, 

2011 
$ 211,224 $ 

102,787 

. 61.6% 

2010 
170,541 
105,873 

2009 
$ 62,579 

{1 ,628} 

$ 60,951 

49.8% 

/ 2009 
$ 109,010 

122,482 
Less: Net Employer Contributions (65, 190) ( 58,222} _ __,_;;~~'-- ---~.:_...c...---L-(60,951) 

Net OPEB Obligation- December 31, 211,224 $ $ 255,789 =$======= ======== 170,541 

Funded Status and Funding Progress 

As of January 1, 2010, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the County's 
OPES plan was not funded. The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was 
$1,465,159, and there was no actuarial value of assets, resulting in an unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability (UML) of$ 1 ,465, 159. The annual payroll of active 
employees covered by the plan was$ 97,620, and the ratio of UML to covered 
payroll was 15.0 to 1. The schedule of funding progress, presented as Required 
Supplementary Information, following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents multiyear trend information. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of future events. 
Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the . 
healthcare cost trend. Amount determined regarding the funded status of the 
plan· a·nd the arinuar required coriti-ibutions ofthe employer are subjecfto 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and 
estimates are revised. The schedule of funding progress is presented as 
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods - Continued 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the 
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) 
and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the 
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan 
members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term vofatility in 

·actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the 
long-term perspective of the calculations. 

The schedules of funding progress presented in the supplementary schedules 
were determined as part of the actuarial valuations at the dates indicated. 
Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows: 

Valuation Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Asset Valuation Method 

. Actuarial Assumptions: 
Investment Rate of Return 
Healthcare Cost Trend: 

Less than 65 Years of Age 
65 Years of Age and Older 

Mortality 
Disability 
Retirement Age 

Withdrawal 

Rate of Salary Increases 

January 1, 2010 
Projected Unit Credit 

Level Payments 
30 Years, Closed 

Not Applicable 

6.0% 

9.0% Grading Down to 5% at 1% Per Year 
9.0% Grading Down to 5% at 1% Per Year 

Sex-Distinct RP2000 Combined Mortality Table 
Graduated Rates Based Upon Current Age 

Estimates Vary Based Upon Historical 
Experience of the County 

Graduated Rates Based Upon Current Age, 
Years of Service, and Employment Category 

Varies from 3.0% to 10.0% Based Upon Current 
Age and Employment Category 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made 

_The County does not have a formal funding policy for OPEB plans. It funds the 
costs for retiree health insurance and life insurance premiums on an annual pay­
as-you-go basis using property tax levy. 
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Note 14 - Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made (Continued} 

As of December 31, 2011, the County had 5,879 of retirees enrolled in a health 
plan. The 2011 expenditures for retiree healthcare costs were$ 61,461. The 
County's 2011 expenditures also included reimbursement of Medicare Part 8 
premiums for health plan retirees of$ 6, 129. The total health plan expenditures 
were offset by$ 3,839 in contributions from retirees and federal reimbursement 
for post-retirement health costs . .The retiree contributions were$ 1,314 for certain 
retirees who were responsible for the partial or full health benefit premium cost. 

As of December 31, 2011, the County had 5,140 retirees enrolled in the group 
life insurance plan. The 2011 expenditures for the group life insurance plar) were 
$ 911. The total life insurance expenditures were offset by$ 31 1 in retiree 
contributions for certain retirees who were responsible for the partial or full health 
benefit premium cost. 

Transit System Program 

Description and Provisions - Transit System Program 

Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc. (the "Transit System") provides single­
employer defined benefit healthcare and life insurance benefits for eligible retired 
employees and eligible surviving spouses. The retiree healthcare and life 
insurance benefits are provided pursuant to the general labor agreement 
between the Transit System and the Amalgamated Transit Union Local998 and 
the Office and Professional Employees International Union Local 35. The same 
benefits are provided to non-represented employees and retirees. Employees 
hired after July 16, 2007 are not eligible for retiree healthcare benefits. 
Employees eligible for pension benefits who retired before April 1, 2007 with ten 
(1 0) or more years of service are eligible fm healthcare benefits. Employees 
eligible for pension benefits who retire after April 1, 2007, with less than twelve 
(12) years of service will not be eligible for retiree healthcare benefits. 
Employees eligible for pension benefits who retire after April 1, 2009 with less 
than fourteen (14) years of service will not be eligible for retiree healthcare 
benefits. Effective July 1, 2007, all participants are required to contribute a 
portion of their health care insurance premium up to a maximum of 1 0 percent by 
January 1, 2010. Effective January 1, 2012, any participant whose combined 
age a·nd years of service equal less than 75 will pay an additional monthly 
contribution of 20% over regular retiree contributions, and if number is between 
75 but less than 80, participant will pay an additional contribution of 12% over 
regular retiree contributions, New Participants, after April 1, 2007, who join the 
Preferred Provider Option (PPO), will pay a 50% contribution rate for the PPO. 
Surviving spouses eligible for Medicare may continue healthcare coverage under 
the plan provided the surviving spouse pays 100 percent of the healthcare 
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Note 14 - Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Description and Provisions - Transit System Program (Continued) 

insurance premium. For surviving spouses not eligible for Medicare .and 
dependent children, the Transit System will pay one-half (Y2) of the healthcare 
insurance premium until the spouse becomes eligible for Medicare or remarries, 
provided the employee has completed at least twelve (12) years of service. 

The Transit System pays the full premiums on a term life insurance policy for all 
employees who have retired onto pension, at the face value in effect at the time 
of retirement. The face value of life insurance for employees who retired before 
April1, 2001 range from $500 to $16,500 (five-hundred to sixteen-thousand five­
hundred dollars). The face value for employees retiring after April 1, 2001 but 
before April1, 2007 is $8,500 (eight-thousand five-hundred dollars). The face 
value for employees retiring after April 1, 2007 is $9,000 (nine-thousand dollars). . . 

Funding Policy - Transit System Program 

The health insurance and life insurance benefits for retirees are recognized 
under the accrual method of accounting. Under this method retiree healthcare 
and life insurance benefits are recognized when the benefits are earned by 
employees. In addition, the Transit System recognizes a portion of the unfunded 
actuarial accrual liability (UAAL) for the past ;;ervice costs of its employees and 
retirees. The UAAL is amortized over thirty (30) years under the level percent 
method. Under the level percent method, the UAAL is paid off by contributing a 
fixed percentage of payroll each year. Under this method, the payments are 
smaller in the initial years and increase over time, as the payroll increases. It is 
assumed that the active group of employees' size remains constant and that the 
payroll increases 3 percent per year. It is the Transit System's intent to 
contribute the annual OPEB expense, after payment of the net retiree healthcare 
and life insurance premiums, into a ·trust. The Transit System does not issue a 
publicly available report that includes the financial statements for the trust on 
OPEB. 

Annual OPES Cost and Net OPEB Obligation -Transit System 
Progrnm · 

The Transit System's annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the 
annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially 
determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to 
cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liability (or . , 
asset) over a period of thirty (30) years. 

County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Notes to the Financial Statements 

146 



.. 
~l 
·~ 
~ 

J 

Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Funding Policy - Transit System Program (Continued) 

The following schedule provides the components of the Transit System's 2011, 
2010, and 2009 OPEB costs: 

Schedule of Annual OPES Costs 
For the Year Ending December 31, 

2011 2010 
Normal Cost $ 3,9.79 $ 3,893 $ 
Amortization of Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 14,945 14,729 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 18,924 18,622 
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation (1) 
Adjustment to the ARC 1 

Annual OPES Cost $ 18,924 $ 18,622 $ 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 
For the Year Ending December 31, 

2011 2010 
Premiums Paid on Behalf of Retirees $ 12,338 $ 14,306 $ 
Contributien to OPEB Trust 9,000 3,000 
Less: Retiree and Survivor Contribution (1 ,399) (1,526) 
Less: Medicare Part D* 

Net Employer Contribution $ 19,939 $ 15,780 $ 

Percent of Annual OPEB Cost Contributed by Employer 105.4% 84.7% 

Schedule of Net OPEB Obligation 
For the Year Ending December 31, 

2011 2010 
Net OPEB Obligation - January 1, $ 1,237 $ (10) $ 
Annual OPEB Cost 18,924 18,622 
Less: Net Employer Contributions (19,939) (15,780) 
Medicare Part D reclassified to revenue* (1,595) . . . . . 

Net OPEB Obligation- December 31, $ 222 $ 1,237 . $ 

2009 
4,942 

12,092 

17,034 
(194) 
(12) 

16,828 

2009 
11,844 
3,500 
(1,529) 

(407) 

13,408 

79.7% 

2009 
(3,430) 
16,828 

(13,408) 

{10) 

*Beginning in 2010, Medicare D is not part of the OPEB trust. Medicare Part D monies 2009 have been 
reclassified from the Net OPEB Obligation to revenue. 
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Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 
J . 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Funding Policy -Transit System Program (Continued) 

The schedule of funding progress, presented as Required Supplementary 
Information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear . 
trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets are increasing 
or decreasing overtime relative the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

Funded Status and Funding Progress - Transit System Program 

As of January 1, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the Transit 
System's OPES plan was partially funded. The actuarial accrued liability for 
benefits was$ 245,991, and the actuarial value of assets was$ 34,603, resulting 
in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of$ 211 ,388. The annual 
payroll of active employees covered by the plan was $ 46,695, and the ratio of 
UAAL to ~he covered payroll was 4.53 to 1. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods - Transit System Program 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of future events. 
Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the 
health care cost trend. Amount determined regarding the funded status of the 
plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and 
estimates are revised. The schedule of funding progress is presented as 
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the 
sub~tantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) 
and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the 
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan 
members to ·that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in 
actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the 
long-term perspective of the calculations. 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 14- Other Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods - Transit System Program 
(continued) 

The schedules of funding progress presented in·the supplementary schedules 
were determined as part of the actuarial valuations at the dates indicated. 

Valuation Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Amortization Method 
Remaining Amortization Period 
Asset Valuation Method 

Actuarial Assumptions: 
Investment Rate of-Return 

Healthcare Cost Trend:· 
Healthcare 
Prescription Drugs 

Mortality 
Disability . . 
Retirement Age 

Withdrawal 

Rate of Salary Increases 

January 1, 2012 
Unit Credit 

Level Percent of Payroll 
25 Years 
Market 

. 
7.5% 

8.0% Grading Down to 5.0% at 0.5% Pe·r Year 
8.0~ Grading Down to 5.0% at 0.5% Per Year 

1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table 
Not Applicable 

Estimates Vary Based Upon Historical 
Experience of the Transit System 

Graduated Rates Based Upon Current Age 
Years of Service and Employment Category 

3% per Year 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made - Transit System 
Program 

The Transit System's policy is to fully fund its OPES plan. The Transit System 
funds its annual OPES cost with operating revenues and tax levy support from 
Milwaukee County and the State of Wisconsin. As of December 31, 2011, the 
Transit System had 981 retirees and survivors enrolled in the HMO and PPO 
healthcare plans. The 2011 expenditures for the HMO and PPO healthcare plans 
were $ 12,061. The total HMO and PPO expenditures were offset by $ 1 ,399 in 
retiree contributions for certain retirees and ~urvivors who were responsible for 
the partial or full health benefit premium cost. · 

. . . .. 

As of December 31, 2011, the Transit System had 946 retirees enrolled in the life 
insurance plan. The 2011 expenditures for the life insurance plan were$ 277. 
There were no retiree contributions towards the life insurance plan. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 

Countywide Program. (excluding Transit System) 

Plan Description and Provisions 

The Employees' Retirement System of the County of Milwaukee ("ERS" or 
the "Retirement System") is a single-employer defined benefit plan that was 
created to encourage qualified personnel to enter and remain In the service of 
the County of Milwaukee (the "County") by providing for a system of retirement, 
disability and death benefits to or on behalf of its employees. Under Chapter 201 
of the Laws of Wisconsin for 1937, the County was mandated to create the 
Retirement System as a separate legal entity. The County did so by passing 

. Section 201.24 of the General Ordinances of Milwaukee County. The authority to 
manage and control the Retirement System is vested in the Pension Board of 
ERS (the "Board"). · 

The Board consists of nine members- three members appointed by the·County 
Executive (subject to confirmation by the County Board of Supervisors), three 
employee members elected by active employee members, two members 
appointed by the County Board chairperson and one retiree member elected by 
retirees. The Board created two (2) committees to assist in the administration of 

" the Board's duties. The Investment-Committee reviews the investment portfolio 
on a monthly basis, endorses strategies and submits investment 
recommendations to the full Board. The Audit Committee reviews legal issues, 
Ordinance adherence and submits recommendations to the full Board regarding 
the annual ·audit and the Annual Report of the Pension Board. 

For most members, the normal retirement age is either 60 or 64 depending on 
ERS enrollment date and collective bargaining agreement. A few labor 
agreements also require a minimum of 5 years creditable service in addition to 
the age requirement. For deputy sheriff members, tt)e normal retirement age is 
57 or age 55 with 15 years of creditable service. Depending on enrollment date 
and collective bargaining -agreement, some active members are eligible to retire 
when their age added to their years of creditable service equals 75 (the "Rule of 
75"). The multiplier is determined by Ordinance, collective bargaining agreement 
and ERS enrollment date. At this time, the multiplier percentage can be 1.5%, 
1.6%, 2% or 2.5%. A member's three or five consecutive years of highest 
earnings are used to calculate their final average salary as defined by the 
Ordinance and labor agreement. Annually after retirement, the monthly benefit is 
increased by 2% of the benefit paid for the first full month of retirement subject to 
IRS limits. By Ordinance, the maximum benefit (excluding post-retirement 
increases) payable to a member cannot exceed the sum of 80% of the member's 
final average monthly salary. · · 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Plan Description and Provisions (Continued) 

For some members, depending on enrollment date and collective bargaining 
agreement, the member may elect to receive a backdrop benefit. This benefit 
permits an employee to receive a lump-sum payment plus a monthly pension 
benefit upon retirement. The lump-sum payment is the total of the monthly 
pension amounts, adjusted for COLA increases that a member would be entitled 
to from a prior date ("backdrop date") to the date that the member terminates 
employment plus compounded interest. The backdrop date must be at least one 
calendar year prior to the termination date and the member must have been 
eligible to retire as of that date. The member will be entitled to a COLA based on 
the backdrop date once the member terminates employment. 

A member who meets the requirements for an accidental or ordinary disability 
retirement .benefit is entitled to an amount computed in the same manner as a 
normal pension but not less than 60% of the member's final average salary for 
accidental disability (75% for a represented deputy sheriff). A total of 15 years of 
creditable service is required to apply for ordinary disability. 

Most members are immediately vested upon attaining age 60 or 64. A vested 
member is eligible for a deferred pension beginning as of the member's normal 
retirement date. 

A member who is 55 years of age and has 15 years of credited service may elect 
to receive early-reduced retirement benefits. The member would be entitled to a 
benefit equal to the normal retirement benefit with a lifetime reduction of 5% for 
each year prior to the normal retirement date. 

Upon the death of a member (generally after 1 year of service and depending on 
collective bargaining agreements), a spouse with a dependent child as defined 
by Ordi!lance will receive 40% of the deceased member's salary, reduced by 
Social Security benefits payable to the spouse. An a.dditional 10% of salary, 
reduced by Social Security benefits, is paid for each dependent child. Generally, 
the total benefit, including Social Security benefits, cannot exceed 90% ·of the 
prior salary level of the member. At age 60, the spouse will receive 50% of the 
normal retirement benefit based on the member's projected service to age 60. If 
there is no spouse or child, the death benefit payable to a designated beneficiary 
is equal to 50% of the deceased member's final average salary, but not to 
exceed $2,000. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit Sy~tem Continued) 

Plan Description and Provisions {Continued}' 

A member who becomes eligible for normal retirement, but continues to work 
may elect a Protective Survivorship Option ("PSO") designating a person to 
receive a pension ( 1 00% or 50% option) in the event of their death while in active 
service. The PSO election must be filed in writing on an approved form. In the . 
absence of an election, a surviving spouse will be pai<;J a 100% survivorship 
pension. 

Participants should refer to applicable ordinances or labor agreements for more 
complete information. 

The County issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information for the ERS and OBRA. The 
financial report may be obtained by writing to the Pension Board, 901 North 9th 
Street, Room 210-C, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233 or by calling (414) 278-4207. 

OBRA 1990 Retirement System of the County of Milwaukee (OBRA)- The 
County. established the OBRA 1990 Retirement System of the County of 
Milwaukee (OBRA) to cover seasonal and certain temporary employees who are 
not enrolled in the Retirement System. Assets of the OBRA system are 
commingled for investment purposes with the assets of the Retirement System. 
The assets of the Retirement System are legally available to pay benefits of 
either the ERS or OBRA and all assets have been commingled. The Retirement 
System and OBRA are considered a single plan for financial reporting purposes. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Pension Fund 

Basis of Accounting -The financial information of the ERS was prepared using 
the accrual basis of accounting. Employee and employer contributions are 
recognized as reve.nues in the period in which employee services are performed 
and expenses are. recorded when the corresponding liabilities are incurred. 

GASB Statement No. 50- The Retirement System follows the provisions of 
GASB 50. G.ASB 50 requires that information about the funded status of the 
pension plan as of the most recent actuarial valuation be disclosed in notes to 
the financial statements. Additionally, GASB 50 req~ires disclosure of information 
about actuarial methods and assumptions· used in valuations on which· reported 
information about the ARC and the funded status and progress are based. 
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Note 15 · Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies- Pension Fund 
(Continued) 

The required schedules of funding progress, immediately following the notes to 
the financial statements, will present multiyear trend information. The trend 
information will st)ow whether the actuarial value of the plan assets is increasing 
·or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 

Expenses - ERS Administrative expenses incurred by the County related to the 
Retirement System are payable by the Retirement System to the County. Such 
expenses totaled _$1 ,549 in 2011 . 

Investments - lnyestments, primarily stocks, bonds, certain government loans 
and mortgage-backed certificates, are stated at quoted fair value. Temporary 
cash investments are valued at cost, which approximates fair value. Investments 
in venture capital partnerships, real estate, long/short hedge and infrastructure 
are valued at estimated fair value, as provided by the Retirement System's 
investment managers. Investment transactions are recorded on th_e trade date. 
Realized gains and losses are computed based on the average cost method. 

Valuation of International Securities -Securities and other assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollar 
amounts on the date of valuation. Purchases and sales of securities and income 
items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollar amounts 
on the respective dates of such transactions. 

Security Lending- Section 201 .24 (9.1) of the General Ordinances of 
Milwaukee County and Board policies permit ERS to lend its securities to broker­
dealers and other entities with a simultaneous agreement to return the collateral 
for the same securities in the future. ERS participates in such a security-lending 
program through its custodian, the Bank of New York Mellon, acting as ERS's 
securities lending agent. ERS requires collateral from the borrower in the form of 
cash or securities. Collateral for domestic issues is set at 1 02% of the fair value 
of the securities loaned at the time of the initial transaction. If the value falls to 
100%. of the fair value of the securities loaned, additional collateral is obtained to 
reestablish collateral at 102% .of the fair value of securities loaned. Collateral-for 
international securities is maintained at a level of 105% of the fair value of 
securities loaned at all times. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Summary of Significant Accounting· Policies - Pension Fund 
(Continued) 

The securities lending program guidelines attempt to preserve capital while 
earning a moderate rate of return. Earnings from securities lending, after all fees 
are paid, are split on a percentage basis with the custodian. For 2011 the net 
investment income realized from security lending was $154. 

ERS also invested in several commingled funds managed by Mellon Capital 
Management that participated in securities lending programs. The earnings and 
losse~ attributable to the commingled funds' securities lending programs are 
combined with the commingled funds' performance and are not reported 
separately in ERS's financial statements. 

Securities loaned and the collateral held as of December 31, 2011 were as 
follows: 

Fair Value of $ecurities Loaned: 

Fair Value of Collateral: 

Percent Collateral to Securities Loaned: 

$ 
$ 

64,599 

66,492 

102.93% 

The collateral received from security lending transactions are recorded as assets 
at quoted fair value of the financial statement date. The Retirement System 
records an identical amount as a liability, representing the obligation of the 
Retirement System to return the collateral at the time the borrower of the 
Retirement System's securities return those securities. 

The collateral received from securities lending transactions includes cash of 
$58,499 and U.-S. Treasury securities of $7,993 for the year ended December 31, 
2011 . Under the. terms of the securities lending agreement, the Retirement 
System has the right to sell or pledge the cash collateral. The non-cash collateral 
in the amount of $7,993 for the year ended December 31, 2011 is controlled by 
the custodian and, correspondingly, is not reflected in the financial statef?1ents. 

At year-end, the Retirement System has no credit risk exposure to borrowers 
because the amounts the Retirement System owes the borrowers exceed the 
amounts the borrowers owe the Retirement System. The contract with the 
Retirement System's custodian requires it to indemnify the Retirement System if 
a borrower fails to return the securities (and if the collateral is inadequate to 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System (Continued) 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Pension Fund 
(Continued} 

replace the securities lent) or fails to pay the Retirement System for income 
distributions by the securities' issuers while the securities are on loan. 

Financial Instruments With Off-Balance Sheet Risks - A currency forward is a 
contractual agreement between two parties to pay or receive amounts of foreign 
currency at a future date in exchange for another currency at an agreed-upon 
exchange rate. Forward commitments are entered into with the foreign exchange 
department of a bank located in a major money market. These transactions are 
entered into in order to hedge risks from exposure to foreign currency rate 
fluctuations. Recognition of realized gain or loss depends on whether the 
currency exchange rate has moved favorably or unfavorably to the contract 
holder upon termination of the contract. Prior to termination of the contract, the 
Retirement System records the amount receivable or payable at fair value, with 
the unrealized gain or loss reported as a component of net appreciation in fair 
value. All contracts. are short-term in duration and mature within 90 days. 
Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk held were zero as of December 
31' 2011. 

ERS invests in financial futures contracts in order to improve the performance of 
the fund. The Retirement System purchases contracts that approximate the 
amount of cash held by US equity investment managers and cash used to pay 
benefits and expenses. Financial futures contracts are agreements to buy or sell 
a specified amount at a specified delivery or maturity date for an agreed upon 
price. The market values of the futures contracts vary from the original contract 
price. A gain or loss is recognized and paid to or received from the 
clearinghouse. Financial futures represent an off balance sheet obligation, as 
there are no balance sheet assets or liabilities associated with those contracts. 
The cash or securities to meet these obligations are held in the investment 
portfolio. All contracts .are short-term in duration and mature within 90 days. 

ERS is subject to credit risk iri the event of non-performance by counter parties to 
financial futures and forward contracts. ERS generally only enters into 
transactions with credit worthy instjtutio.ns. The .Retirement System is exposed to 
market risk, the risk that future changes in market conditions may make an 
instrument less valuable. Exposure to market risk is managed in accordance with 
risk limits set by ERS management and by buying or selling futures or forward 
contracts. The cash or securities to meet these obligations are held in the 
investment portfolio. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit Syste.m Continued) 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made 

Cash Held: 
U.S. Equity Managers 
Cash Used to Pay Benefits and Expenses 

Total Cash Held · 

Futures Purchased: 
S&P 500 (U.S. Equity) 
Barclays AGG (Fixed Income) 
MSCI EAFE (International Equity) 

Total Futures Purchased 

Futures Below Cash 

· Market Value 

December 31. 2011 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

13,545 
65486 
79 031 

38,393 
26,437 
11 909 
76 739 
(2.292) 

1.004 

2011 Changes in Plan Provisions or Actuarial Assumptions since Prior Year: 
• During 2011, the multiplier was reduced from 2.0% to 1.6% for elected 

officials, the bargaining unit of American Federation of State, County and 
Local Municipal Employees (AFSCME DC-48) and certain smaller . 
represented bargaining units. 

• During 2011, the retirement age for AFSCME DC-48 and certain smaller 
represented bargaining units new hires were increased from 60 to 64. 

The Retirement System's funding policy provides for periodic County 
. contributions at actuarially determined rates that, expressed as percentages of 

annual covered payroll, are sufficient to accumulate sufficient assets to pay . 
benefits when due. Payroll contribution rates are determined using the Aggregate 
Entry Age Normal method of funding. The Retirement System also uses the level 
percentage of payroll me~hod to amortize the unfunded liability over a 30-year 
period. The significant actuarial assumptions used to compute the contribution 
requirements are the same as those used to compute the pension benefit 
obligation. 

The County makes contributions to the Retirement System based upon the 
Annual Required Contribution ("ARC") and legal requirements, at the discretion 
of the County Board. An actuary hired by the Pension Board establishes the 
ARC. Data used in the determination of the ARC is based upon the prior fiscal 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made (Continued) 

year's demographics. The actual contribution made to the pension plans is set 
·during the County's budget process and may differ from the ARC as a result of 
changes in plan provisions implemented subsequent to establishment of the ARC 
and budgetary restraints. During the year, the Retirement System accrues those 
contributions that the County has included in its current year's budget. 

Three year Trend Information for the ERS and OBRA are as follows: 

Annual Percentage Net Pension 
Fiscal Year Pension ofAPC Obligation 

Ending Cost (APC) Contributed (Asset) 

ERS 12/31/11 · $ 22,508 .. 140.1% $ (413,315) 
12/31/10 22,570 145.7% (404,328) 
12/31/09 23,803 1922.2% (395,607) 

OBRA 
12/31111 $ 815 248.1% $ (1 ,254) 
12/31/10 . 712 110.4% 
12/31/09 . 655 100.8% 

County contributions to ERS totaling$ 31,589, $ 32,894 and$ 457,789 were 
recorded in 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. The 2011, 2010 and 2009 
contribution was $4,736, $ 5,344 and$ 427,434, respectively, above the Funding 
Contribution Amount ("FCA"). The 2011 and 2010 <;~ctua l contributions are above 
the FCA due to contributions being based on budgeted estimates without 
adjustment for subsequent changes in actuarial assumptions. The 2009 
contribution was well above the FCA due to a one-time contribution from pension 
obl igation bonds of$ 397.8 million and settlement of a lawsuit of$ 29.0 million. 
In 2011 , employees began making contributions toward the a'nnual pension cost. 
The 2011 County Contribution of $31,589 includes employee contributions of 
$3,313 for the year. · 

OBRA's funding policy provides for an annual County contribution at an 
actuarially determined rate. Liabilities and co~tributions are computed using the 
Unit Credit method of funding. OBRA also used the Unit Credit method to 
amortize the unfunded liability over ·a 30-year period. The actuarial accrued 
liability of OBRA at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.was $ 2,444, $ 5,520 
and $ 5,069, respectively, leaving net assets available less than the actuarial 
accrued liability of($ 1 ,209), ($ 4, 117), and ($ 4,030), respectively. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made (Continued) 

The County made contributions to the OBRA system totaling $ 2,022, $ 786, and 
$ 661 in 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. The Funding Contribution Amount 
for 2011, 2010, and 2009 was$ 807, $ 716, and $ 661. The 2011 contribution 
exceeded the FCA due to additional proceeds needed for payouts that occurred 
in2011. 

The County maintains a Net Pension Asset, due to a contribution of $397,000 in 
2009 from the issuance of Pension Obligation Bonds. The following is an 
accounting of the Net Pension Asset for 2011. 

Valuation Date 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 

Interest on Net Pension Asset 

Adjustment to ARC 
Annual Pension Cost (APC) 

Pension Contribution Made 

Less Annual Pension Cost (APC) 

Less other adjustments 

Increase in Net Pension Asset 

Net Pension Asset Beginning of Year 

Net Pension Asset End of Year 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

--. 

ERS 
January.1, 2012 

29,621 

(32,346) 

25,233 
22,508 

31 ,589 

22,508 

94 

8,987 

404,328 

413,315 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Funded Status and Actuarial Information 

The Retirement System engages an independent actuarial" firm to perform an 
annual actuarial valuation. The funded status of the Retirement System as of 
January 1, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, is as follows: 

Actuarial UAALas a 

Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage 

Value of Liability- Funded AAL- Covered of Covered 

Assets AAL Ratio UAAL Payroll Payroll 

.@1 .(Ql (alb) (b-a) .{£1 ((b-a}/c} 

ERS $1,836,543 $2,059,554 89.2% $ 223,011 $ 190,748 116.9% 
OBRA $ 1,235 $ 2,444 . 50.5% $ 1,209 $ 8,936 13.5% 

The schedules of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information (RSI) immediately following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial values of the 
plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the AALs for 
benefits. 

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially 
determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared to past expectations and new estimates about the future. The 
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly 
incorporate the potential effects of legal or co,ntractual funding limitations. These 
calculations reflect long-term perspectives and use techniques that are designed 
to reduce short-term volatility. 
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Note 15 - Employe_e Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) · 

Countywide Program (excluding Transit System Continued) 

Funded Status and Actuarial Information (Continued) 

Following is a listing of the actuarial method significant assumptions used to 
determine the Annual Required Contribution (ARC) for the current year: 

Valuation Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Asset Valuation Methqd 
Amortization Methods: 

Contribution Variance 
Administrative Expenses 
All Other Unfunded Liability 

Remaining Amortization P~riods: 
Contribution Variance 
Administrative Expenses 
All Other Unfunded Liability 

Actuarial Assumptions: 
Investment Rate of Return 
Rate of Salary Increases 
Post-retirement Benefit Increases 
Mortality-Healthy Pensioners 

' 
Mortality-Disabled Pensioners 
Inflation Rate 

ERS 
January 1, 2012 

Aggregate Entry Age Normal 
5-year Smoothed Market 

Level Dollar, Closed 
Level Dollar, Closed 

Level Percent of Payroll, Closed 

5 Years 
10 Years 
30 Years 

8.0% 
3.50% 

2.0%, simpre 
Sex-Distinct UP-

1994 Mortality Table 
RP2000 Disabled Mortality Table 

3.0o/o 

OBRA 
January 1, 2012 

Unprojected Unit Credit 
Market 

Level Dollar, Closed 
Level Dollar, Closed 

Level Percent of Payroll, Closed 

5 Years 
10 Years 
30 Years 

8.0% 
5.00% 

2.0%, simple 
Sex-Distinct UP-

1994 Mortality Table 

3.0% 

Transit System Program 

Plan Description and Provisions-Transit System Program 

The Transit System's Transport Employees' Pension Plan ("The Plan") is a single 
employer contributory defined benefit plan sponsored by Milwaukee Transport 
Services, Inc. The Plan is .administered by an administration board, which 
consists of three members ·representing Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc. and 
three members representing the employees. The Plan is not subject to the 
reporting and disclosure requirements of the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 197 4 as amended (ERISA), as it is a governmental plan 
exempted under Section 4(b )( 1) of Title I of the Act. All regular full-time 
employees of Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc. are eligible to participate in the 
Plan. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Plan Description and Provisions-Transit System Program 
(Continued) 

Participants become fully vested after five (5) years of continuous credited 
service. Participants are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 with five 
years of credited service or a ·combination of age plus credited service total 85 or . 
more. 

Participants are eligible for reduced retirement benefits at age 57 with five years 
of credited service. Effective April 1, 19981 participants who have completed 
twenty-five or more years of credited service are eligible for normal retirement 
benefits. Participants may elect to receive their pension benefits in the form of a 
joint and survivor annuity. The Plan also provided for death and disability 
benefits. 

Under the terms of the Plan, a participant, upon normal retirement, is entitled to 
receive a monthly benefit of 2% (1.77% for participants retiring between April1, 
2001 and March 31 I 2002, 1.82% for participants retiring between April 1, 2002 
and March 31 I 2003 and 1.87% for participants retiring between April 1, 2003 
and March 31 I 2004 and 2% for participants retiring after April 1 , 2004) of his/her 
average monthly earnings during the three highest earnings years times the 
number of years of credited service after March 31,1966, plus $ 90 times the 
numbers of years of credited service prior to April 1, 1966. The total number of 
years of credited service cannot exceed thirty-five (35). A minimum monthly 
benefit of$ 250 is provided for all retirees with at least ten (10) years of credited 
service. 

Upon termination of employment before five years of credited service, 
participants will receive a refund equal to their own employee contributions and 
interest income at a rate of approximately 2%. Information concerning the Plan 
including vesting, benefits and termination provisions may be obtained from the 
summary plan booklet distributed by Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc. 

The T~ansit System issues a publicly available report that includes the financial 
statements and required supplementary information for the Transport Employees' 
Pension Plan. The financial report may be obtained by writing to the Transport . 
Employees Pension Plan, 194.2 North 17th Street, Mil~aukee, Wisconsin 53205. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) · 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policie·s -Transit System 
Program 

Basis of Accounting - The financial information of the Plan has been prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles within the United States of America. · 

GASB Statement No. 50- The Plan implemented provisions of GASB Statement ~ 
No. qO- Pension Disclosures, an· Amendment of GASB Statements No. 25 and 
No. 27. This statement requires that information about the funded status of the 
pension plan as of the most recent actuarial va·luation be disclosed in notes to 
the financial statements. Additionally, GASB 50 requires disclosure of information 
about actuarial methods and assumptions used in the valuations on which 
reported information about Annual Required Contributions ("ARC") and the 
funded status and progress are based. The schedules of funding progress 
present multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of the plan 
assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 
liability for benefits. 

Investments - Investments are reported at fair value. Short-term investments are 
reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on a national 
exchange are valued at the last reported sales price. Investments that do not 
have an established market are reported at estimated value. Because of the 
inherent uncertainty of valuation, the estimated values for the limited partnerships 
may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready 
market for the investments existed. Income and realized gains from investments 
are reinvested. ·Investment security transactions are the related gains and losses 
are recognized as of the trade date. The average cost basis is used in 
determining the cost of investments sold. Purchases and sales of securities are 
recorded on a tra.de-date basis. Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis. 
Dividend is recorded on the ex-dividend date. 

Income Taxes -The Plan is exempt from Federal income taxes under section 
115 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

[This section intentionally left blank] 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Pl~ns 
(Continued) 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Contributions Required and Contributions Made -Transit System 
Program 

Employees covered under the Plan contribute an amount equal to 15% (25% 
after to January 1, 2012) of the actuarially determined contribution necessary to 
fund the Ptan. Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc. contributes an amount equal 
to 85% (75% after to January 1, 2012) of the actuarially determined contribution 
necessary to fund the Plan. · 

. . 
In 2011 and 2010, Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc, was required to make 
monthly pension contributions payments to the. Plan equal to 20.35% and 
18.11% respectively, of the gross amount of wages or salaries paid to each 
employee covered under the Plan. The employer and employee portion was 
85% and 15%, respectively, of the gross amount of wages. Employees were 
required to contribute 3.05% in 2011 and 2.72% in 2010 oftheir gross wages or 
salaries. 

Three year Trend Information for the Milwaukee Transport Employees' Pension 
Plan is as follows: 

Annual Percentage Net 

Fiscal Year Pension ofAPC Pension 

Ending Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation 

12/31/11 $ 9,86~ 100.0% $ 
12/31/10 9,939 100.0% 
12/31/09 9,190 100.0% 

Contributions are designated to fund current service costs as well as to fund, 
.over approximately 30 years, the estimated accrued benefit costs arising from 
qualifying service that .occurred prior to the establishment of the Plan or 
subsequent Plan amendments. Interest on employee contributions is 
accumulated at a rate of 2% per year: The Annual Required Contribution·s for 
Employer portion of the Transport Employees' Pension Plan were$ 9,867, 
$ 9.,939, a(ld $~, 190 for 201.1, 2010 and 200.9 re$pective!y . .The An.nual R~quired 
Contribution for the employee portion of the Transport Employees' Pension Plan 
were$ 1,741 and$ 1,754 for 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
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Note 15 - Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Transit System Program (Continued) 

Funded Status and Actuarial Information - Transit System Program 

Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc. funds the Annual Required Contribution 
during the fiscal year beginning on the valuation date. The Annual Required 
Contribution comprises the normal cost plus amortizatio'n of the Unfunded 
Actuarial Accrued Liapility on a level dollar basis over an open period of thirty 
years. 

Following is a listing of the actuarial method significant. assumptions used to 
determine the Annual Required Contribution (ARC) for the current year: 

Valuation Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Asset Valuation Method 

Amortization Methods: 
All Other Unfunded Liability 

Actuarial Assumptions: 
Investment Rate of Return 
Rate of Salary Increases 
Post-retirement Benefit Increases 
Mortality-Healthy Pensioners 

Mortality-Disabled Pensioners 
Inflation Rate 

Transit 
Januar.y 1, 2012 

. Frozen Initial liability Method 
Fair Market Value 

Level Dollar Basis over a period 
of thirty years (30) 

7.75% 
3.75% 

2.0%, simple 
RP-2000 Generational 

Mortality Table 
RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table 

3.0% 

The Transport Employees' Pension Plan engages an independent actuarial firm 
to perform an annual actuarial valuation. The funded status of the Plan as of 
January 1, 2012, the most recent actuarial valuation date, is as follows: 

(Overfunded) UAAL as a 
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Underfunded Percentage 

Valuation Value of Accrued Funded AAL- Covered of Covered 
Date Assets Liability- Ratio UAAL Payroll Payroll 

1/1/12 $ 352,553 $442,809 79.6% $ 90,256 $55,615 162.3% 
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Note 15- Employee Retirement Systems and Pension Plans 
(Continued) 

Transit System Program {Continued) 

Funded Status and Actuarial Information - Transit System Program 

The schedules of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information (RSI) immediately following the notes to the financial statements, 
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial valu.es of the 
plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the Actuarial 
Accrued Liabilities for benefits. 

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially 
determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared to past expectation$ and new estimates about the future. The 
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly 
incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual funding limitations. These 
calculations reflect long-term perspective~ and use techniques that are designed 
to reduce short-term volatility. · · 

Note 16 - Pending Governmental Accounting Standards 

GASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service 
Concession Arrangements, will be effective for the County beginning the year 
ending December 31, 2012. This statement addresses issues related to service 
concession arrangements (SCA's), which are a type of public-private or public­
public partnership. The standard addresses SCAs in which there is an 
arrangement between a transferor (a gov~rnment} and an operator 
(governmental or nongovernmental entity) in which (1) the transferor conveys to 
an operator the right and related obligation to provide services through the use of 
infrastructure or another public asset (a "facility) in exchange for significant 
consideration and (2) the operator collects· and is compensated by fees from third 
parties. The statement also includes required disclosures about the SCAs. 

GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus-an 
amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34, will be effective for the 
Coun,ty beginning the year ending December 31 , 2013. This statement modifies 
certain requirements for inclusion of component units, amends criteria for 
blending, and clarifies the reporting of equity interests in legally separate enfities. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Schedules of Funding Progress and Employer Contributions 

Employee's Retirement System 

Retirement System 
Substantially all full-time employees of the County are participants in the Employees' 
Retirement System of the County of Milwaukee (Retirement System), which is a single­
employer defined benefit pension plan that is non-contributory. 

OBRA 
The County establis~ed the OBRA 1990 Retirement System of the County of Milwaukee to 
cover seasonal and certain temporary employees who are not enrolled in the Retirement 
System.· · 

Transit System 
The Transport Employees' Pension Plan sponsored by Milwaukee Transport Services Inc., a 
nonprofit, non-stoQk corporation, is a single employer contributory defined benefit pension 
plan . All regular full-time employees of Milwaukee Transport Serv.ices Inc. are eligible to 
participate in the plan. · 

Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

Countywide Program 
The County administers single-employer defined benefit health care and life insurance plans 
for retired employees. The plan provides health and life insurance contributions for eligible 
retirees and their spouses through the Co"unty's se_lf-insured health insurance plans and the 
County's group life insurance plan. 

~- Transit System Program 
:;; Milwaukee Transport Services, Inc provides single-employer defined benefit healthcare and 

I
t;:) life insurance benefits for retired employees. The retiree healthcare and life insurance benefits 
>:~· - are provided pursuant to the general labor agreement between the Transit System arid the 
.• ,,. Amalgamated Transit Union Local 998 and the Office and Professional Employees 

' International Union Local 35. 
. ~· 
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County of Milwaukee 
Required Supplementary Information 

(Unaudited) 
Schedule of Fu·nding Progress - Pension Plan 

(in Thousands of Dollars) . 

Actuarial (Overfunded) UAAL as a 
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage 

Actuarial Value of Liability- Funded AAL- Covered of Covered 
Valuation Assets AAL Ratio UAAL* Payroll Payroll** 

Date !ill .{Q} (alb) (b-a) .{£) ((b-a}/c} 
Retirement Sl£stem 

1/1/12 $ 1,836,543 $ 2,059,554 89.17% $ 223,011 $ 190,748 116.91% 
1/1/11 1,929,428 2,091,927 92.23% 162,499 221 .. 647 73.31% 
1/1/10 1,956,444 2,097,332 93.28% 140,888 237,040 59.44% 
1/1/09* 1,968,518 2,057,377 95.68% 88,859 233,820 38.00% 
1/1/08 ·1,627,288 2,024,923 80.36% 397,635 227,364 174.89% 
1/1/07 1,525,532 1,931,220 78.99% 405,688 223,005 181.92% 
1/1/06 1,454,302 1,909,321 76.17% 455,019 225,722 201 .58% 
1/1/05 1,424,918 1,782,884 79.90% 357,966 209,796 170.60% 
1/1/04 1,446,726 1,707,999 84.70% 261,273 233,478 111.90% 
1/1/03 1,446,860 1,542,045 93.80% 95,185 234,679 40.60% 

OBRA 
1/1/12 $ 1,235 $ 2,444 50.54% $ 1,209 $ 8,936 13.53% 
1/1/11 1,402 5,520 25.40% 4,117 8,936 46.07% 
1/1/10 1,039 5,069 20.50% 4,030 6,901 58.40% 
1/1/09 860 4,452 19.32% 3,592 8,498 42.27% 
1/1/08 1,355 4,077 33.24% 2,722 8,284 32.86% 
1/1/07 1,261 3,843 32.80% 2,582 7,057 36.60% 
1/1/06 1,090 3,530 30.90% 2,440 8,353 29.20% 
1/1/05 944 2,872 32.90% 1,928 8,406 22.90% 
1/1/04 . 790 2,535 31.15% 1,745 8,397 20.80% 
1/1/03 674 2,049 32.90% 1,376 8,596 16.00% 

• In order to facilitate long-term planning, the pension board for the Retirement System requested the actuary to include 
the $397,797 in pension obligation bond proceeds received in April2009 in its determination of the plan's funded 
status as of January 1 , 2009. 

Note: Analysis of the dollar amounts of plan assets, actuarial accrued liability (AAL), and unfunded (overfunded) 
actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) in isolation can be misleading. Expressing plan net assets as a percentage of the 
AAL provides one indication of the Retirement System's funding status on a going-concern basis. Analysis of this 
percentage over time indicates whether the system is becoming financially stronger or weaker. Generally, the greater 
th.is percentage, the stronger the Retirement System. Trends in the AAL and annual covered payroll are both affected 
by inflation. Expressing the UAAL as a percentage of annual covered payroll approximately adjusts for the effects of 
inflation and aids the analysis of the Retirement System's progress in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits 
when due. Generally, the lower this percentage is, the stronger the Retirement System. 
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County of Milwaukee j. 
Required Supplementary Information 

.l (Unaudited) 
Schedule of Employer Contributions • Pension Plan I .. 

For the Year Ended December 31, I 

l 

(In Thousands of Dollars) 

Annual 
Required Percentage 

Fiscal Contribution of ARC 
Year (ARC) Contribution Contributed 

Retirement System 
2011 $ 29,621 $ · 31,589 106.64% 

. 2010 29,529 32,894 111.40% 
2009 . 30,356 457,789 1508.07% 
2008 53,064 34,841 65.66% 
2007 52,395 49,289 94.07% 
2006 52,638 27,435 52.12% 
2005 37,438 35,415 94.60% 
2004 33,248 35,249 106.02% 
2003 23,131 33,981 146.91% 
2002 7,536 2,580 34.24% 

OBRA 
2011 $ 807 $ 2,022 250.56% 
2010 716 786 109.78% 
2009 661 661 100.00% 
2008 558 522 93.55% 
2007 486 529 108.85% 
2006 499 462 92.59% 
2005 386 365 94.56% 
2004 338 348 102.96% 
2003 280 280 100.00% 
2002 275 275 100.00% 
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County-wide Program 

Transit System Program 

·. 

County of Milwaukee 
Required Supplementary Information 

(Unaudited) 
Schedule of Funding Progress - OPEB 

(in Thousands of Dollars) 

(Overfunded) 
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Underfunded 
Valuation Value of Accrued Funded AAL-

Date Assets Liability- Ratio U~L 

1/1/2010 $ - $ 1,465,159 0.0% $ 1,465,159 
1/1/2008 , 1,546,458 0.0% 1,546,458 
1/1/2006 1,313,632 0.0% 1,313,632 

1/1/2012 $ 34,603 $ 245,991 14.1% $ 211,388 
1/1/2011 24,840 243,077 10.2% 218,237 
1/1/2010 19,676 209,963 9.4% 190,287 
1/1/2009 12,678 201,686 6.3% 189,008 

UAAL as a 
Percentage 

Covered of Covered 
Payroll Payroll · 

$ 97,620 1500.9% 
118,977 1299.8% 
99,327 1322.5% 

$ 46,695 452.7% 
50',958 428.3% 
57,356 331.8% 
63,921 295.7% 
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County of Milwaukee 
Required Supplementary Information 

(Unaudited) 
Schedule of Employer Contributions - OPEB 

For the Year Ended December 31, 
(In Thousands of Dollars) 

Annual Net 
Fiscal Required Employer 
Year Contribution Contribution 

Coun!Y-Wide Program 
2011 $ 118,812 $ 58,222 
2010 118,812 65, 190 
2009 . 130,752 60,951 

Annual Net 
Fiscal Required Employer 
Year Contribution Contribution 

Transit S:istem Program 
2011 $ 18,924 $ 19,939 
2010 18,622 14,804 
2009 17,034 13,407 

<;:~ounty of Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
' 

171 

Employer · 
Percentage 
Contributed 

49.0% 
54.9% 
46.6% 

Employer 
Percentage 
Contributed 

105.4% 
79.5% 
78.7% 
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County of Milwaukee 
Required Supplementary Information 

(Unaudited) 
Schedule of Funding Progress -Transit Pension Plan 

(in Thousands of Dollars) 

(Overfunded) 
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Underfunded 
Valuation Value of Accrued Funded · AAL- Covered 

Date Assets Liability- Ratio UAAL Payroll 

Transit System 
1/1/12 $ 352,553 $ 442,809 79.6% $ 90,256 $ 55,615 
1/1/11 352,396 410,915 85.8% 58,519 57,300 
1/1/10 318,883 378,311 84.3% 59,427 60,000 
1/1/09 321,519 384,833 83.5% 63,314 61,000 
1/1/08 351 ,688 375,684 93.6% 23,995 62,000 
1/1/07 327,134 354,337 92.3% 27,203 62,000 
1/1/06 308,489 334,648 92.2% 26 •. 159 63,750 
1/1/05 293,281 312,184 93.9% 18,802 63,350 
1/1/04 254,519 284,683 89.4% 30,164 64,500 
1/1/03 242,635 269,635 90.0% 27,000 64,700 

UAAL as a 
Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 

162.3% 
102.1% 
99.0% 

103.8% 
38.7% 
43.9% 
41.0% 
29.7% 
46.8% 
41.7% 
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County of Milwaukee 
Required Supplementary Information 

(Unaudited) 
Schedule of Employer Contributions - Transit Pension Plan 

For the Year Ended December 31 , 
(In Thousands of Dollars) 

Annual 
Required Percentage 

Fiscal Contribution of ARC 
Year (ARC) Contribution Contributed 

Transit System 
2011 $ 9,867 $ 9,867 100.00% 
2010 9,939 9,939 100.00% 
2009 9,190 9,190 100.00% 
2008 7,243 7,243 100.00% 
2007 7,429 7,429 100.00% 
2006 7,251 7,251 100.00% 
2005 7,316 7,316 100.00% 
2004 7,391 7,391 100.00% 
2003 6,555 6,555 100.00% 
2002 5,134 5,134 100.00% 

;County of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Required Supplementary Information 

173 

i ' 
I 

:I 
.\ 

i 
f. 
t : 

~ -,. 

'I II 

1 
' 

·:l 
ji 

I 
I 

I 

t 



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Combining and Individual Fund 
Financial Statements and Schedules 
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BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES 
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Revenues: 
Intergovernmental 
Property Taxes 
Sales Taxes 
Charges for Services 
Fines and Forfeits 
Licenses and Permits 
Investment Income and R~nts 
Other 

Total Revenues 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

County Board 
Department of Audit 
Veterans Service 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Chan,ges in Fund Balances-Budget ar:td Actual 
(Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 

General Fund 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

Original Final 

Buctset Budget 

$ 281 ,048 $ 297,079 
272,538 272,538 
64,426 64,426 

373,863 392,322 
3,447 3,447 . 

547 547 
9,789 9,789 

45,006 46,414 
1,050,664 1,086,562 

6,313 6,295 
2,528 2,508 

348 332 
Community Development Business Partners 944 1,100 
Procurement 676 690 
Employee Benefits 2,653 2,572 
Labor Relations 487 506 
Office for Persons with Disabilities 853 1,012 
County Executive 1,110 1,103 
Civil Service Commission ·40 40 
Personnel Review Board 220 217 
Corporation Counsel 1,581 1,551 
Department of Human Resources 1,923 1,798 
Department of Administrative Services 4,110 4,087 
Other Executive and Staff 2,044 3,061 

Legislative, Executive and Staff 25,830 26,872 

County-funded State Court Services 33,880 34,118 
Child Support Enforcement 19,646 19,641 
Alternatives to Incarceration 4,587 5,157 

Courts and Judiciary 58,113 58,916 

Election Commission 611 827 
County Treasurer 1,586 1,572 
County Clerk 741 734 
Register of Deeds 4,626 4,680 

General Governmental Services 7,564 7,813 

Sheriff 145,354 150,034 
District Attorney 17,887 17,976 
Medical Examiner 4,348 4,444 

Public Safety 167,589 172,454 

176 

_______________________________ ., ___ _ 

Variance 
With Final 

Actual Budget 

$ 279,289 $ (17,790) 
273,297 759 

63,968 (458) 
391,496 (826) 

2,932 (515) 
453 (94) 

9,545 (244) 
41 ,201 (5,213) 

1,062,181 (24,381~ 

~~ 5,839 456 I 
2,443 65 . I 

284 48 
900 200 
666 24 

2,168 404 
447 59 

1,001 11 
1,008 95 

50 (10) 
196 . 21 

1,430 121 
1,557 241 
3,866 221 
1,478 1,583 

23,333 3,539 

32,771 1,347 
18,084 1,557 
4,717 440 

55,572 . 3,344 

828 (1) 
1,134 438 

705 29 
4,581 99 
7,248 565 

146,333 3,701 
17,114• 862 
4,382 62 

167,829 4,625 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statement of Revenues, E~penditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances-Budget and Actual 
{Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 

General Fund · · 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2011 

{In Thousands) 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances-Budget and Actu 

(Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 
Debt Service Fund 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 
(In Thousands) 
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$ 

$ 

; 

Variance 
With Final 

Budget 

1,945 
{3.304}. ' . 
{1,359}_ 

-
{1,969} 
{1,969} 

(3,328} 

31,757 
4,176 

(35,756) 
13,290 
13,467 

10,1391 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Schedule of Reve('lues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances-Budget and Actual 

(Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 

Revenues: 
Intergovernmental 
Sales Tax 
Investment Income and Rents 
Other 

Total Revenues 

Expenditures: 
Capital Outlay 

Total Expenditures 

Capital Projects Fund 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

· (In Thousands) 

Original F[nal 
Bud~:~et Budget 

$ 41 $ 33,623 
380 1,946 

191 
6,874 925 
7,295 36,685 

12,343 122,637 
12,343 122,637 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures (5,048) (85,952) 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
General Obligation Bonds Issued 5,008 8,865 
Transfers In 40 
Transfers Out 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 5,048 8,865 

Net Change in Fund Balance (77,087) 
Fund Balances -Beginning 98,216 98,216 
Fund Balances - Ending $ 98,216 $ 21,129 

179 

Actual 

$ 37,542 
380 
800 
347 

39,069 

117,939 
117,939 

(78,870) 

6,956 
(3,820) 
3,136 

(75,734) 
98,216 

$ 22,482 

Variance 
With Final 

Budget 

$ 3,919 
(1,566) 

609 
(578) 

2,384 

4,698 
4,698 

7,082 

(8,865) 
6,956 

(3,820) 
(5,729) 

1,353 

$ 1,353 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets-Budget and Actual 

(Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 

-------------····----··· 

Airports Enterprise Fund 
For the Year Ended December 31,2011 

(In Thousands) 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets-Budget and Actual 
(Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) 

Transit Enterprise Fund 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 I 

j 
{In Thousands) l ~ r 'I, . 

!· . 
Variance 

: 

Original Final With Final 

f 
Budget Budget Actual Budget 

Operating Revenues: ;j 
Rentals and Other Service Fees $ 100 $ 100 $ 120 s 20 

'j: Transit Fares 57,642 57,642 52,403 {5.239} 
Total Charges for Services 57,742 57,742 52,523 (5,219) I Other Revenues 5,709 51709 4,083 p,626! 
Total Operating Revenues 63,451 63,451 56,606 (6,845) 

Operating Expenses: 

I Personnel Services 115,594 115,594 112,624 2,970 
Contractual Services 35,253 35,255 26,513 8,74? 
Intra-County Services 1,187 1,187 1,304 (117) 
Commodities 15,046 15,046 15,875 (829) I 
Depreciation and Amortization 12,516 12,516 15,108 (2,592) i 
Maintenance 223 1,185 2,172 (987) 

'·! 
Other 1,049 1,049 2,259 {1.210} 

Total Operating Expenses 180,868 181,832 175,855 5,9n ='l . 
Operating Income (Loss) {117,417) (118,381) {119,249) (868) l 
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses): 

Intergovernmental Revenues 91,975 91,975 89,670 (2,305) 
Interest Expense {1,254} {11254} {1 ,380} {126} 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 90,721 90,721 88,290 (2,431! 

Income (Loss) Before Transfers (26,696) (27,660) (30,959) (3,299) 

Add Depreciation on Capital Assets 
Acquired by Capital Grants that Reduces 

Contributed Capital From Capital Grants 10,727 10,727 15,816 5,089 
Transfers In 15,969 16,933 17,926 993 
Transfers Out (244} (244) 
Change in Net Assets $ $ $ 2,539 $ 2,539 

' 



NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

Spec~IRevenueFunds 
The Special Revenue Fun_ds are used to accounf for endowments, bequests and restricted ~ 
donations, where the principal may be expended in the course of their designated operations . . 
The specific purpose of each Special Revenue Fund is as follows: 

. . 
Zoo - Purchase of animals and maintenance of the miniature passenger railroad. 

Parks- Enhancement of the Todd Wehr Nature Genter and restoration of the 
Trim born Farm as a historic. park. 

Persons with Disabilities - Special projects to help free disabled persons from 
environmental and attitudinal barriers. 

Behavioral Health Division -Mental health research, patient activities and special 
events, and compensated absence payouts for BHD retirees. 

Public Works (DTPVV)- Compensated absence payouts for retirees from the Fleet 
and Facilities divisions. 

Airport PFC (Passenger Facility Charge) -Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 
approved capital projects at the Airport. 

Health and Safety - Countywide safety training and new employee screenings. 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

December 31, 2011 
(In Thousands) 

Seecial Revenue Funds 
Total 

Persons Behavioral Health Non major 
with Health and Governmental 

Zoo Parks Disabilities Division Airport Safety DTPW Funds 

ASSETS 
Cash and Investments $ 1,053 $ 1,026 $ 115 $ 7,169 $ - $ 136 $ 5,781 $ 15,280 
Cash and Investments -- Restricted - - - - 27,199 - - 27.199 
Receivables - Other - 1 - - - - - 1 

Total Assets $ 1,053 $ 1,027 $ 115 $ 7,169 $ 27,199 $ 136 $ 5,781 $ 42.480 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 
Liabilities: 
Accounts Payable $ 179 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 179 

Total Liabilities 179 - - - - - - 179 

Fund Balances: 
Restricted 874 1,027 115 7,169 27,199 136 5,781 42,301 

Total Fund Balances 874 1,027 115 7,169 27,199 136 5,781 42,301 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 1,053 $ 1,027 $ 115 $ 7,1 69 $ 27,199 $ . 136 $ 5,781 $ 42,480 

183 

~-"'-"""''""'~---



ll}f.;;oe;~-- ------:..1~·-,:.: ... - .:; ,.~ .. 1 . .... +'1.:~::~;·~.;..~..;.:;..,-..;.._..;. . . .... _ ::.:a;__._ 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands} 

s2ecial Revenue Funds 
Total 

Persons Behavioral Health Non major 
with Health and Governmental 

Zoo Parks Disabilities Division Ai~ort Safet:z: DTPW Funds 
Revenues: 

Charges for Services $ 645 $ 45 $ - $ - $ 12,952. $ - $ - $ 13,642 
Investment Income and Rents 21 - - - 364 - - 385 
Other 192 52 - 1 - - - 245 

Total Revenues 858 97 - 1 13,316 - - 14,272 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public Works and Highways - - - - 13,038 - 402 13,440 
Human Services - - 6 1,192 - - - 1,198 
Parks, Recreation and Culture 695 - - - - - - 695 

Total Expenditures 695 - 6 1,192 13,038 - 402 15,333 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over (Under) Expenditures 163 97 (6} (1,191} 278 - (402} p ,061} 

Net Changes in Fund Balance 163 97 (6) (1 ,191) 278 - (402) (1 ,061) 
Fund Balances - Beginning 711 930 121 8,360 26,921 136 6,183 43,362 
Fund Balances - Ending $ 874 $ 1,027 $ 115 $ 7,169 $ 27,199 $ 136 $ 5,781 $ 42,301 
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 

Internal Service Funds 
The Internal Service Funds are used to accou8t for the financing of goods or services 
provided by one department to ·other departments of the County, or to other governmental 
entities, on a cost-reimbursement basis. The specific purpose of each Internal Service Fund 
is listed below. · · 

Information Management Services - This fund is used to account for electronic data 
processing, graphics and telecommunication services provided to County departments. 

I 

Public Works Services- This fund is u·sed to account for various services provided to other 
County departments including: 

Professional Services - provides engineering, architectural and administrative 
services. 

Water Utility - maintains the water distribution system that is located on the 
Milwaukee County Grounds. 

Risk Management-This fund accounts for risk financing, loss control and insurance-related 
activities for the County and its employees. 
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Current Assets: 
Cash and Investments 
Accounts Receivable (Net of Allowances 

for Uncollectible Accounts) 

Due From Other Governments 
Prepaid Items 

Total Current Assets 

Capital Assets: 
Construction in Progress 

Land Improvements 
Building and Improvements . 
Furniture, Machinery and Equipment 

Total Capital Assets 
Less Accumulated Depreciation 
Net Capital Assets 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities: 

Accounts Payable 
Accrued Interest 
Unearned Revenues 
Bonds and Notes Payable - General Obligation 
Compensated Absenses 
Risk Claims 

Total Current Liabilities 

Long-Term Liabilities: 
Bonds and Notes Payable - General Obligation 

Compensated Absences 
Risk Claims 
Other Post Employment Benefits 

Total Long-Term Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets {Liabilities} 
Unrestricted 
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 

Total Net Assets (Liabilities) 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets (Liabilities) 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Internal Service Funds 
December 31, 2011 

(In Thousands) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

lnfonnation 
Management 

Services 

7,273 

131 
7,405 

1,484 

1,523 
36,700 
39,707 

{32,672) 
7,035 

14,440 

989 
118 

1,774 
505 

3,386 

10,356 
538 

4,128 
15,022 

18,408 

1,127 
{5,095) 
{3,968) 

14,440 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Public 
Works 

Services 

6,288 

223 
29 

6,540 

3,284 
2,160 
2,071 
7,515 

(4 928) . 
2,587 

9,127 

174 
6 
1 

58 
495 

-
734 

1,597 
689 

-
3,567 
5,853 

6,587 

1,608 
932 

2,540 

9,127 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Risk 
Management 

13,277 

587 

2,007 
15,871 , 

7 
7 

(7) 

-
15,871 

117 
-
-
-

47 
10,665 
10,829 

-
53 

4,247 
531 

4,831 

15,660 

211 
-

211 

15,871 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

26,838 

811 
29 < • 

2,138 ·:t 

29,816 
·.j 
., 

~: 
i 
; 

1,484 f 
3,284 j• 

3,683 n. 
38,778 z 
47,229 

(37 607) ~ . 
9,622 

39,438 

1,280 
124 

1 
1,832 
1,047 

10,665 
14,949 

11,953 
1,,280 
4,247 
8,226 

25,706 

40,655 

2,946 
{4,16~ 
{1.217) 

39,4~ 

' 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE l Combining Statement of Cash Flows 
Internal Service Funds 

J. , For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 
(In Thousands) 

. 
I 
! 

Information Public 

i 
L 
l 

Management Works Risk 

Services Services Management Total 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating ·Activities: 
Receipts from Customers and Users $ . 126 $ 5,192 $ 2,224 $ 7,542 
Receipts from lnterfund Services 15,885 5 ,323 7,574 28,782 
Payments to Suppliers (6,282) (2, 108) (7,059) (15,449) 
Payments to Employees (6,504) (5,469) (482) (12,455) 
Payments for lnterfund Services Used {347} {2.096) {2,443) 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 2,878 842 2,257 5,977 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing Activities: 
Intergovernmental Revenues 1,096 498 1,594 
Transfers From Other Funds 473 228 439 1,140 
Transfers (To) Other Funds {984) {619) (1,603) 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Nor:tcapital 
Financing Activities 585 107 439 1,131 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Capital and 
Related Financing Activities: 

Capital Contributions 1,472 1,472 
Proceeds from Long-Term Debt 83 83 
Principal Payment on Long-Term Debt (1,887) (31) (1,918) 
Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt (558) (67) (625) 
Acquisition of Capital Assets {1,485) {41) (1,526) 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used} by Capital 
and Related Financing Activities (2,375) (139) (2,514) 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,088 810 2,696 4,594 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 6,185 5,478 10,581 22,244 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 7,273 $ 6 ,288 $ 13,277 $ 26,838 

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to 
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 

Operating Income (Loss) $ 460 $ 412 $ (391) $ 481 
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used} by Operating Activities: 
Depreciation and Amortization 1,589 258 1,848 

(Increase) Decrease in Assets: 
Accounts Receivable (19) 1,597 1,578 
Inventories 
!;'repaid Items (33) 109 76 

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities: 
Accounts Payable 342 (90) 6 258 
Accrued Liabilities (57) (1) (58) 
Risk Claims 835 835 
Other Post Retirement Benefits 724 450 98 1,272 
Compensated Absences (147) (168) 2 (31~ . 

Total Adjustments 2,418 430 2,648 5 ,496 
Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ 2,878 ·$ 842 $ 2,257 $ 5,97I._ 
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

Agency Funds 
Agency funds are custodial in nature and are used to account for assets held by the County 
as an agent for individuals, private organizations, and other governmental units. Significant 
Agency Funds consist of Civil Court-ordered family support payments. 
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Milwaukee County Family Care 
Financia·l Statements 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statements of Net Assets 

·Milwaukee County Family Care 
December 31, 2011 

With Comparative Amounts for December 31, 2010. 
(In Thousands) 

·2011 
Assets 

Cash $ 34,036 $ 
Restricted Cash 11,432 
Due from State- Prior Year Capitation 5,198 
Member Receivable - Cost Share/Room & Board 1,742 

Allowance for Member Receivable (890) 
Provider Receivable - Audits 322 
Deposit Solvency Insurance 750 
Security deposits 6 
Inventory- Taxi Tickets 52 
Accounts Receivable - Other 23 
Advances to Third-Party Claim~ Administrator 11 

Total Assets $ 52,682 $ 

Liabilities 
Accounts Payable $ 1,364 $ 
Accrued Payroll 175 
Accrued Vacation/Sick Leave Liability 747 

· · Member Cost - Incurred but not Reported 24,146 
Due to State - Unearned Capitation 1,159 
Deferred Capitation Revenue 

Total Liabilities 27,591 

Net Assets 
Restricted For: 

Working Capital Reserve 7,824 
Restricted Re~erve 3,608 

·Solvency & Risk Reserve 750 
Unrestricted - Designated For 
Surplus Reserve 12,552 
Capital Carryover Reserve 357 

Total Net Assets 25,091 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 52,682 $ 
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2010 

102,094 
11,432 

7,488 
2,257 

(1,512) 
405 
750 

9 
8 

74 

123,005 

2,608 

936 
24,254 

658 
79,134 

107,590 

7,824 
3,608 

750 

2,694 
539 

15,415 

123,005 

··---···--·--··---·· - --- - --

. . , 



COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets 

Milwaukee County Family Care 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

With Comparative Amounts for Year Ended December 31 , 2010 
(In Thousands) 

2011 2010 
Operating Revenues: 

State/Fed Capitated Member Payment $ 253,367 $ 236,364 
Member.Cost Share/ Room & Board 29,495 27,981 
State Grants 28 50 
Other Revenues 430 367 

Total Operating Revenues 283,320 264,762 

Operating Expenses: 
Direct - Member Service Costs 260,875 243,974 
Indirect- Salaries and Fringe Benefits 6,823 7,185 
Indirect - Outside Services 4,529 4,533 
Indirect- Commondities and Supplies 205 233 
Indirect- Inter-Dept Service Charges 1,212 3,890 

Total Operating Expenses 273,6~4 259,815 

Change in Net Assets 9,676 4,947 

Net Assets - Beginning 15,415 10,468 
Net Assets - Ending $ 25,091 $ 15,415 
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COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE 
Statements of Cash Flows 

Milwaukee County Family Care 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

With Comparative Amounts for Year Ended December 31, 2010 
(In Thousands) 

2011 

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities: 
Receipts from Customers and Users $ 206,503 
Receipts from lnterfund Services 
Payments to Suppliers {266,337) 
Payments'to Employees (7.012) 
Payments fqr lnterfund Services Used {1.212} 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (68,058} 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (68,058) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 113,526 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 45,468 

NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
$ · 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to 
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 

Operating Income $ 9,676 
I 

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to 
Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by. Operating Activities: 

(hicrease) Decrease in Assets: 
Due from State- Prior Year Capitation 2,290 
Member Receivable - Cost Share/Room & Board 515 

Allowance for Member Receivable (622) 
Provider Receivable - Audits 83 
Deposit Solvency Insurance 
Security deposits 3 
Inventory- Taxi Tickets (44) 
Accounts Receivable - Other 51 
Advances to.Third-Party Claims Administrator (11) 

Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities: 
Accounts Payable (1,244) 
Accrued Payroll 175 
Accrued Vacation/Sick Leave Liability (189) 
Member Cost- Incurred but not Reported (108) 
Due to State - Unearned Capitation 501 
Deferred Capitation Revenue {79, 134} 

Total Adjustments {77,734} 

Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ (68,058} 
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2010 

$ . 338,398 

(240,848) 
(6,670) 
(3,890} 
86,990 

86,990 
26,536 

$ 113,526 

$ 

$ 4,947 

(5,858) 
38 
99 

189 
(750) 

6 
1 

35 

118 

515 
8,445 

72 
79,133 
82,043 

$ 86,990 
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APPENDIXB 

[PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL] 

(To Be Dated the Date of Issuance) 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin 
County Courthouse 
901 North 9th Street 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233 

Re: Milwaukee County, Wisconsin 
$26,935,000 General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2013A 

The General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2013A (the "Bonds") of 
Milwaukee Co~ty, Wisconsin (the "County') are in fully registered form; are dated the date 
hereof; are issued in the aggregate principal amount of $26,935,000; are in denominations of 
$5,000 each and integral multiples the.reof; are appropriately lettered and numbered; mature 
serially on September 1 of each of the years and in .the principal amounts as set forth below, and 
bear interest at the interest rates per annum, payable on March 1 .and September 1 of each year, 
commencing on March 1, 2014, as follows: 

PRINCIPAL INTEREST 

YEAR AMOUNT RATE 

2014 $1,840,000 2.00% 
2015 2,790,000 2.00 
2016 2,790,000 ' 2.00 
2017 2,790,000 2.00 
2018 2,790,000 3.00 
2019 2,790,000 3.00 

. 2020 2,790,000 3.00 
2021 2,790,000 3.00 
2022 2,790,000 3.00 
2023 2,775,000 3.00 

The Bonds, maturing on and after September 1, 2022 are subject to redemption prior to 
maturity at the option of the County, as a whole or in part, on September 1, 2021, and on any 
date thereafter, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount thereby being redeemed, 
plus accrued interest to the date f~ed for redemption. · 
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We have ex~mined the documents which we deem pertinent to 'the validity of the Bonds, 
including the certified record evidencing the authorization of the Bonds by the County Board of 
Supervisors of the County. On the basis of such examination, we are of the opinion that the 
Bonds have been lawfully authorized and issued under the laws of the State of Wisconsin; that 
they are the lawful and enforceable obligations of the County in accordance with their terms, 
except that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds may be 
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization and other similar laws affecting 
creditors' rights and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity, including the 
exercise of judicial discretio.n; that they are payable from taxes to be levied on all taxable 
property in the County, without limitation as to rate or amount; and that the ·form of Bond 
prescribed for said issue is proper. 

It is also our opinion that, subject to compliance by the County with certain covenants, 
under present law, interest on the Bonds is excludible from gross income of the owners thereof 
for federal income tax purposes, and is not included as an item of tax pr~ference in computing 
the alternative minimum tax for individuals and corporations under the Internal Revenue Code of. 
1986, as amended (the ~'(;ode"), but such interest on the Bonds is taken into account, however, 
in computi.ng an adjustment used in determining the federal alternative minimum tax for certain 
corporations. Failure to comply with certain of such covenants of the County could cause the 
interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
retroactively to the date of the issuance of the Bonds. Ownership of the Bonds may result in 
other federal tax consequences to certain taxpayers, and we express no opinion regarding any 
such collateral consequenc~s arising with respect to the Bonds. 

We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the 
Official Statement relating to the Bonds or any other information furnished to any person in 
connection with any offer or sale of the Bonds. 

In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon certifications of the County and others 
with respect to certain material facts solely· within the respective knowledge of the County and 
such other persons. Our opinion represents our legal judgment based upon our review of the law 
and the facts that we deem relevant to render such opinion, and is not a guarantee of result. This 
opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this 
opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention qr any 
changes in law that may hereafter occur. 

· Respectfully submitted, 
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APPENDIXC 

CONTINIDNG DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Disclosure Certificate") is executed, and 
delivered by Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the "Issuer") in connection with the issuance of its 
General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2013A, dated the date hereof, in the 
aggregate principal amount of $26,935,000 (the ·"Bonds ' ). The Bonds are being issued pursuant 
to an Initial Resolution adopted by the Governing Body (as hereinafter defined) o,f the Issuer on 
February 7, 2013, and an Authorizing Resolution adopted by the Governing Body of the Issuer 
on February 7, 2013 (the "Resolution") and delivered to Robert W. Baird & Co., Inc. (the 
"Purchaser") on the date of this Disclosure Certificate. Pursuant to the Resolution, the. Issuer 
has covenanted and agreed to provide continuing disclosure of certain financial information and 
operating data and timely notices of the occurrence of certain events. In addition, the Issuer 
hereby specifically covenants and-agrees as follows : 

Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being 
executed and delivered by the Issuer for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds in order to assist 
the Participating Underwriters (as hereinafter defined), within the meaning of the Rule (as 
defined herein), in complying with SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5). References in this Disclosure 
Certificate to the owners of the Bonds shall include the beneficial owners of the Bonds. This 
Disclosure Certificate constitutes the written undertaking required by the Rule. 

Section 2. Definitions. In addition to the defined terms set forth in the Resolution, 
which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined 
in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

"Annual Report" means any annual report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as 
· described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Audited Financial Statements" means the Issuer's annual fmancial statements, which 
are currently prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) for governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) and which the Issuer intends to continue to prepare in substantially the same form. 

"EMMA" means the MSRB through its Electronic Municipal Market Access system for 
municipal securities disclosure or through any other electronic format or system prescribed by 
the MSRB for purposes of the Rule. 

"Final Official Statement" means the final official statement dated July 24, 2013, 
delivered in connection with the Bonds, which is available from the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board (MSRB). 

Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the Issuer. 
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"Governing Body" means the County Board of Supervisors of the Issuer or such other 
body, as may hereafter be the chieflegislative body of the Issuer. 

'(Issuer" means Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, which is the obligated person with 
respect to the Bonds. 

((Issuer Contact" means the Capital Finance Manager of the Issuer who can be contacted 
at the Office of the Comptroller, Milwaukee County Courthouse, Room 301, 901 North Ninth 
Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233, telephone: (414) 278-4396, facsimile: (414) 223-1245. 

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board located at 1900 Duke Street, 
Suite 600, Alexandria, Virginia 22314. 

· "Participating Underwriter" means each broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer 
acting as an underwriter in the primary offering of the Bonds (including the Purchaser) required 
to comply with the Rule in connection with the primary offering of the Bonds. 

"Reportable Event" means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure 
Certificate. 

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the SEC under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time, and official 
interpretations thereof. 

ftSEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Section 3. Provision of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements. (a) The 
Issuer shall, not later than 270 days after the ~nd of each Fiscal Year, commencing with the yeai 
that ended December 31,2012, provide EMMA with an Annual Report, which is consistent with 
the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. The Annual Report may be 
submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and ~ay cross­
reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided, that 
the Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer may be submitted separately from the balance of 
the Annual Report and that, if Audited Financial Statements are not availabl~ within 270 days 
after the end of a Fiscal Year, unaudited fmancial information will be provided, and Audited 
Financial Statements will be submitted to EMMA when and if available. 

(b) If the Issuer· is unable or fails to provide to EMMA an Annual Report by the date 
required in subsection (a), the Issuer shall send in a timely manner a notice of that fact to 
EMMA. 

(c) Unless otherwise required by law and subject to technical and economic feasibility, 
the Issuer shall employ such methods of information transmission as shall be requested or 
recommended by EMMA. MSRB Rule .G-32 currently requires all EMMA filings to be in word-
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searchable PDF format. This requirement extends to all documents to be flied with EMMA, 
including fmancial statements and other externally prepared reports . 

Section 4. Content of Annual Report. The Issuer's Annual Report shall contain or 
incorporate by reference the Audited Financial Statements and updates of the following sections 
ofthe·Final Official Statement to the extent such fmancial information and operating data are not 
included in the Audited Financial Statements: 

DEBT STRUCTURE- General Obligation Debt by Issue 
FINANCIAL lNFORMA TION - Equalized Values Last Five Years 
'FINANCIAL INFORMATION- Property Tax Levies and Collections Last Five Years 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION- Property Tax Rates for County Levies 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Five-Year Summary of Revenues, Expenditures 

and Change in Fund Balance - General Fund .. . 

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference to other documents, 
includiri.g official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, which have 
been submitted to EMMA or the SEC. If the document incorporated by reference is a fmal 
official statement, i~ must be available from the MSRB. The Issuer s~ll clearly identify each 
such other document so incorporated by reference. Each filing made pursuant to this Disclosure 
Certificate shall contain the CUSIP numbers of the Bonds. Unless otherwise required by law and 
subject to technical and economic feasibility, the Issuer shall employ such methods of 
information transmission as shall be requested or recommended by EMMA. MSRB Rule G-32 
currently requires all EMMA filings to be in word-searchable PDF format. This requirement 
extends to all documents to be filed with EMMA, including fmancial statements and other 

. externally prepared reports . . 

Section 5. Reportable Events. (a) This Section 5 shall govern the giving of notices of 
the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Uns~heduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
diffi.Gulties; 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting fmancial 
difficulties; 

. . 
5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of 
proposed or fmal determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue 
(IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with 
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respect to tb,e tax status of the securities, or other material events affecting 
the tax-exempt status of the securities; 

7. Modification to rights of security holders, if material; 

8. Securities calls, if material, and tender offers; 

9. Defeasances; 

10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, 
if material; 

11. Rating changes; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer; 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the 
Issuer or the sale of all or substantially ali of the assets of the Issuer, other . 
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive 
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive 
agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if 
materi~l; and 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change ofname of 
a trustee, if material. 

(b) Whenever a Reportable Event occurs, the Issuer shall promptly file (not in' excess 
of ten (10) days after the occurrence of the Reportable Event) a notice of such occurrence with 
EMMA. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of Reportable Events described in 
subsections (a)(8) and (9) need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if 
any) of the underlying event is given to the owners of the affected Bonds pursuant to the 
Resolution. 

(c) Unless otherwise required by law and subject to t_echnical and economic feasibility, 
the Issuer shall . employ such methods of information transmission as shall be requested or 
recommended by.EMMA. MSRB Rule G-32 currently requires all EMMA filings to be in word­
searchable PDF format. This requirement extends to all documents to be filed with EMMA, 
including fmancial statements and other externally prepared reports. 

Section 6. . Tennination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer's obligations under the 
Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, pnor 
redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. · 

Section 7. Issuer Contact; Dissemination Agent. Information may be obtained from 
the Issuer Contact. Additionally, the Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a 
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dissemination agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under the Resolution and this 
Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any such agent, wi~h or without appointing a successor 
dissemination agent. 

Section 8. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
Resolution or this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and 
any provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, if such amendment or waiver is 
supported by an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that such amendment 
or waiver would not, in and of itself, cause this Disclosure Certificate to violate the Rule. The 
provisions of this Disclosure Certificate or any provision hereof shall be null and void in the 
event that the Issuer delivers to EMMA an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the 
effect that those portions of the Rule which require this Disclosure Certificate are invalid, have 
been repealed retroactively or otherwise do not apply to the Bonds. The provisions of this 
Disclosure Certificate may be amended without the consent of the owners of the Bonds, but only 
upon the delivery by the Issuer to EMMA of the proposed amendment and an opinion of 
nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that such amendment, and giving effect thereto, 
will not adversely affect the compliance of this Disclosure Certificate and by the Issuer with the 
Rule. 

In the event that the Commission or the MSRB or other regulatory authority shall 
approve or require Annual Report disclosure or Reportable Events disclosure to be made to a 
central post office, governmental agency or similar entity other than EMMA or in lieu of 
EMMA, the Issuer shall, if required, make such dissemination to such central post office, 
governmental agency or similar entity without the necessity of amending this Disclosure 
Certificate. 

Section 9. Additional lnfonnation. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be 
deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or 
including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of the occurrence of a 
Reportable Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the 
Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of the occurrence of a 
Reportable Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, 
the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or 
include it in any future A.J::mual Report or notice of the occurrence of a Reportable Event. 

Section 10. Default. (a) The Issuer has never failed to comply in all material respects 
with any previous undertakings under the Rule to provide annual reports or notices of reportable 
events, except as otherwise described in the Final Official Statement. 

(b) In the event of a failure of the Issuer to comply with any proVIsiOn of this 
Disclosure Certificate any owner of the Bonds may take such actions as may be necessary and 
appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the 
Issuer to comply with its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate. A 
default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default with respect to 
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the Bonds or under the Resolution and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the 
event of any failure of the Issuer to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to 
compel performance. 

Section 11. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of 
the Issuer, the Participating Underwriters and the beneficial owners from time to time of the 
Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have executed this Certificate m our official capacities 
effective the 14th day of August, 2013. · 

Approved as to Form: 

. Corporation Counsel 

Reviewed By:-------- - - --

Date: August 14, 2013 

Cindy Van Pelt 
Risk Manager · 
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Chairwoman of the County Board 

County Clerk 

Countersigned: 

County Executive 

Comptroller 
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